# GLOBAL COMMISSION ON HIV and the AW

# RISKS, RIGHTS & HEALTH



#### ERRATUM

- In the originally published version of "Risks, Rights and Health", the following sentence was included on p 41: "In New Zealand, sex work has recently been prosecuted under the same law that officially decriminalizes it." The sentence is not accurate and has been deleted from current on-line versions of the report. It will not be included in hard copies of the report distributed in the future.
- At the time of the original publication of "Risks, Rights and Health", the European Parliament had not yet made a final decision on whether or not to ratify the Anti-Counterfeiting Trade Agreement (ACTA). Subsequent to original publication, the EU Parliament made a decision on 4 July 2012 to not ratify the agreement. On-line versions of "Risks, Rights and Health" now include the following additional sentence on p. 82: "ACTA caused such controversy that on 4 July 2012, the European Parliament declined to ratify European Union participation in the Agreement."
- The ILO Recommendation concerning HIV and AIDS and the World of Work 2010 (no. 200) is applicable to all workers. The standard establishes key human rights principles to guide HIV responses in formal and informal work settings. These principles include non-discrimination and gender equality, particularly non-discriminatory access to HIV-related prevention, treatment, care and support services for all workers. The recommendation calls for governments to take measures to provide for effective protections against HIV-related discrimination and provide for their effective and transparent implementation. Sex workers are not excluded from the scope and application of this recommendation.

The content, analysis, opinions and policy recommendations contained in this publication do not necessarily reflect the views of the United Nations Development Programme.

#### SECRETARIAT, GLOBAL COMMISSION ON HIV AND THE LAW

UNDP, HIV/AIDS Group, Bureau for Development Policy, 304 East 45th Street, New York, NY 10017 Email: info@hivlawcommission.org Tel: (212) 906 6590 Fax: (212) 906 5023 Web: www.hivlawcommission.org

Copyright © UNDP 2012

Images used with permission.

Graphics Createch & Myriad Editions

Lead writer Judith Levine

Design & Printer Consolidated Graphics

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABOUT THE GLOBAL COMMISSION ON HIV AND THE LAW	
PREFACE	4
Acknowledgments	5
Abbreviations	6
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	7
INTRODUCTION: CAN LAWS SAVE LIVES?	
CHAPTER 1: AGAINST DISCRIMINATION: HEALTH AND DIGNITY THROUGH LAW	
CHAPTER 2: PUNISHING VULNERABILITY: CRIMINALISATION OF HIV TRANSMISSION, EXPOSURE AND NON-DISCLOSURE	
CHAPTER 3: RISK + STIGMA: KEY POPULATIONS	
3.1 PEOPLE WHO USE DRUGS	
3.2 SEX WORKERS	
3.3 MEN WHO HAVE SEX WITH MEN	
3.4 TRANSGENDER PERSONS	
3.5 PRISONERS	
3.6 MIGRANTS	
CHAPTER 4: GENDER AND DISEMPOWERMENT: WOMEN	
CHAPTER 5: THEIR WHOLE LIVES TO LIVE: CHILDREN AND YOUTH	
CHAPTER 6: MEDICINES FOR WHOM? INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY LAW AND	
THE GLOBAL FIGHT FOR TREATMENT	
CONCLUSION	
Annex I: Commission Terms of Reference	
Annex II: Commissioner Biographies	
Annex III: Technical Advisory Group Biographies	
Annex IV: Summary of Recommendations	
ENDNOTES	

# **GRAPHICS**

1. Why the Law Matters	11
2. Written Submissions Received by the Commission	14
3. Legal Shelter	16
4. Criminalising a Virus	21
5. Mitigating the Harm	33
6. Sex Work & Law	37
7. Men Who Have Sex with Men, Law & HIV	46
8. LGBT Rights & HIV Transmission Risk	47
9. Unprotected Sex Behind Bars	57
10. HIV Travel Restrictions	60
11. Rape within Marriage	64
12. Growing Contradictions	72
13. Generic Competition: Making ARVs Affordable	77
14. The Treatment Gap	78
15. Free Trade Mounting Constraints	83
16. Boosting Innovation?	84

# ABOUT THE GLOBAL COMMISSION ON HIV AND THE LAW

The Global Commission on HIV and the Law consisted of fourteen distinguished individuals who advocate on issues of HIV, public health, law and development. Fernando Henrique Cardoso, former president of Brazil, chaired the Commission.

The Commission's unique convening power allowed it to focus on high-impact issues of HIV and the law, which have important ramifications for global health and development. The Commission advocated for evidence and human rights based legal environments for effective and efficient HIV responses.

The life experiences of the Commissioners gave them a formidable ability to access a wide cross-section of society. This means they are well placed to influence change on complex issues that require the engagement of multiple stakeholders across a range of sectors.



Fernando Henrique Cardoso (Brazil)

Dame Carol Kidu



Ana Helena Chacón-Echeverria (Costa-Rica)



Michael Kirby (Australia)



JVR Prasada Rao (India)



(Uganda)



Charles Chauvel (New Zealand)



Barbara Lee (United States)



Jon Ungphakorn (Thailand)



Shereen El Feki (Egypt)



Stephen Lewis (Canada)



Bience Gawanas (Namibia)



Festus Gontebanye Mogae (Botswana)



#### ABOUT THE COMMISSION'S REPORT

"HIV and the Law: Risks, Rights & Health" is the Commission's flagship publication. Released in July 2012, the report presents public health, human rights and legal analysis and makes recommendations for law and policy makers, civil society, development partners and private sector actors involved in crafting a sustainable global response to HIV.



# PREFACE

The end of the global AIDS epidemic is within our reach. This will only be possible if science and action are accompanied by a tangible commitment to respecting human dignity and ending injustice.

Law prohibits or permits specific behaviours, and in so doing, it shapes politics, economics and society. The law can be a human good that makes a material difference in people's lives. It is therefore not surprising that law has the power to bridge the gap between vulnerability and resilience to HIV.

We came together as a group of individuals from diverse backgrounds, experiences and continents to examine the role of the law in effective HIV responses. What we share is our abiding commitment to public health and social justice. We have listened with humility to hundreds of accounts describing the effects of law on HIV. In many instances, we have been overwhelmed by how archaic, insensitive laws are violating human rights, challenging rational public health responses and eroding social fabric. At other times, we have been moved by those who demonstrate courage and conviction to protect those most vulnerable in our societies.

Many would say that the law can be complex and challenging and is best left alone. Our experience during this Commission has shown us a very different perspective. We have been encouraged by how frank and constructive dialogue on controversial issues can sometimes quickly lead to progressive law reform, the effective defence of legislation or better enforcement of existing laws. Even in environments where formal legal change is a slow and arduous process, we have witnessed countries taking action to strengthen access to justice and challenge stigma and discrimination.

As we listened and learned over the past eighteen months, many of us found our perspectives and opinions changing on a range of complex issues. Ultimately, we chose to be guided in our final recommendations by the courage and humanity of those who have died of AIDS and the thirty four million strong who live on with HIV.

This report presents persuasive evidence and recommendations that can save lives, save money and help end the AIDS epidemic. The recommendations appeal to what is common to all our cultures and communities—the innate humanity of recognising and respecting the inherent worth and dignity of all individuals. This report may make a great many people uncomfortable—hopefully uncomfortable enough to take action. Undoubtedly, different countries will prioritise different recommendations. Each country needs to develop its own road map for reform, depending on its legal and political environment. Nevertheless, we are confident that all of the recommendations are relevant in every country of the world, given that the drivers of the HIV epidemic exist all over the world. The time has come to act on these recommendations. We cannot continue to let people suffer and die because of inequality, ignorance, intolerance and indifference. The cost of inaction is simply too high.

**Fernando Henrique Cardoso** *Chair, Global Commission on HIV and the Law* 

# **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

The Global Commission on HIV and the Law is an independent body, established at the request of the Programme Coordinating Board of the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) and supported by a Secretariat based at the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). This report reflects the views and conclusions of the Commission, as well as its recommendations to countries, civil society actors, the private sector and the United Nations.

First and foremost, the Commission expresses its gratitude to the 1000 plus individuals who made written and oral submissions and who shared their knowledge and experience with such generosity. This report pays tribute to their courage and humanity in seeking a world that is fundamentally more just.

The Commission would like to express its appreciation for the leadership of Helen Clark (Administrator, UNDP) and Michel Sidibé (Executive Director, UNAIDS).

The Commission's work has been ably guided by the contribution and commitment of its Technical Advisory Group: The Hon. Michael Kirby (Co-chair), Allehone Mulugeta Abebe (Co-chair), Aziza Ahmed, Jonathan Berger, Chris Beyrer, Scott Burris, Joanne Csete, Mandeep Dhaliwal, Sophie Dilmitis, Vivek Divan, Richard Elliott, Sofia Gruskin, Wendy Isaack, Rick Lines, Annie Madden, Kevin Moody, Vitit Muntarbhorn, Cheryl Overs, JVR Prasada Rao, Tracy Robinson, Purna Sen, Susan Timberlake, Matthew Weait.

The Commission warmly acknowledges the support of its Secretariat under the leadership of Jeffrey O'Malley (Director, HIV/ AIDS Practice, UNDP) and Mandeep Dhaliwal (Cluster Leader: Human Rights & Governance, HIV/AIDS Group, UNDP). Vivek Divan, Ian Mungall and Emilie Pradichit were the Secretariat's unflagging core and the Commission is grateful for their hard work and dedication. The Commission also acknowledges the valuable contributions of the numerous staff, consultants, interns and volunteers who supported their work over the last eighteen months,<sup>a</sup> with particular appreciation for Judith Levine, the report's lead author. The Commission also wishes to express its appreciation for the support of the Joint UN Programme on HIV/AIDS.

The Commission is grateful to Edwin Cameron, who was a Commissioner. In light of his obligations as a judge of the Constitutional Court of South Africa, he did not contribute to any of the substantive decisions of the Commission. Because of his judicial duties, he decided to officially step down as a Commissioner at the end of 2011.

Financial support for the Commission was generously provided by the American Jewish World Service (AJWS), Australian Agency for International Development (AusAID), Ford Foundation, Health Canada – International Affairs, Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation (Norad), Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, Open Society Foundations, Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (Sida), UNDP, UNFPA, UNICEF and the UNAIDS Secretariat.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Imam Ahmed, Nada Al Riahi, Fattouh Al-Shazly, Natalie Amar, Tenu Avafia, Zeinab Badawi, Brook Baker, Ahmad Balah, Stefan Baral, Tim Barnett, Asmita Basu, Glenn Betteridge, Kim Blankenship, Dominic Bocci, Ludo Bok, Jennifer Branscombe, Andrei Brighidin, Meagan Burrows, Robert Carr, Jorge Chediek, Jessica Chiu, Clif Cortez, Megan Cribbs, Joachim da Silva Paiva Fernandes, Emma Day, Miguel Darcy, Daniel de Castro, Karen de Meritens, Martine Dennis, Reeti Desai, Amy Edwards, Ehab El Kharrat, Mohamed El Said, Wahid Ferchichi, Susana Fried, Jorge Gestoso, John Godwin, Laura Goldsmith, Catherine Grant, Moustapha Gueye, Theira Guzman, Vera Hakim, Lisa Hamelmann, Brianna Harrison, Adela Hive, Amy Kapczynski, Yelena Khanga, Boyan Konstantinov, Ernesto Kraus, Jelena Kucelin, Patrícia Kundrát, Krista Lauer, Virginie Leclerc, John Macauley, Lerato Mahlaole, Keletso Makofane, Allan Maleche, Arnold Madikwe, Christina Magill, Alice Miller, Chris Molomo, Godfrey Maringa, Tania Martins Fidalgo, Rumbidzai Maweni, Kathleen Meara, Ratna Menon, Khadija Moalla, Bechir N'Daw, Alyaa Nabil, Mariana Nerpii, Cecilia Oh, Fredda Olivares, Norma Garcia de Paredes, Andrea Pastorelli, Deena Patel, Nisha Pillai, Tonia Poteat, David Ragonetti, Nadia Rasheed, Jirair Ratevosian, Janaina Reis, Jenny Rouse, David Ruiz, Amitrajit Saha, Rohan Sajnani, Margaret Sakatsie, Karin Santi, Nashida Sattar, Eric Sawyer, Aaron Scheinwald, Diana Schirca, Tilly Sellers, Edmund Settle, Ji-Eun Seong, Svati Shah, Shonali Shome, Anthony So, Ann Strode, Ashwini Sukthankar, Mohan Sundararaj, Ala Svet, Maria Tallarico, Dudley Tarlton, Dimitri Teresh, Christos Tsentas, Cheikh Traore, Kazayuki Uji, Leah Utyasheva, Nadeah Vali, Marta Vallejo, Marcel van Soest, Pierre-Etienne Vannier, Bhikshuni Weisbrot, Daniel Wolfe and Ajcharawan Yubolkosol.

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

ΑСΤΑ	Anti-Counterfeiting Trade Agreement
ADA	Americans with Disabilities Act
AIDS	Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome
ART	Antiretroviral Therapy
ARV	Antiretroviral
CEDAW	Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women
CRC	Convention on the Rights of the Child
EECA	Eastern Europe and Central Asia
EPA	Economic Partnership Agreement
EU	European Union
FGM	Female Genital Mutilation
FTA	Free Trade Agreement
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
ICESCR	International Convention on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights
ICW	International Community of Women with HIV
ILGA	International Lesbian and Gay Association
ILO	International Labour Organisation
IOM	International Organisation for Migration
IP	Intellectual Property
LDC	Least Developed Countries
LGBT	Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender
MAT	Medication Assisted Treatment
MDG	Millennium Development Goal
MENA	Middle East and North Africa

MSM	Men Who Have Sex with Men
NGO	Non-Governmental Organisation
PEPFAR	President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief
PLHIV	People Living with HIV
РМТСТ	Preventing Mother-to-Child Transmission
R&D	Research and Development
SEP	Syringe Exchange Programmes
STD	Sexually Transmitted Disease
STI	Sexually Transmitted Infection
ТРРА	Transpacific Partnership Agreement
TRIPS	Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights
UN	United Nations
UNAIDS	Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS
UN DESA	United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cul- tural Organization
UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
UNODC	United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime
USAID	United States Agency for International Development
₩НΟ	World Health Organization
WIPO	World Intellectual Property Organisation
ωтο	World Trade Organization

# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

In just three decades, over 30 million people have died of AIDS, and 34 million more have been infected with HIV. The HIV epidemic has become one of the greatest public health challenges of our time. It is also a crisis of law, human rights and social justice. The good news is that we now have all the evidence and tools we need to radically slow new HIV infections and stop HIVrelated deaths. Paradoxically, this comes at a time when bad laws and other political obstacles are standing in the way of success.

34 million people are living with HIV, 7,400 are newly infected daily and 1.8 million died in 2010 alone. The legal environment—laws, enforcement and justice systems—has immense potential to better the lives of HIV-positive people and to help turn the crisis around. International law and treaties that protect equality of access to health care and prohibit discrimination including that based on health or legal status underpin the salutary power of national laws.

But nations have squandered the potential of the legal system. Worse, punitive laws, discriminatory and brutal policing and denial of access to justice for people with and at risk of acquiring HIV are fueling the epidemic. These legal practices create and punish vulnerability. They promote risky behaviour, hinder people from accessing prevention tools and treatment, and exacerbate the stigma and social inequalities that make people more vulnerable to HIV infection and illness. HIV-positive people-be they parents or spouses, sex workers or health workers, lovers or assailants—interact intimately with others, who in turn interact with others in ever-larger circles, from the community to the globe. From public health to national wealth, social solidarity to equality and justice, HIV affects everyone. The prevention, treatment and care of HIV-and the protection and promotion of the human rights of those who live with it—are everyone's responsibility.

#### The Global Commission on HIV and the Law

undertook 18 months of extensive research, consultation, analysis and deliberation. Its sources included the testimony of more than 700 people most affected by HIV-related legal environments from 140 countries, in addition to expert submissions and the large body of scholarship on HIV, health and the law.

The Commission's findings offer cause for both distress and hope for people living with or at risk for HIV. In June 2011, 192 countries committed to reviewing legislation and creating enabling legal and social environments that support effective and efficient HIV responses. The Commission's recommendations offer guidance to governments and international bodies in shaping laws and legal practices that are science based, pragmatic, humane and just. The findings and recommendations also offer advocacy tools for people living with HIV, civil society, and communities affected by HIV. The recommendations take into account the fact that many laws exist for purposes beyond public health, such as the maintenance of order, public safety and the regulation of trade. But they place the highest priority on creating legal environments that defend and promote internationally recognised human rights and legal norms.

#### Among the Commission's findings:

 123 countries have legislation to outlaw discrimination based on HIV; 112 legally protect at least some populations based on their vulnerability to HIV. But these laws are often ignored, laxly enforced or aggressively flouted.

- In over 60 countries it is a crime to expose another person to HIV or to transmit it, especially through sex. At least 600 individuals living with HIV in 24 countries have been convicted under HIV-specific or general criminal laws (due to underreporting, these estimates are conservative). Such laws do not increase safer sex practices. Instead, they discourage people from getting tested or treated, in fear of being prosecuted for passing HIV to lovers or children.
- Women and girls make up half of the global population of people living with HIV. Laws and legally condoned customs—from genital mutilation to denial of property rights—produce profound gender inequality; domestic violence also robs women and girls of personal power. These factors undermine women's and girls' ability to protect themselves from HIV infection and cope with its consequences.
- Where sex education, harm reduction and comprehensive reproductive and HIV services are accessible to youth, young people's rates of HIV and other sexually transmitted infections (STIs) drop. These interventions are rare, however, and in both developed and developing nations, the denial of the realities of young people's lives is reflected in the high physical, emotional and social toll of HIV among the young.
- In many countries, the law (either on the books or on the streets) dehumanises many of those at highest risk for HIV: sex workers, transgender people, men who have sex with men (MSM), people who use drugs, prisoners and migrants. Rather than providing protection, the law renders these "key populations" all the more vulnerable to HIV. Contradictory to international human rights standards, 78 countries—particularly

governments influenced by conservative interpretations of religion-make same-sex activity a criminal offence, with penalties ranging from whipping to execution. Similarly, laws prohibiting—or interpreted by police or courts as prohibiting—gender nonconformity, defined vaguely and broadly, are often cruelly enforced. The criminalisation of sex work, drug use and harm reduction measures create climates in which civilian and police violence is rife and legal redress for victims impossible. Fear of arrest drives key populations underground, away from HIV and harm reduction programmes. Incarceration and compulsory detention exposes detainees to sexual assault and unsafe injection practices, while condoms are contraband and harm reduction measures (including antiretroviral medicines) are denied.

• A growing body of international trade law and the over-reach of intellectual property (IP) protections are impeding the production and distribution of low-cost generic drugs. IP protection is supposed to provide an incentive for innovation but experience has shown that the current laws are failing to promote innovation that serves the medical needs of the poor. The fallout from these regulations-in particular the TRIPS framework—has exposed the central role of excessive IP protections in exacerbating the lack of access to HIV treatment and other essential medicines. The situation is most dire in low- and middle-income countries but reverberates through high-income countries as well. Provisions allowing some low- and middle-income countries exceptions to and relaxations of these rules could help alleviate the crisis, but pressure against their use is substantial. A small number of countries have been able to take advantage of the few international legal flexibilities that exist.

The Commission has found reason for hope. There are instances where legal and justice systems have played constructive roles in responding to HIV, by respecting, protecting and fulfilling human rights. To some such an approach may seem a paradox—the AIDS paradox.<sup>b</sup> But compelling evidence shows that it is the way to reduce the toll of HIV.

- Where the police cooperate with community workers, condom use can increase and violence and HIV infection among sex workers can decrease. Where governments promulgate harm reduction, such as clean needle distribution programmes and safe injection sites, HIV infection rates among people who use drugs can drop significantly.
- Effective legal aid can make justice and equality a reality for people living with HIV, and this can contribute to better health outcomes. Advocates can creatively use traditional law in progressive ways to promote women's rights and health. Court actions and legislative initiatives, informed by fairness and pragmatism, can help nations shrug off the yoke of misconceived criminalisation, introduce gender-sensitive sexual assault law and recognise the sexual autonomy of young people.
- Despite international pressures to prioritise trade over public health, some governments and civil society groups are using the law to ensure access to affordable medicines, while exploring new incentives for medical research and development.

These successes can be—and need to be expanded. It will take money and will. Donors, whose giving has flagged, must step up and reverse this trend, especially if the latest advances in science and in prevention programming are to benefit those in need. Countries must honour international human rights and national legal obligations. Where laws do not enhance human well-being and where laws do not respond to contemporary realities, they must be repealed and replaced by those that do. For justice and dignity, human rights and human life, the world can afford no less.

To ensure an effective, sustainable response to HIV that is consistent with human rights obligations, the Commission forcefully calls for governments, civil society and international bodies to:

- Outlaw all forms of discrimination and violence directed against those who are vulnerable to or living with HIV or are perceived to be HIVpositive. Ensure that existing human rights commitments and constitutional guarantees are enforced.
- Repeal punitive laws and enact laws that facilitate and enable effective responses to HIV prevention, care and treatment services for all who need them. Enact no laws that explicitly criminalise HIV transmission, exposure or non-disclosure of HIV status, which are counterproductive.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> According to The Hon. Michael Kirby, the AIDS paradox can be described as follows: "It is a paradox, one of the most effective laws we can offer to combat the spread of HIV is the protection of persons living with HIV, and those about them, from discrimination. This is a paradox because the community expects laws to protect the uninfected from the infected. Yet, at least at this stage of this epidemic, we must protect the infected too. We must do so because of reasons of basic human rights. But if they do not convince, we must do so for the sake of the whole community which has a common cause in the containment of the spread of HIV."

- Work with the guardians of customary and religious law to promote traditions and religious practice that promote rights and acceptance of diversity and that protect privacy.
- Decriminalise private and consensual adult sexual behaviours, including same-sex sexual acts and voluntary sex work.
- Prosecute the perpetrators of sexual violence, including marital rape and rape related to conflict, whether perpetrated against females, males, or transgender people.
- Abolish all mandatory HIV-related registration, testing, and forced treatment regimens. Facilitate access to sexual and reproductive health services and stop forced abortion and coerced sterilisation of HIV-positive women and girls.
- Reform approaches towards drug use. Rather than punishing people who use drugs but do no harm to others, governments must offer them access to effective HIV and health services, including harm reduction programmes and voluntary, evidence-based treatment for drug dependence.
- Enforce laws against all forms of child sexual abuse and sexual exploitation, clearly differentiating such crimes from consensual adult sex work.
- Ensure that the enforcement of laws against human trafficking is carefully targeted to punish those who use force, dishonesty or coercion to procure people into commercial sex, or who abuse migrant sex workers through debt bondage, violence or deprivation of liberty. Laws against human trafficking must be used to prohibit sexual

exploitation, but they must not be used against adults involved in consensual sex work.

- In matters relating to HIV and the law, offer the same standard of protection to migrants, visitors and residents who are not citizens as is extended to citizens. Restrictions that prohibit people living with HIV from entering a country and/or regulations that mandate HIV tests for foreigners within a country should be repealed.
- Enforce a legal framework that ensures social protection for children living with and affected by HIV and AIDS. Laws must protect guardianship, property and inheritance rights, and access to age-appropriate, comprehensive sex education, health and reproductive services.
- Develop an effective IP regime for pharmaceutical products. Such a regime must be consistent with international human rights law and public health needs, while safeguarding the justifiable rights of inventors.

The Commission forcefully calls for a renewed and vigorous international collaboration in response to HIV. It calls on donors, civil society and the UN to hold governments accountable to their human rights commitments. It urges groups outside government to develop and implement humane, workable HIV-related policies and practices and to fund action on law reform, law enforcement and access to justice. Such efforts should include educating people about their rights and the law, preventing violence as well as challenging the stigma and discrimination within families, communities and workplaces that continue to feed a worldwide epidemic that should have ended long ago.

# **INTRODUCTION: CAN LAWS SAVE LIVES?**

The law alone cannot stop AIDS. Nor can the law alone be blamed when HIV responses are inadequate. But the legal environment can play a powerful role in the well-being of people living with HIV and those vulnerable to HIV. Good laws, fully resourced and rigorously enforced, can widen access to prevention and health care services, improve the quality of treatment, enhance social support for people affected by the epidemic, protect human rights that are vital to survival and save the public money.

Every community in every country is home or host to people living with HIV. At the end of 2010, they numbered 34 million; alongside them are millions more at risk of infection.<sup>1</sup> And although prevention and treatment have improved to a heartening degree over the past decade, almost 7,400 new people are infected each day. Only half of adults and a quarter of children eligible for life-saving anti-retroviral treatment under WHO guidelines received that care in 2010. That year, 1.8 million people died of AIDS-related causes.<sup>2</sup> The law and its institutions can protect the dignity of all people living with HIV, and in so doing fortify those most vulnerable to HIV, so-called "key populations",<sup>c</sup> such as sex workers, MSM, transgender people, prisoners and migrants. The law can open the doors to justice when these people's rights are trampled. By ensuring access to property and protection from all forms of violence, the law can improve women's lives and give them the power and independence they need to preserve their health and that of their children.



Source: Results for Development Institute, Costs & Choices: Financing the Long-Term Fight Against AIDS, An aids2031 Project, 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> According to the International HIV/AIDS Alliance, key populations are groups of people who are more likely to be exposed to HIV or to transmit it and whose engagement is critical to a successful HIV response. In all countries, key populations include people living with HIV. In most settings, men who have sex with men, transgender people, people who inject drugs and sex workers and their clients are at higher risk of exposure to HIV than other groups.

But the law can also do grave harm to the bodies and spirits of people living with HIV. It can perpetrate discrimination and isolate the people most vulnerable to HIV from the programmes that would help them to avoid or cope with the virus. By dividing people into criminals and victims or sinful and innocent, the legal environment can destroy the social, political, and economic solidarity that is necessary to overcome this global epidemic. Indeed, the world could have halted the HIV epidemic over a decade ago, sparing millions of lives and billions of dollars, but the political will and courage to do so was and is lacking.

What works? An effective HIV vaccine or cure would be a "game changer", and scientists are working to find one. Meanwhile, as experience and evidence have taught us, much can be done even without a medical miracle. The combination of appropriate prevention and broadly available treatment can significantly rein in and even halt the spread of new infections. With therapy, most people with HIV can remain healthy and productive for decades. Each of these chips away at the number of deaths—mostly, at modest cost.<sup>3</sup>

But even as governments and international donors invest millions to combat HIV, around the globe many legal environments are hindering rather than helping HIV responses. Indeed, in many instances public health programmes to combat HIV are undermined by laws that criminalise the very practices the public health efforts promote and depend on—such as distributing clean needles and opioid substitution therapy to people who use drugs, providing condoms and harm reduction measures to prisoners, or supporting the free association of sex workers for the purposes of mutual support and education. If lawmakers do not amend these laws so that all resources are

marshalled against the same enemy—HIV, not people living with HIV—the virus will be the victor and the world's people, especially its most vulnerable, the vanquished.

It is in this context that the Programme Coordinating Board of the Joint UN Programme on HIV/AIDS called on UNDP to establish the Global Commission on HIV and the Law (the Commission).<sup>4</sup> An independent body chaired by Fernando Henrique Cardoso, former president of Brazil,<sup>5</sup> the Commission comprises 14 eminent individuals from across the world and is supported by a Technical Advisory Group of people living with HIV, members of affected communities and experts on law, public health, human rights and HIV.

Based on an analysis of where the law could transform the AIDS response and send HIV epidemics into decline, the Commission focused its inquiry on: (1) laws and practices that criminalise those living with and most vulnerable to HIV; (2) laws and practices that sustain or mitigate violence and discrimination against women; (3) laws and practices that facilitate or impede access to HIV-related treatment; and (4) issues of law pertaining to children and young people in the context of HIV.

The law often seems abstract and distant, and it can be hard to comprehend. But the plain truth about the law comes through in the words of the people who informed the Commission's inquiry. For people living with HIV, for their families and communities, for key populations and those vulnerable to HIV, the law is neither abstract nor distant. It is police harassment or clean needles, prison cells or self-help groups—the law is the torturer's fist or the healer's hand.



### HOW THE COMMISSION REACHED ITS CONCLUSIONS

The Global Commission on HIV and the Law undertook a broad and rigorous process of research, analysis and deliberation. The Commission used public health data, legal analysis, qualitative research, and community consultations to build an understanding of how legal environments influence HIV epidemics. Conscious that laws exist for important reasons that go beyond public health—the protection and promotion of human rights, maintaining public order and safety and the regulation of trade—the Commission also examined the degree to which HIV-related law, on the books and in practice, is consistent with human rights and other legal norms.

The Commission was supported by a Technical Advisory Group,<sup>6</sup> which reviewed and analysed existing public health and legal evidence and also commissioned original analysis. This process was complemented by extensive consultation, resulting in the review of 680 written submissions from over 1,000 authors in 140 countries. Seven regional dialogues<sup>7</sup> were convened (the largest of which was in Africa) to share and deliberate on evidence and experience. Through these dialogues, Commissioners heard the voices of over 700 people most affected by HIV-related law, including people living with HIV, people who had been prosecuted for HIV-related offences, prison directors, police officials, ministers of justice, health and home affairs, public health officials and religious leaders. Specialist submissions were sought from legal, human rights, and women's organisations, pharmaceutical manufacturers and religious scholars. Finally, the Commissioners reflected on the considerable body of analysis and findings directly related to HIV and health in existing human rights scholarship, including the work of Special Rapporteurs on the "Right to Highest Attainable Standard of Health" and "Violence Against Women". Except in the cases where confidentiality was requested, the written submissions<sup>8</sup> and dialogue proceedings, discussion papers and sources are available on www.hivlawcommission.org.

Together, these sources provided compelling evidence of the critical relevance of law to HIV and the inextricable linkages between the respect for human dignity and effective, sustainable HIV responses. The Commission's recommendations are therefore rooted in both solid public health evidence and human rights norms. Most recommendations are directed to "countries", embracing not just Heads of State, Parliamentarians and other political actors, but also the judiciary, agents of law enforcement, municipal authorities, the private sector and civil society. States have a specific obligation to protect and promote human rights, but only a concerted effort from the whole of society will truly advance public health and social justice.

#### WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED BY THE COMMISSION



Note: Total Submissions: 680. 644 submissions were received for Regional Dialogues and 36 specialist submissions were received from experts and specialist organisations on HIV, health and the law. Sources: Submissions received from November 2010 to October 2011. This includes all submissions for the Regional Dialogues and the Specialist Submissions. The world map has been inspired from AIDS-Free World.

### CHAPTER 1 AGAINST DISCRIMINATION Health and Dignity Through Law



Source: UNDP/Sarah Mwilima/Namibia

#### HUMAN RIGHTS: THE PILLARS OF EQUALITY

Equality and non-discrimination, inviolable in every key international human rights agreement, are the pillars on which all other human rights rest.<sup>9</sup>So, although there is no binding international law expressly prohibiting discrimination on the basis of HIV status, those two principles guide and support the denunciation of discrimination related to HIV status and against the people it affects.

#### NATIONAL LEGISLATION AND COURT ACTIONS

Every country has some kind of legal framework to protect and promote human rights and challenge discriminatory practices. Many have ratified one or more of the nine core international human rights treaties<sup>10</sup> or various regional human rights treaties.<sup>11</sup> Many go further to outlaw HIV-related discrimination. The Member States of the UN General Assembly, in the 2011 Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS and the 2006 and 2011 Political Declarations on In 2009 I met my status. I was invited to be on TV as I was a professional footballer. My girlfriend's father saw this interview, the girl told me he didn't know about HIV and told her he couldn't accept the relationship. Her father (a police officer) came to arrest me at my house at 7am. I knew some of my rights so they just beat me up and put me in a cell in the police station. It was very bad. They just kept me in detention until an association of human rights marched to the police station and then I was freed. This story impressed my life. I could be bitter but I will fight to the end.

Noubissi Charles Domingo, RéCAP+, Cameroon, Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011

HIV/AIDS, committed themselves to using the law to eliminate all forms of discrimination against people living with HIV.<sup>12</sup> The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights<sup>13</sup> and the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe have also advocated for the prohibition of such discrimination.<sup>14</sup>

Some anti-discrimination laws find their underpinnings in national constitutions; others are built of case law or state-recognised religious law, such as the concept of privacy in Sharia. Of 168 countries reviewed by UNAIDS, 123 reported that they had passed legislation to outlaw discrimination based on HIV.<sup>15</sup> 111 countries have specific non-discrimination laws or regulations that protect at least some specific populations based on their vulnerability to HIV.<sup>16</sup>

More precisely, advocates and lawmakers have turned to the category of "other status" as the basis of protecting the rights of HIV-positive people, actual or presumed, their children

#### LEGAL SHELTER



ources: Making the Law Work for the HIV Response: hter-Parliamentary Union (IPU), UNAIDS, UNDP. 2011

#### THE LETTER OF THE LAW

#### The Philippines – AIDS Control and Prevention Act of 1998<sup>17</sup>

"[D]iscrimination, in all its forms and subtleties, against individuals with HIV or persons perceived or suspected of having HIV shall be considered inimical to individual and national interest." The Act also specifically prohibits discrimination in the workplace, schools, travel and habitation, public service, credit and insurance service, hospitals and health institutions and burial services.

#### The Bahamas – Employment Act of 2001<sup>18</sup>

"No employer or person acting on behalf of an employer shall discriminate against an employee or applicant for employment on the basis of race, creed, sex, marital status, political opinion, age or HIV/AIDS."

#### Australia – Anti-Discrimination Act of 1997<sup>19</sup>

It is unlawful for a person "by a public act, to incite hatred towards, serious contempt for, or severe ridicule of" anyone actually or thought to be HIV-positive.

### ECONOMIC DEATH Hoffmann v. South African Airways<sup>20</sup>

South African Airways had a policy against hiring HIV-positive people as cabin attendants. The Constitutional Court of South Africa overturned the policy, ruling that the blanket exclusion of HIV-positive people from employment infringes the constitutional guarantee of equality.

People living with HIV cannot be "condemned to economic death" by the denial of equal opportunity in employment, the Court said, and added that HIV-positive people enjoy special protection from discrimination under the Employment Equity Act. In its ruling, the Court invoked the principle of *ubuntu*—a Zulu word conveying the recognition of the human worth and respect for the dignity of every person.

or parents.<sup>21</sup> The UN Commission on Human Rights has repeatedly confirmed that the term "other status"—a common category in human rights law comprising unnamed classes to be protected from discrimination—should be interpreted to cover health status, including HIV status.<sup>22</sup> Protections against discrimination on the basis of disability may also be useful for people living with HIV, even though there is no universally accepted definition of the word. Most prominently, the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities contains a "social model" of disability that is broad enough to encompass HIV or AIDS.<sup>23</sup>

In some countries, High Courts have ruled that laws prohibiting discrimination based on disability protect people living with HIV based on their sero-status, and that this includes both actual and perceived disability.<sup>24</sup> For instance, the Supreme Court of the United States ruled that people living with HIV are protected under the Americans with Disabilities Act.<sup>25</sup>

Even when there are no laws against HIV-based discrimination, national courts have often looked to constitutional guarantees of dignity

and equality to prohibit discriminatory practices. When HIV-positive people have been kept out of public swimming pools, restaurants, day-care or health services—such bans usually justified by the notion that they protect others' health some courts have stepped in to overrule these policies. Some courts have also invoked the rights to livelihood and equality in hiring, as well as the internationally recognised right to "the highest attainable standard of health".

#### NEGLECTED ENFORCEMENT, FLOUTED LAWS

Often, legislation commits a nation to guaranteeing internationally affirmed human rights of equality, liberty and health. But for many reasons (such as lack of resources, political chaos or interpretations of religion), governments frequently fail to uphold these obligations. National legislation may prohibit discrimination, but the law is often ignored, laxly enforced or aggressively flouted. In public institutions and in their homes,<sup>26</sup> people living with HIV feel the blows of stigma, discrimination, marginalisation and verbal and physical abuse.<sup>27</sup> These experiences are often compounded by bigotry (based on sex, gender, sexual orientation, social origin, occupation, race or status as a person who uses drugs or engages in sex work) that spills

### "An Ombudsman office exists in the Dominican Republic as per the Constitution, but no one was ever appointed to take office, nor have the resources for its operation been specified and provided."

Salvador E. Estepan, Dominican Republic, Latin America Regional Dialogue, 26–27 June 2011

onto their families. The children of sex workers and people who use drugs may be tormented by other children; if a parent is HIV-positive, his or her child may be barred from school.<sup>28</sup> Many people living with HIV find there is no recourse, nowhere to register a complaint and no authority to redress the problem.

To make law real on the ground, the state must educate health care workers, legal professionals, employers and trade unionists, and school faculties about their legal responsibilities to guarantee inclusion and equality. People living with or affected by HIV must be informed of their rights. The legal ideal of non-discrimination must be defended by enforcement: prompt and affordable access to redress in cases of violations, including affordable, accessible legal services and confidentiality of proceedings.

#### **ADVOCACY FOR EQUALITY**

Where there is discrimination, increasingly, people are fighting back. Advocates are pushing to strengthen legal recognition of the rights of HIV-positive people and providing legal help to those whose rights are violated. In Algeria, for instance, the Association de Protection Contre le Sida (APCS) and Le Fond pour les Droits Humains Mondiaux (FDHM), with the support of volunteer lawyers, are bringing claims of discrimination to the courts for MSM, vulnerable women affected by HIV and migrants living in Algeria—people who would not otherwise have a voice.<sup>29</sup> At the end of

2011, the report of the Commonwealth Eminent Persons recommended that governments in the Commonwealth of Nations take steps to repeal discriminatory laws that impede effective HIV responses.<sup>30</sup>

Pressure on governments has often impelled their ministries to require employers and businesses dealing with the public to treat people with HIV fairly. In early 2010, French Finance Minister Christine Lagarde directed insurance and loan companies to review and amend their pensions, health insurance, death benefits and loan disbursement policies with an eye toward reinforcing the social welfare of people living with HIV.<sup>31</sup> As a result, on 1<sup>st</sup> February 2011 Christine Lagarde, Minister of Labour, Xavier Bertrand, and Minister of Social Affairs, Roselyn Bachelot, co-signed the 2011 AERAS Convention enabling access to loans, pensions, health insurances and other benefits for people living with aggravated health risks, including people living with HIV. The Convention entered into force on 1 March 2011.<sup>32</sup> In Burkina Faso, the Ministry of Labour and Social Security and the International Labour Organization, along with employers' and workers' organisations, are creating a legal and policy framework conducive to HIV prevention and protective of workers' rights in connection with HIV and AIDS. Their efforts go beyond the formal public and private sectors to the informal economy as well.<sup>33</sup>

### **RECOMMENDATIONS**

To ensure an effective, sustainable response to HIV that is consistent with human rights obligations:

- 1.1. Countries must ensure that their national HIV policies, strategies, plans and programmes include effective, targeted action to support enabling legal environments, with attention to formal law, law enforcement and access to justice. Every country must repeal punitive laws and enact protective laws to protect and promote human rights, improve delivery of and access to HIV prevention and treatment, and increase the cost-effectiveness of these efforts.
- 1.2. Where they have not already done so, countries must explicitly prohibit discrimination on the basis of actual or perceived HIV status and ensure that existing human rights commitments and constitutional guarantees are enforced. Countries must also ensure that laws and regulations prohibiting discrimination and ensuring participation and the provision of information and health services protect people living with HIV, other key populations and people at risk of HIV.
- 1.3. Donors, civil society and private sector actors, and the UN should hold governments accountable to their human rights commitments. Groups outside government should develop and implement rights-based HIV-related policies and practices and fund action on HIV-related law reform, law enforcement and access to justice. Such efforts should include educating people about their rights and the law, as well as challenging stigma and discrimination within families, communities and workplaces.

### CHAPTER 2 **PUNISHING VULNERABILITY** Criminalisation of HIV Transmission, Exposure and Non-Disclosure



Source: www.photos.com

In much of the world it is a crime to expose another person to HIV or to transmit it, especially through sex. Fundamentally unjust, morally harmful, and virtually impossible to enforce<sup>34</sup> with any semblance of fairness, such laws impose regimes of surveillance and punishment on sexually active people living with HIV,<sup>35</sup> not only in their intimate relations and reproductive and maternal lives, but also in their attempts to earn a living.

Proponents of criminalisation often claim that they are promoting public health or morality. Some may even harbour good-hearted, if wrongheaded, intentions, of safeguarding the rights and health of women. But criminalisation guarantees no one's well-being. There is no evidence that laws regulating the sexual conduct of people living with HIV change behaviour in a positive way.<sup>36</sup> Nor do such laws take into account the success of antiretroviral treatment (ART) in significantly

Despite the description . . . by legislators and prosecutors, in fact, it is not intentional transmission but intentional sex while HIV-positive that is the focus of these state laws....The facts of many of these cases read like what should be relics from a less-informed past. Instead, they describe increasingly frequent current events.

Catherine Hanssens, Centre for HIV Law & Policy, U.S., High Income Countries Dialogue, 16–17 September 2011

> reducing transmission risk and improving the quality of life and longevity for people with HIV.37 AIDS service organisations report that the threat of prosecution neither empowers people living with HIV to avoid transmission nor motivates them to protect themselves.<sup>38</sup> Indeed, the fear of prosecution isolates them and discourages them from getting tested, participating in prevention or treatment programmes or disclosing their status to partners.<sup>39</sup> The criminal justice system fights the health care system—one repelling, the other reaching out to people vulnerable to or affected by HIV. By dividing populations into the sick and the healthy or the guilty and the innocent, criminalisation denies the complex social nature of sexual communities and fractures the shared sense of moral responsibility that is crucial to fighting the epidemic.40

> Some jurisdictions apply existing general offences to criminalise HIV exposure or transmission from "administration of a noxious substance" (France) to attempted homicide (United States).<sup>41</sup> Others have chosen to target HIV: the first HIVspecific laws were passed in the United States in 1987, with many other nations quickly following



Source: Global Criminalisation Scan, GNP+ Global Network for People Living with HIV, 2012.



Source: UNAIDS/D. Kim/Korea

suit.<sup>42</sup> The past decade has seen a new wave of HIV-specific statutes, notably in sub-Saharan Africa and parts of Asia and Latin America.<sup>43</sup>

Today, countries and jurisdictions in every region of the world have promulgated HIV-specific criminal statutes.<sup>44</sup> They're on the books in 34 states and 2 territories in the United States<sup>45</sup>; in Africa, 27 countries have them; in Asia and the Pacific, 13; Latin America, 11; and Europe, 9.<sup>46</sup> According to a 2010 report by the Global Network of People Living with HIV (GNP+), at least 600 people living with HIV in 24 countries<sup>47</sup> have been convicted under HIV-specific or general criminal laws, with the greatest numbers reported in North America.<sup>48</sup>

#### **RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES**

In Africa alone over the last seven years, numerous countries have adopted HIV-specific criminal legislation.<sup>49</sup> In every case, the irony is glaring: these laws, which purport to be based on human rights principles, in fact trample human rights. This continent-wide contradiction derives largely from the Model Law on STI/HIV/AIDS for West and Central Africa, developed at a workshop held in N'Djamena, Chad, in 2004.50 This template, conceived as human rights legislation to combat discrimination and address HIV testing, takes a "rights and responsibilities" approach. For instance, it includes guarantees of pre- and post-testing counseling and anti-discrimination protections in employment and insurance for HIV-positive people. At the same time, it holds HIV-positive people legally responsible for disclosing their HIV status to anyone they have sex with and taking active

measures to prevent transmission. Failure to do so brings criminal sanctions.

Some jurisdictions punish exposure even if there is no transmission of HIV, and some punish transmission even if the person wears a condom; prosecutions proceed in spite of the medical near-impossibility of determining who infected whom. And, because ART significantly reduces the likelihood of transmission, it is access to treatment, not criminalisation, that is effective in reducing infection.<sup>51</sup>

#### WHAT GETS PROSECUTED ...

The main "criminal activity" for people who are HIVpositive is sex, and the laws can be overly broad and the penalties draconian. For instance, Bermuda makes it a crime for people living with HIV to have any kind of sexual contact in which body fluids might pass to another person.<sup>52</sup> As a consequence, two people have received ten-year sentences, though HIV was not transmitted in either case.<sup>53</sup> In Singapore, those who merely have reason to believe that they may be HIV-positive or might have been exposed to significant risk of contracting the virus face ten years' imprisonment if convicted of having sex without informing their partner of the possible risk or taking reasonable precautions against transmission.<sup>54</sup>

But sex is not the only "crime" for which HIVpositive people may be punished. Spitting and biting have been prosecuted. Advocates worry that simply being pregnant or breastfeeding with HIV could land a woman in prison. In many penal codes these laws are extraordinary for the personal surveillance they represent and the wildly disproportionate sentences they carry.

#### ... AND WHO

In 2008 in Texas, United States, an African-American mentally ill homeless man living with HIV spat at a police officer during an arrest for drunk and disorderly conduct. The jury was persuaded that his saliva was a deadly weapon,<sup>55</sup> and he got a thirty-five-

"The impact of HIV criminalisation on people living with HIV is ultimately destructive and divisive, creating a sense that there are 'good' HIV-positive people versus 'bad' HIV-positive people. The people who complain to the police, supported by the criminal justice system, believe that they should be warned when their sexual partner is HIV-positive. Never mind the incredible difficulties we might have disclosing this very sensitive information to people who we don't trust; the deep denial we often face earlier on in our diagnosis; the difficulties we have negotiating or using condoms; or the fact that those of us on effective treatment are going to be far less infectious than people who are undiagnosed and who couldn't possibly warn their partner".

Edwin J. Bernard, Germany, High Income Countries Dialogue, 16–17 September 2011

year sentence—despite the fact that HIV cannot be transmitted by spitting. In 1988 an HIV-positive Minnesota prisoner was convicted of biting two prison guards: His mouth and teeth were found to be a "deadly and dangerous weapon."<sup>56</sup>

In Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Sweden and the United Kingdom, migrants and asylum seekers have been disproportionately represented among those prosecuted for HIV transmission and exposure.<sup>57</sup> In some jurisdictions, HIVpositive people convicted of a crime, such as rape, can face an exacerbated sentence positive serostatus is viewed as an aggravating factor, akin to using a weapon in the crime's commission.<sup>58</sup>

As these last examples suggest, anti-transmission and exposure laws are often arbitrarily and disproportionately applied to those who are already considered inherently criminal<sup>59</sup>—both reflecting and perpetuating existing social inequalities.

Sensational media coverage of HIV-transmission prosecutions exaggerates the alleged evil and dangerousness of HIV "perpetrators". Sarah Jane Porter, a forty-three-year-old British single mother and hair salon receptionist, was convicted in 2006 and sentenced to thirty months for grievous bodily harm in transmitting HIV to her former boyfriend. The press portrayed her as a wildly promiscuous "AIDS avenger" on a rampage against black men like her son's father, from whom she had contracted HIV. The police, claiming she had dozens of potential victims, put out a nationwide call for accusers and three of the four they contacted tested negative for HIV. While describing Porter as "callous" and "manipulative", the prosecution praised her accusers as "very articulate professional decent men who were trying to do their best in life". Porter's friends and neighbours, meanwhile, described a quiet, overworked mother whose boyfriend had asked for unprotected sex and whose only "crime" was her denial of her own HIV status—the reason she did not disclose it to others.<sup>60</sup>

Although proponents often argue that criminalisation is needed to protect women, especially monogamous wives, from the risk of HIV infection by male sexual partners, in reality such laws make criminals of the same women they're intended to protect.<sup>61</sup> HIV-positive mothers are criminals under all of the HIV laws of West and Central Africa, which explicitly or implicitly forbid them from being pregnant or breastfeeding, lest they transmit the virus to foetus or child.62 The law does not acknowledge that women are frequently unable to disclose their HIV status or demand the use of a condom because they fear violence, abuse or abandonment by their husbands or partners and/ or are worried that information might be used as a tool for revenge or coercion.<sup>63</sup> As for alleging the intentional transmission of HIV from a mother to a child, the concept is so unlikely as to approach absurdity.

### ON SECOND THOUGHT Denmark reconsiders its harsh law

Until 2011, Denmark had one of the harshest laws criminalizing HIV. Penal Code 252 (2) made it a crime for anyone with HIV to willfully or negligently infect or expose another to the risk of infection. This meant that a person could be found guilty even without actual transmission—exactly the sort of law that UNAIDS and UNDP warn against.<sup>64</sup> A coalition of people living with HIV, medical experts and legal professionals lobbied the government intensely, pointing out that ART now significantly reduces the risk of transmission and allows most HIV-positive people to live long, healthy lives. In February 2011, the government suspended the law and established a working group to consider its revision or outright repeal, based on new scientific evidence.<sup>65</sup>



#### IS CRIMINALISATION EVER JUSTIFIED?

*Criminalisation is justified under one condition only:* where individuals maliciously and intentionally transmit or expose others with the express purpose of causing harm. But existing laws—against assault, homicide and causing bodily harm, or allowing intervention where a person is spreading communicable diseases<sup>66</sup>—suffice to prosecute people in those exceptional cases. Defining specific HIV offences is not warranted and, in fact, violates international human rights standards. For instance, in the International Guidelines on HIV and Human Rights, Guideline 4 directs States to ensure that their criminal laws"are not misused in the context of HIV/ AIDS or targeted against vulnerable groups".<sup>67</sup>

That said, such laws are virtually impossible to prosecute. Intentional transmission is difficult to prove in the context of consensual sex. Alleging "recklessness" or "negligent" transmission is equally problematic. <sup>68</sup> It requires proving the defendant's state of mind—getting testimony from health care professionals, diaries or emails offering insight into a defendant's thoughts. UNAIDS and UNDP have called on governments to limit criminalisation to cases where a person knows his or her HIV-positive status, acts with intent to transmit HIV and actually transmits it. However, most Western legal systems allow the defence of consent, thus preventing the punishment of, for example, Roman Catholic husbands with HIV whose wives have consented to the risk of transmission rather than offend against religious proscriptions concerning non-procreative sex.<sup>69</sup>

Myriad other considerations arise. Did the defendant know her HIV status?<sup>70</sup> Did she know how HIV is transmitted? Did she think her partner already was aware of her status or consented to unsafe sex? Was the defendant under threat of violence from the complainant and thus unable to disclose her status or practice safer sex? Was it actually the defendant who transmitted HIV to the complainant? Phylogenetic analysis<sup>71,d</sup> which can establish whether the sub-type of HIV in the defendant's body is the same as in the complainant's, is far too costly for many low-resource countries. Additionally, it doesn't offer incontrovertible proof of who infected whom.

#### DIFFERENT QUESTIONS, DIFFERENT LAWS

International bodies and national governments are starting to recognise the injustice of sprawling HIV criminalisation laws and amend them so as to zero in on intentional, malicious acts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup> Phylogenetic analysis examines small genetic differences in HIV. Unlike human DNA, which remains stable for a lifetime, HIV's RNA changes very rapidly, leading to a huge amount of genetic diversity. Phylogenetic analysis can only determine the degree of relatedness of two samples of HIV. It cannot create a definitive 'match'.

UNAIDS issued recommendations that include alternative ways of phrasing some provisions in the N'Djamena model law to make them more precise.<sup>72</sup> In the past few years Guinea, Togo and Senegal have revised their HIV-related legislation or adopted new laws that restrict the use of criminal law to the exceptional cases of intentional transmission.73 The Finnish Expert Group on HIV has also recently initiated efforts to change the law to avoid policies that reinforce HIV-related stigma and discrimination.<sup>74</sup> Denmark and Norway are considering revision or repeal.<sup>75</sup> In 2011, Guyana's Parliamentary Select Committee rejected a bill calling for the criminalisation of HIV.<sup>76</sup> And Mauritius revoked criminalisation of HIV transmission.77

Arresting HIV-positive people for seeking pleasure and intimacy is a defeatist and cynical response to the failure of nations to confront the epidemic. The sad case of Sarah Jane Porter (see discussion earlier in the chapter) raises many questions not even approached by the criminalisation response to HIV. Was her son's father aware of his HIV status and, if so, why did he persuade her to have unprotected sex and why did she consent? Why did she deny her illness and shy away from treatment? Why was she passive in defending herself in court? How can women—and men be empowered to take care of themselves and others?

### RECOMMENDATIONS

To ensure an effective, sustainable response to HIV that is consistent with human rights obligations:

- 2.1. Countries must not enact laws that explicitly criminalise HIV transmission, HIV exposure or failure to disclose HIV status. Where such laws exist, they are counterproductive and must be repealed. The provisions of model codes that have been advanced to support the enactment of such laws should be withdrawn and amended to conform to these recommendations.
- 2.2. Law enforcement authorities must not prosecute people in cases of HIV non-disclosure or exposure where no intentional or malicious HIV transmission has been proven to take place. Invoking criminal laws in cases of adult private consensual sexual activity is disproportionate and counterproductive to enhancing public health.
- 2.3. Countries must amend or repeal any law that explicitly or effectively criminalises vertical transmission of HIV<sup>78</sup>. While the process of review and repeal is under way, governments must place moratoria on enforcement of any such laws.
- 2.4. Countries may legitimately prosecute HIV transmission that was both actual and intentional, using general criminal law, but such prosecutions should be pursued with care and require a high standard of evidence and proof.
- 2.5. The convictions of those who have been successfully prosecuted for HIV exposure, non-disclosure and transmission must be reviewed. Such convictions must be set aside or the accused immediately released from prison with pardons or similar actions to ensure that these charges do not remain on criminal or sex offender records.

## CHAPTER 3 RISK + STIGMA Key Populations<sup>e</sup>



The lived experiences of sex workers, people who use drugs and LGBT (lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender) people show the impossibility of governments stigmatising people on one hand while simultaneously actually helping to reduce their risk of HIV transmission or exposure on the other.

Anna Forbes, Sex Workers Coalition, U.S., High Income Countries Dialogue, 16–17 September 2011

Source: UNAIDS/South Africa

To safeguard their health and that of others, key populations—the people at greatest risk of HIV infection (including MSM, transgender people, sex workers, people who use drugs, prisoners and at-risk migrants)—must have access to effective HIV prevention and treatment and commodities such as clean needles and syringes, condoms and lubricant. Numerous international bodies call the provision of these things a human rights obligation. But a needle or a condom is only the concrete representation of what key populations (like everyone) are entitled to: the fundamental human rights of dignity, autonomy and freedom from ill treatment, as well as the right to the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, regardless of sexuality or legal status.<sup>79</sup>

Countries and donors fail to invest sufficiently in the inexpensive commodities that can stop infection or the programmes to promote and distribute them, and some governments criminalise their possession. Not only do states fail to protect HIV-vulnerable people from violence or ensure their access to justice, governments stand by as their agents administer society's messages of disgust and contempt beatings, extortion, torture, selective or arbitrary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup> According to the International HIV/AIDS Alliance, key populations are groups of people who are more likely to be exposed to HIV or to transmit it and whose engagement is critical to a successful HIV response. In all countries, key populations include people living with HIV. In most settings, men who have sex with men, transgender people, people who inject drugs and sex workers and their clients are at higher risk of exposure to HIV than other groups. See, UN Political Declaration to Shape HIV Response, International HIV/AIDS Alliance, June 17, 2011, available at: http://www.aidsalliance.org/newsdetails.aspx?id=290951%20.

arrest, punishment vastly disproportionate to the alleged infraction, unsafe prison conditions, and mistreatment rather than protection in cases of violence.

Such abusive practices are usually illegal, yet they persist. They are not simply the aberrant acts of a small number of poorly trained officers. In many cases, the police commit violent and discriminatory acts because the law and social attitudes at least tacitly authorise them to do so, in the name of public safety, order, or morality. When the law punishes drug use, sex work, and certain sexual behaviours and identities, key populations can neither count on the police for protection from violence nor seek legal redress when they are its victims, especially when the perpetrators are police officers. After all, under the law, the transgender person or sex worker is the "criminal". That lack of justice reinforces the climate of police impunity. Together, punitive laws, discriminatory enforcement and systematic bars to justice violate the basic human rights of key populations; in fact, they practically guarantee such violation.

But even where it is currently impossible to rebuild the edifice of the law, social-even legal—changes can be made. No government explicitly allows police brutality: such acts can be investigated and punished. Stigma and discrimination, similarly, can be challenged-if not by the government, then by community organisations non-governmental and organisations (NGOs). And just as the cycle of discrimination, violence and government neglect of key populations erect barriers to HIV prevention, treatment and care, these incremental changes can help to dismantle those barriers.

When I can work in safe and fair conditions. When I am free of discrimination. When I am free of labels like "immoral" or "victim". When I am free from unethical researchers. When I am free to do my job without harassment, violence or breaking the law. When sex work is recognised as work. When we have safety, unity, respect and our rights. When I am free to choose my own way. THEN I am free to protect myself and others from HIV.

Empower Foundation, Thailand, Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011

#### **THE POWERS OF FAITH**

Religion and religious communities can offer emotional succor and social support to people living with or vulnerable to HIV. Religious institutions have often been at the forefront of caring for people living with HIV, and some play important roles in prevention. But narrow and punitive interpretations of religion—especially in concert with law—can also make those most at risk more vulnerable by condemning and criminalising their identities and behaviours. Some countries cite religion to exempt themselves from international human rights guarantees of equality and prohibitions of inhumane punishment. For instance, Egypt has used its right of reservation under a number of international agreements, including CEDAW—the Convention on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women—where it believes certain articles conflict with Sharia.<sup>80</sup>

Recently, Ugandan Pentecostal Christian evangelicals, with help from their United States counterparts, have pushed forward a draconian Anti-Homosexuality Bill, which originally called for the death penalty in some circumstances. Similar efforts are under way in Malawi, Republic of Congo, Zambia, Zimbabwe and Moldova.<sup>81</sup> In Latin America, some African countries, the Philippines and elsewhere, the Roman Catholic Church has blocked sex education and condom distribution and intervened to curtail the rights of HIV-positive people.<sup>82</sup> And in its closing remarks at the 2011 High Level Meeting on HIV, the Holy See camouflaged blame of the HIV-positive in the language of concern for them, claiming that "the causes of [HIV/AIDS] clearly reflect a serious crisis of values."83 Subtly expressing the Church's rejection of harm reduction and other proven pragmatic prevention strategies—and even the principle that all people are born with dignity—its spokesperson said: "Prevention first and foremost must be directed toward formation and education in responsible human behavior or, in other words, acquired human dignity."<sup>84</sup> At the same time, many religious institutions have been crucial players in the HIV response. In Malaysia, where injection drug use is the main driver of HIV transmission, the Malaysian AIDS Council has partnered with the government's Department of Islamic Development to promote evidence-based public health responses to HIV and replace ideological conservatism with pragmatism.<sup>85</sup> Mauritania has pledged to uphold human rights in working to reconcile the flawed but partially valuable N'Djamena model with Islam. And the Laotian Buddhist Metta Dhamma Project works with communities in HIV prevention and care and offers spiritual support to people living with HIV throughout Southeast Asia.86

It is clear that all major religious traditions, as well as other customary legal systems, have doctrine or theology that can be used to fight discrimination and exclusion; to protect privacy and health; and to support public health measures that reduce harm to key populations, people with HIV and those around them. Unfortunately, many religious traditions also have other elements of doctrine that are cited to justify extremely harsh penalisation of prostitution, drug use and homosexual behaviour—sometimes to the point of the death penalty. Sharia may be interpreted in a way that gives men power over women. All this increases HIV vulnerability.

To alleviate suffering, religious and secular actors must work together to harmonise the practices of faith with the ideals of human rights. Such progress is possible. The notion of fundamental human rights grew out of natural law concepts, often founded on human dignity ascribed to divine characteristics of humanity.

### RECOMMENDATIONS

3. To ensure an effective, sustainable response to HIV that is consistent with human rights obligations, countries must prohibit police violence against key populations. Countries must also support programmes that reduce stigma and discrimination against key populations and protect their rights.

# **3.1 PEOPLE WHO USE DRUGS**



I had a lot of problems with violations of human rights when I was using drugs. I was constantly pressured by the police. I have often been ill-treated only for the fact that I am a drug user and I was repeatedly tortured during interrogation. I was denied access to medical care when I was suffering from a high temperature and an abscess.

Maxim Demchenko, Light of Hope NGO – Poltava, Ukraine, Eastern Europe and Central Asia Regional Dialogue, 18–19 May 2011

Source: UNAIDS/Eastern Europe

Among the greatest risks of drug use is heightened exposure to HIV infection. HIV risk is particularly elevated for the approximately 16 million people worldwide who inject drugs. About 3 million are reported to already be infected with HIV, and about one in ten new HIV infections is related to injection drug use.<sup>87</sup> And although sharing infected needles and syringes is the most widespread route of HIV transmission amongst drug users, other drug-taking practices can also put people at risk. Sharing of some other drug paraphernalia may also share HIV, and many different kinds of drugs can lead to higher rates of sexual risk-taking.<sup>88</sup>

HIV is not the only harm to befall people who use drugs: excessive use or addiction can inflict many other injuries to health and life. But it is not just the drugs that may endanger users, nor is it just the drugs plus the scant access users have to services for HIV and health care.<sup>89</sup> Punitive laws enforced against people who use drugs but do no harm to others fuel the spread of HIV and keep users from accessing services for HIV and health care.<sup>90</sup> HIV can be transmitted between people who use drugs through unsafe injection practices, such as sharing needles in which HIV-infected blood lingers. If HIV-positive people who use drugs have sex without a condom, the virus can be transmitted to their sexual partners. Harm reduction can make the difference between health and HIV infection-between life and death-not just for people who inject drugs but also for their sex partners and their communities. Multiple systematic reviews of evidence have shown that countries or jurisdictions that have legalised comprehensive harm reduction services have significantly reduced HIV infections among people who use drugs, compared with persistent or growing rates in countries or jurisdictions where such services are restricted or blocked by law.91

The differences can be striking, as is the case with two cities in Scotland. Edinburgh effectively prohibited the purchase and possession of syringes without a prescription in 1981 and had HIV prevalence amongst drug injectors of over 50% by

#### WHAT IS HARM REDUCTION?

"Harm reduction" refers to policies, programmes and practices aimed at reducing the harms associated with the use of illegal drugs—but not prevention or cessation of drug use itself. Harm reduction focuses on people who, for whatever reason, continue to use drugs, helping them protect their health and that of their drug-using companions, sex partners or children.<sup>92</sup>

The UN General Assembly, the UN Commission on Narcotic Drugs, UN human rights bodies and specialised agencies such as the WHO recommend a comprehensive package for the prevention, treatment and care of HIV among injection-drug users, including:

- Clean-needle and syringe programmes
- · Opioid substitution therapy and other evidence-based drug dependence treatment
- HIV testing and counseling
- Antiretroviral therapy
- Prevention and treatment of STIs
- Condom distribution
- Targeted information and education
- · Vaccination, diagnosis and treatment of viral hepatitis
- Prevention, diagnosis and treatment of tuberculosis93

1984.<sup>94</sup> In Glasgow, however, syringe purchase and possession was allowed, and HIV prevalence amongst drug users remained very low, between 1% and 2%.<sup>95</sup>

#### **INTERNATIONAL & NATIONAL DRUG LAWS**

Three UN conventions govern the contemporary international drug control system. The Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs (1961) mandates that narcotic drugs (such as opium, coca, marijuana and their derivatives) be produced, distributed, possessed and used for medical and scientific purposes only.<sup>96</sup> The 1971 Convention on Psychotropic Substances puts similar restrictions on primarily synthetic psychotropic substances, such as amphetamines, barbiturates, benzodiazepines and psychedelics.<sup>97</sup> The 1988 Convention Against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances promotes co-operation among states to address the international dimension of trafficking.<sup>98</sup>

Because drug trafficking harms society, these conventions aim to reduce the supply of drugs, largely through criminal sanctions.<sup>99</sup> However,

while the conventions do allow for treatment, rehabilitation and social reintegration—as opposed to punishment—the approach to people who use drugs has been predominantly repressive.<sup>100</sup> Almost everywhere, drug policy falls under the aegis of law enforcement and not of health, and outlaws individual drug possession and use. Some laws also mandate compulsory treatment for drug dependence, testing for suspected drug use and registration of drug users.<sup>101</sup>

Several decades of experience show that repressive drug control laws and policies fail to achieve their purported goals, whether fighting crime or reducing drug use or drug-related harm. They worsen health and contribute to increasing human rights violations against people who use drugs.<sup>102</sup> And they decidedly do not stem HIV infection.<sup>103</sup>

#### **DRUG WARS AND CASUALTIES**

Intentionally or not, "wars on drugs" are wars on people who use drugs, and these people face police harassment, violence and incarceration; discrimination in health care, housing,

#### "I also propose that you work to close 'compulsory drug detention centers' where many drug users are held, yet where the oversight of the courts and justice system do not extend, and where as a result violations of basic human rights are the norm. Failing to successfully 'treat' drug users, and resembling military boot camps where they are often housed, these Thai drug 'rehabilitation centres' are just an extra-judicial measure to detain people who use drugs, yet detainees enjoy fewer rights than even people in prison".<sup>104</sup>

Kamon Uppakaew, Thai AIDS Treatment Action Group, Thailand, Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011

employment and schooling; and political disenfranchisement. Police officers pressed to meet arrest quotas seek out easy targets. Because they are socially, economically and legally marginalised, sometimes living on the streets or in highly policed neighborhoods, people who use drugs are easy targets.<sup>105</sup> In Georgia, drug crackdowns in 2007 resulted in 4% of Georgia's male population being tested for drugs, many under forced conditions; 35% of these men went to prison on a drug-related charge.<sup>106</sup>

In many Eastern European and Central Asian countries, people who use drugs are named on drug registers. These registers brand people who use drugs as sick and dangerous, sometimes for life (in some places, a person who guits using drugs is not removed from the register). They also may result in denial of employment, travel and immigration; loss of child custody; and police harassment.<sup>107</sup> "Rehabilitation" in countries can often be thinly veiled punishment. In Cambodia, Malaysia, China and Vietnam, many people who use drugs endure involuntary treatment in prisons or in drug detention centres. In these places, under the guise of treatment, people who use drugs undergo humiliation, beatings and forced labour-all abuses of their basic human rights.<sup>108</sup> Confinement further increases the risk of HIV transmission: inmates, who have little or no access to condoms, sterile needles and syringes or opioid substitution therapy, engage in unprotected sex and risky injecting behaviour.<sup>109</sup> Recently, Malaysia and Indonesia have rejected the "drug detention centre" approach in favour of voluntary, communitybased treatment.<sup>110</sup>

Criminalisation of drug use undermines human rights-based HIV education, prevention and treatment, including harm reduction programmes.<sup>111</sup> A 2010 report reviewing harm reduction programmes in Asia found that at least one of the core services of harm reduction is prohibited under law in Cambodia, China, Lao PDR, Myanmar, Malaysia, Philippines, Afghanistan, Bangladesh, India, Maldives, Nepal and Pakistan.<sup>112</sup> In fact, many countries criminalise proven interventions such as syringe access<sup>113</sup> and medication-assisted treatment for opioid dependence.<sup>114</sup> In Russia and Thailand, people who enrol in public drug treatment programmes are added to registries—which, needless to say, discourages them from seeking treatment.<sup>115</sup>



Source: UN/Photo/Shehzad Noorani/HIV-positive drug user peer support group, Vietnam

#### **"THE REHAB ARCHIPELAGO"**

"Human Rights Watch has found that tens of thousands of people in government-run drug detention centres in Vietnam are held without due process for years, forced to work for little or no pay, and suffer torture and physical violence. Governmentrun drug detention centres, mandated to 'treat' and 'rehabilitate' drug users, are little more than forced labour camps where drug users work six days a week processing cashews, sewing garments or manufacturing other items. Refusing to work, or violating centre rules, results in punishment that in some cases is torture."<sup>116</sup>

> Fear of police action makes people who use drugs wary and furtive. They may avoid carrying sterile injection equipment, which is either explicitly criminalised in some countries and/or used by police as evidence of drug use.<sup>117</sup> They may inject guickly to avoid detection,<sup>118</sup> dispose of syringes improperly<sup>119</sup> or resort to reusing needles.<sup>120</sup> In Russia, which records 150 new cases of HIV infection daily-7 in 10 of whom are injecting drug users<sup>121</sup>—drug treatment programmes provide no services or care related to HIV transmission through unsafe injection practices, and the State Anti-Drug Policy Strategy restricts harm reduction programmes and promotion of harm reduction within the territory of the Russian Federation, including banning opiod substitution therapy until 2020.<sup>122</sup> The Network for Harm Reduction in Russia is working to delete this, and numerous other counterproductive clauses, from the plan.<sup>123</sup>

"A practice allowing drug users to purchase syringes over the counter is not common when drug users fear arrest at the pharmacy. Still police officers linger nearby waiting to beat up, arrest or extort drug users seeking help."

> Pun, Nepal, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011

#### **CALLING OFF THE POLICE**

With an understanding that humane policies are more effective in combating drug-related harm and that punitive ones have adverse effects on individuals and communities, some governments are supplanting policing with public health promotion. More than half of the 158 countries and territories where injecting drug use is reported to occur have adopted such policies and programmes.

#### In 2010:124

- 93 supported harm reduction in policy or practice
- 79 referred explicitly and positively to harm reduction in national policy documents
- 82 had needle and syringe exchange
- 10 had needle and syringe exchange in prisons
- 74 had opioid substitution therapy
- 39 had opioid substitution therapy in prisons
- 8 had drug consumption rooms

New Zealand's Misuse of Drugs Amendment Act 1987 removed criminal sanctions for the sale of needles and syringes to people who inject drugs. That opened the way for those people to make use of evidence-based HIV services for people who use drugs<sup>125</sup>—without any evidence of an increase in drug use and

#### **MITIGATING THE HARM**



Consistent resistance to harm reduction and punitive approaches



Sources: War on Drugs, Report of the Global Commission on Drug Policy, 2011; Mathers B et al., for the 2007 Reference Group to the UN on HIV and Injecting Drug Use: Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and HIV among people who inject drugs: A systematic review. The Lancet, Volume 372, Issue 9651, 2008; Mathers B et al., HIV prevention, treatment and care for people who inject drugs: A systematic review of global, regional and country level coverage. The Lancet, Volume 375, Issue 9719, 2010.

possession. Australia, Germany and the United Kingdom made similar decisions, achieving low rates of HIV transmission among people who use drugs and—presuming those people might have passed the virus on—the wider population.<sup>126</sup> Switzerland rejected repressive drug policies and policing practices in favour of a public health approach with regulation. The result? Lower HIV rates and improved health outcomes for people who use drugs.<sup>127</sup> And the Islamic Republic of Iran in 2005 decided that injecting drug users should be treated as patients by the public health system. The rate of new HIV infections, which had risen until 2005, has dropped ever since.<sup>128</sup> The regulation of illicit drugs may have a positive impact on reducing HIV.<sup>129</sup> That is why some experts have argued for decriminalisation without full-out legalisation of drugs used for non-medical purposes. Under a decriminalisation framework, drug use or possession of small amounts remains prohibited by the state, but infractions fall under the aegis of civil or administrative law, and penalties are minor. Accordingly, some countries have recognised that users sometimes sell small amounts of drugs for personal support or survival; understanding that this is a far cry from a major trafficking offence, lawmakers have amended statutes to reflect the difference.<sup>130</sup> Brazil decriminalised the possession and consumption

### LESS PUNISHMENT, LESS DRUG USE

#### Portugal's success

On July 1, 2001, a Portuguese law came into effect that decriminalised the possession and use of illicit drugs in small enough amounts to suggest personal use. Drug trafficking continues to be a criminal offence, and drug possession and use are still illegal, but these latter infractions incur only administrative penalties, just as a parking ticket would. Rather than prison or other criminal penalties, as earlier laws mandated, people found to be in possession of or using drugs go before a panel consisting of a psychologist, a social worker and a legal adviser. The panel may impose any of a range of sanctions, including fines, community service and suspension of professional licences. For those who are dependent on drugs, the panel may forego a sanction and instead order the person to attend an educational programme or receive treatment. The number of people on methadone and buprenorphine for drug dependency rose to 14,877 from 6,040 after decriminalisation—treatment funded with the money Portugal saves on police and prisons.<sup>131</sup>

Portugal now reports one of the lowest rates of lifetime marijuana use (that is, at least one use in a lifetime) in the EU: 8.2%, compared with 25% in the EU generally. Data also shows a drop in drug use by teens; lifetime heroin use in 16- to 18-year-olds dropped from 2.5% to 1.8%.<sup>132</sup>

New HIV infections among people who use drugs fell by 17% from 1999 to 2003, while fewer people died from causes related to drug use.<sup>133</sup>

of drugs for personal use in 2004, and in March 2008 its Appeals Court ruled criminal prosecution for drug possession unconstitutional.<sup>134</sup> And, notwithstanding its deadly war on drugs, Mexico in 2009 adopted legislation decriminalising possession of small amounts of drugs—including cocaine, marijuana, heroin, methamphetamine and LSD—for "personal and immediate use".<sup>135</sup> These legal changes remove the fear of arrest and stigma and encourage people who use drugs to get tested for HIV or access treatment. Drug use has not grown in any of these countries in the wake of these legal reforms.<sup>136</sup>

Where drug possession is still illegal, some governments have trained police to be sensitive to drug users and discouraged prosecutors from seeking criminal, especially custodial, penalties. In 2002, at least 27 cities in Switzerland, Germany, Australia and elsewhere set up supervised sites where users can inject in a safe, hygienic environment without risk of arrest.137 In its September 2011 decision to keep open a Vancouver injection site called Insite, the Supreme Court of Canada referred to the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, which commits the state to upholding the human rights of all people-including people who use drugs, the Court said. Noting that "successful [HIV] treatment requires acknowledgment of the difficulties of reaching a marginalised population with complex mental, physical and emotional health issues", the Court also declared that people who use drugs should not be forced to choose between abstinence and forgoing health services.138
## RECOMMENDATIONS

#### To ensure an effective, sustainable response to HIV that is consistent with human rights obligations:

- 3.1 Countries must reform their approach towards drug use. Rather than punishing people who use drugs who do no harm to others, they must offer them access to effective HIV and health services, including harm reduction and voluntary, evidence-based treatment for drug dependence. Countries must:
  - 3.1.1 Shut down all compulsory drug detention centres for people who use drugs and replace them with evidencebased, voluntary services for treating drug dependence.
  - 3.1.2 Abolish national registries of drug users, mandatory and compulsory HIV testing and forced treatment for people who use drugs.
  - 3.1.3 Repeal punitive conditions such as the United States government's federal ban on funding of needle and syringe exchange programmes that inhibit access to HIV services for people who use drugs.
  - 3.1.4 Decriminalise the possession of drugs for personal use, in recognition that the net impact of such sanctions is often harmful to society.
  - 3.1.5 Take decisive action, in partnership with the UN, to review and reform relevant international laws and bodies in line with the principles outlined above, including the UN international drug control conventions: the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs (1961); Convention on Psychotropic Substances (1971); the Convention against the Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances (1988) and the International Narcotics Control Board.

## **3.2 SEX WORKERS**



carriers", and exclude us from community activities. We face discrimination in all areas of the public including workplaces if we have other jobs. Sex workers are subject to violence from the general community, who do not view us as deserving of protection. Sex workers are often rejected by family and peers, and for transgender and HIV-positive sex workers, the stigma can be even more intense.

The general public call us names like "AIDS

Friends Frangipani, Papua New Guinea, Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011

Source: UN Photo/Shehzad Noorani/Sex work, Thailand

Many more than 100 countries explicitly criminalise some aspect of sex work.<sup>139</sup> Some countries, such as most of the United States, Cuba, People's Republic of China, Iran, Vietnam and South Africa, outlaw it entirely.<sup>140</sup> Some in Western Europe, Latin America and Canada prosecute only related activities such as brothel-keeping or transporting sex workers, communicating for the purposes of prostitution, street soliciting and living off its profits. Norway and Sweden<sup>141</sup> arrest the clients of sex workers but not the workers themselves. This so-called "Swedish approach" is seen as more just to sex workers, who are perceived as victims by its proponents.<sup>142</sup> This approach has been applied in other countries and has actually resulted in grave consequences for the workers<sup>143</sup>

Some governments deploy anti-human-trafficking laws so broadly that they conflate voluntary and consensual exchanges of sex for money with the exploitative, coerced, often violent trafficking of people (primarily women and girls) for the purposes of sex.<sup>144</sup> Municipalities may interdict commercial sex under the authority of vaguely worded statutes relating to "public decency"; "morality" and even rape<sup>145</sup>; "nuisance" laws prohibiting loitering and vagrancy; or zoning or health regulations.<sup>146</sup> Although these statutes often do not mention the words "sex worker" or "prostitute", they nevertheless give police wide latitude to arrest and detain sex workers and give the state legal support for making medical examinations compulsory-a fundamental human rights abuse. Sometimes, police use the mere possession of condoms as evidence of sex work.147 Even if sex workers are detained only briefly, their working lives are vexed by harassment and fear. These laws codify profound discrimination; they reflect general social contempt toward female, male and transgender sex workers.

#### CRIMINALISATION + STIGMA = DANGER

For sex workers, especially those who are gender-nonconforming, the threat of violence from both clients and police—is a daily reality. Criminalisation, in collusion with social stigma makes sex workers' lives more unstable, less safe and far riskier in terms of HIV.<sup>148</sup> There is no legal protection from discrimination and abuse where sex work is criminalised.<sup>149</sup>

- Laws invite police harassment and violence and push sex work underground, where it is harder to negotiate safer conditions and consistent condom use.<sup>150</sup> Some sex workers fear carrying condoms, which are used as evidence against them, sometimes as an explicit provision of law.<sup>151</sup>
- Police violence prevents sex workers from seeking their assistance, which ingrains a culture of more client and police violence.<sup>152</sup>
- Stigmatised, criminalised sex workers are unable to access programmes of HIV prevention and care.<sup>153</sup>
- Criminals and clients deploy the threat of criminal sanctions to control and exploit sex workers.<sup>154</sup>
- Rape and assault are difficult to report when the sex worker fears that she will be arrested, and sexual violence heightens exposure to HIV.<sup>155</sup>
- Working in the informal sector reduces sex workers' access to education and housing, thus increasing their dependence on others, including pimps.<sup>156</sup>

#### LEGAL "NON-PERSONS"

Some laws not only criminalise sex work and the activities related to it but also deny sex workers fundamental civil entitlements. Sex workers may be unable to own or inherit property; register the births of their children; access education, justice, health care or banking services; or purchase housing or utilities. Deprived of the means by which others can make claims on elected officials, employers and service providers, sex workers experience social exclusion and entrenched poverty. And their disadvantaged position in



Soon as the sex was over, the man started slapping me and cuffing me up and he empty my purse and take away all my money, not just what he pay me...How could I go to the police and make a report when sex work is not really legal?

> Sex worker from Guyana, Caribbean Regional Dialogue, 12–13April 2011<sup>157</sup>

negotiating access to goods and services leads to exploitation, abuse and increased vulnerability to  $\rm HIV.^{158}$ 

In such circumstances sex workers are not fully recognised as persons before the law and are rendered incapable of holding or exercising the range of human rights available to others. Swaziland provides a poignant example of law that denies the fundamental humanity of the sex worker. Section 3 (3) of the Swaziland Girls' and Women's Protection Act provides the following defence to the charge of carnal knowledge of a girl child under 16: "[A]t the time of the commission of the offence the girl was a prostitute.<sup>2759</sup> Under this law, a girl under the age of 16 cannot consent to sex, regardless of whether she is a sex worker, but she also cannot claim protection from the law if someone has sex with her against her will. By granting her neither agency nor security, the law renders her a non-person.<sup>160</sup>

Virtually all of these conditions of work and life increase HIV vulnerability.<sup>161</sup> It is not surprising that sex workers globally are approximately eight times more likely to be infected with HIV than other adults.<sup>162</sup> A recent study found that female sex workers in developing countries are

### VICTIMISING THE "VICTIM" The Swedish Approach

Lauded as a less punitive and more gender-sensitive legal strategy to reduce and ultimately eliminate sex work, the "Swedish approach" criminalises the client and not the worker. Based on the premise that women in sex work need protection, it regards the sex worker as the "victim" and the client as the "exploiter". Since its enactment in 1999, the law has not improved—indeed, it has worsened—the lives of sex workers.<sup>163</sup> The law's record so far<sup>164</sup>:



#### Underground trade, more violence

Street-based sex work is halved in Sweden, according to the police, but the sex trade remains at pre-law levels. It has simply moved further underground,<sup>165</sup> to hotels and restaurants, as well as the Internet—and to Denmark. The Swedish State Criminal Department warns that the sex trade may now be more violent. Especially worrying is the trade in foreign women, who often fall entirely under the control of pimps.<sup>166</sup>

#### Few prosecutions and convictions

Sweden's Alliance of Counties says that resources for social work are scarce, as the money has been siphoned to policing. In spite of over 2,000 arrests, only 59 clients have been reported suspected of buying occasional sex. Only two have been convicted, after pleading guilty. No one has been jailed, and only low fines have been imposed, as per the law. Evidence to prove a crime is nearly unattainable. Workers do not consider themselves to be victims and are almost always unwilling to testify against their clients.<sup>167</sup>

#### **Criticism and organising**

The law has given impetus to the formation of a sex workers' rights organisation in Sweden, which has argued strenuously against the law.<sup>168</sup> Some Swedish authorities are demanding an evaluation of how the new legislation is affecting the underground prostitution trade.

14 times more likely to be infected with HIV than women of reproductive age.<sup>169</sup> Clients of sex workers also have sex with other partners, and sex workers have lovers and spouses and children, who in turn have sex or use drugs with others; consequently, HIV travels. High rates of infection among sex workers affect everyone.<sup>170</sup>

This does not have to be the case. Where sex workers organise, where the police don't harass them and they are free to avail themselves of quality HIV services, sex workers have lower rates of STIs, more economic power and a greater ability to get education for their children.<sup>171</sup>

Criminal sanctions against human trafficking and commercial sexual exploitation of minors are essential—but the laws must clearly differentiate these activities from consensual adult sex work.

#### TRAFFICKING IN MISCONCEPTIONS

Sex work and sex trafficking are not the same. The difference is that the former is consensual whereas the latter coercive. Sex worker organisations understand sex work as a contractual arrangement where sexual services are negotiated between consenting adults. Sex work is not always a desperate or irrational act; it is a realistic choice to sell sex—in order to support a family, an education or maybe a drug habit. It is an act of agency.<sup>172</sup>

By contrast, trafficking in persons, as defined by international and local treaties, is "the recruitment, transportation, transfer, harbouring or receipt of persons, by means of the threat or use of force or other forms of coercion, of abduction, of fraud, of deception, of the abuse of power or of a position of vulnerability or of the giving or receiving of payments or benefits to achieve the consent of a person having control over another person, for the purpose of exploitation".<sup>173</sup> Such exploitation can

include many forms of forced labour or slavery in factories, fields, homes or brothels. Trafficking for the purposes of commercial sexual exploitation involves adults or children providing sexual services against their will, either through force or deception. A denial of agency, trafficking violates their fundamental freedoms.<sup>174</sup>

Setting aside the question of whether people would choose sex work if they had better options, a point of view that casts "voluntary prostitution" as an oxymoron erases the dignity and autonomy of the sex worker in myriad ways. It turns selfdirected actors into victims in need of rescue.

And yet some governments deploy anti-humantrafficking laws so broadly as to conflate consensual adult sex work with the exploitative, coerced trafficking of people (primarily women and girls) for the purposes of sex.<sup>175</sup> Indeed, negotiations in the writing of United Nations Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women And Children (2000) were riven by disputes over these definitions. Some states and NGOs argued for the language to be amended to limit the law's purview to people engaged in the international sex trade by force or coercion.<sup>176</sup> This amendment was defeated on the grounds that no victim should have to prove that she did not consent, but the language now also implies that any person selling sex is so vulnerable that she is by definition unable to consent. The definition now explicitly states that the consent of the "victim" is irrelevant to the prosecution of the trafficker.177

In part as a result of this overly broad definition, governments have cracked down, often violently, on sex workers or compelled them to undergo the same kinds of brutal "rehabilitation" in detention to which drug users are subjected. Forced to work clandestinely, sex workers cannot muster the collective power to improve their wages or working conditions, enjoy the

#### **PEPFAR's Anti-Prostitution Pledge**

All organisations outside of the US receiving money under PEPFAR must sign the pledge. It reads, in part:

"The U.S. Government is opposed to prostitution and related activities, which are inherently harmful and dehumanizing, and contribute to the phenomenon of trafficking in persons. None of the funds made available under this agreement may be used to promote or advocate the legalisation or practice of prostitution or sex trafficking."<sup>178</sup>

The pledge puts grantees in an impossible bind. If they don't sign, they are denied the funds they need to control and combat HIV. If they sign, recipient organisations are barred from supporting sex workers in taking control of their own lives—which is to say, their own health and that of their families and clients, including taking steps to avoid HIV and prevent its spread.

protection of labour law or join together in trade unions or another organisation, whose benefits include access to public health care or the empowerment to establish health services run by sex workers themselves.<sup>179</sup>

International anti-human-trafficking campaigns often promote the prohibition, either intentional or effective, of proven best practices in HIV prevention. For instance, crusaders in the United States have used the influence of PEPFAR—the President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief, the primary vehicle of United States financial support to AIDS-combating organisations around the world—to compel other governments to accept the conflation of human trafficking with sex work by conditioning the receipt of funds on the signing of its Anti-Prostitution Pledge.<sup>180</sup> Maurice Middleberg, Vice-President of the Global Health Council, calls the pledge proof that the antihuman-trafficking agenda is an anti-prostitution agenda. He points both to the pledge's language-which calls prostitution "harmful and dehumanising" and links prostitution with human trafficking—and the way the pledge has been put into practice.<sup>181</sup>

Although the pledge has been legally challenged in its application within the United States and was supposed to be reviewed by the Obama administration in early 2009, it remains in full force for organisations receiving funds under PEPFAR beyond the borders of the United States.<sup>182</sup>

#### WORKPLACE RIGHTS

The International Labour Organization (ILO) has recommended that sex work be recognised as an occupation so that it can be regulated in ways that protect workers and customers.<sup>183</sup> Sex workers in such a framework could exercise both individual and collective initiative in affecting their economic and social conditions. The ILO's labour standard on HIV/AIDS, adopted in 2010, includes non-discriminatory access to health services and occupational safety for sex workers, including empowerment to insist on safe and protected paid sex in their workplaces.<sup>184</sup>

Decriminalisation is the first step toward better working conditions—and with them, less HIV risk—and some jurisdictions have removed some penal provisions related to sex work. New Zealand's Prostitution Reform Act (2003) decriminalised prostitution, opening the way for sex workers to operate in public and in safety.<sup>185</sup> The New Zealand Prostitutes' Collective, brothel operators and the Labour Inspectorate have collaborated to develop workplace health and safety standards for sex work. Sex workers can bring employment discrimination complaints to the Human Rights Commission, and the Mediation Service on Employment adjudicates disputes.<sup>186</sup> The police support sex workers in reporting violence. Although it applauds these advances, the Prostitutes' Collective stresses that stigma and discrimination remain and calls for law and policy to address them. Recently, the Kenya National Commission on Human Rights called for the decriminalisation of sex work.<sup>187</sup>

Some national courts have recognised the rights of sex workers. A court in Bangladesh halted abusive action by police who evicted sex workers from brothels, concluding that this curtailment of their livelihood was a violation of their right to life.<sup>188</sup> Similarly, in the 2010 case Bedford v AG Canada, a judge struck down three provisions of the Canadian criminal code outlawing prostitution, calling them a violation of the country's Charter of Rights, as they "force prostitutes to choose between their liberty interest and their right to security of the person."189 The subsequent 2012 decision of the Ontario Court of Appeal found that provisions prohibiting brothels and living off the avails of prostitution were both unconstitutional in their current form.<sup>190</sup> In 2010, the South African Labour Appeal Court held that even though sex work was illegal, the people who do it were entitled to protection against unfair dismissal by employers.<sup>191</sup>

Unfortunately, decriminalisation sometimes replaces punishment with regulation, which in its details is enforced through criminal law. Greece, Latvia and parts of Australia all have mandatory and forced medical testing, a human rights abuse and thus a form of punishment.<sup>192</sup> In the United States, Nevada is the one state where prostitution is legal. But sex work is allowed only in a few licenced brothels in rural counties. In the tourist hot spot Las Vegas, by contrast, police stings for solicitation are common, and anywhere in the state both workers and clients can be arrested for indecent exposure or "open and gross lewdness", which carry penalties of fines and jail time.193, 194

According to an international labour rights advocate, "the direct regulation of sex work may or may not be implemented in ways consonant

### THE DIGNITY OF ALL WORK Kylie v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration and 2 others

Kylie, a sex worker who worked in a massage parlor, brought a claim before. South Africa's Labour Court that she had been unfairly dismissed without a hearing and deserved compensation from her employer. The Court rejected her claim, finding that she was not entitled to protection or redress because prostitution is illegal. The courts "ought not to sanction or encourage illegal activity", it said. On appeal, however, Judge Dennis Davis ruled that Kylie could be



awarded monetary compensation for her illegal firing, no matter what her job was. The Labour Relations Act (LRA) guarantees "everyone" the right to fair labour practices, he said—and everyone means everyone. The LRA's express purpose "is to advance economic development, social justice, labour, peace and the democratisation of the workplace", and he noted a purpose that is underlined by an even higher principle: the dignity of all workers. The judge opined: "As sex workers cannot be stripped of the right to be treated with dignity by their clients, it must follow that, in their other relationship—namely with their employers—the same protection should hold. Once it is recognised that they must be treated with dignity not only by their customers but by their employers, section 23 of the Constitution, which, at its core, protects the dignity of those in an employment relationship, should also be of application."<sup>195</sup>



Source: IRIN/Manoocher Deghati/Sex work, Zambia

with human rights principles".<sup>196</sup> Actual and proposed frameworks for legalised sex work have involved not only forced HIV testing but also "quarantining, shaming or even branding sex workers determined to have diseases of public health significance."<sup>197</sup> A proposal presented to the Maharashtra, India, state legislature "would have required the registration of all prostitutes, with compulsory HIV testing; all those found to be positive would be branded with a permanent tattoo."<sup>198</sup>

#### POLICE COOPERATION FOR BETTER HEALTH

When the state recognises the human and civil rights of sex workers, it can deploy the police in

a radically different way. Rather than unleashing police to beat and arrest sex workers, it can put them to work alongside sex workers in enabling widespread safer sex practices. When this was done in India, condom use among sex workers rose as high as 85% in some parts of the country and HIV prevalence among sex workers fell from over 11% in 2001 to less than 4% by 2004.<sup>199</sup>

In the Philippines, Action for Health Initiative (ACHIEVE) partnered with the Quezon City Health Department to bring together the police department and the association that represents entertainment establishments to talk about improving condom distribution in venues where sex is sold.<sup>200</sup>

Police officers are now starting to think for the first time of sex work as having implications for human rights.

African Sex Workers Alliance (ASWA) Mozambique, Africa Regional Dialogue, 3-4 August 2011

## RECOMMENDATIONS

#### To ensure an effective, sustainable response to HIV that is consistent with human rights obligations:

- 3.2. Countries must reform their approach towards sex work. Rather than punishing consenting adults involved in sex work, countries must ensure safe working conditions and offer sex workers and their clients access to effective HIV and health services and commodities. Countries must:
  - 3.2.1 Repeal laws that prohibit consenting adults to buy or sell sex, as well as laws that otherwise prohibit commercial sex, such as laws against "immoral" earnings, "living off the earnings" of prostitution and brothel-keeping. Complementary legal measures must be taken to ensure safe working conditions to sex workers.
  - 3.2.2 Take all measures to stop police harassment and violence against sex workers.
  - 3.2.3 Prohibit the mandatory HIV and STI testing of sex workers.
  - 3.2.4 Ensure that the enforcement of anti-human-trafficking laws is carefully targeted to punish those who use force, dishonesty or coercion to procure people into commercial sex, or who abuse migrant sex workers through debt bondage, violence or by deprivation of liberty. Anti-human-trafficking laws must be used to prohibit sexual exploitation and they must not be used against adults involved in consensual sex work.
  - 3.2.5 Enforce laws against all forms of child sexual abuse and sexual exploitation, clearly differentiating such crimes from consensual adult sex work.
  - 3.2.6 Ensure that existing civil and administrative offences such as "loitering without purpose", "public nuisance", and "public morality" are not used to penalise sex workers and administrative laws such as "move on" powers are not used to harass sex workers.
  - 3.2.7 Shut down all compulsory detention or "rehabilitation" centres for people involved in sex work or for children who have been sexually exploited. Instead, provide sex workers with evidence-based, voluntary, community empowerment services. Provide sexually exploited children with protection in safe and empowering family settings, selected based on the best interests of the child.
  - 3.2.8 Repeal punitive conditions in official development assistance—such as the United States government's PEPFAR anti-prostitution pledge and its current anti-trafficking regulations—that inhibit sex workers' access to HIV services or their ability to form organisations in their own interests.
  - 3.2.9 Take decisive action to review and reform relevant international law in line with the principles outlined above, including the UN Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking In Persons, Especially Women And Children (2000).

## **3.3 MEN WHO HAVE SEX WITH MEN**



Source: International HIV/AIDS Alliance/ Kenya

Although the core international human rights treaties do not specifically mention sexual orientation as a category of protection like race or sex, MSM can be addressed under the category of "other status."<sup>201</sup> International law also protects the universal right to privacy, which guards people's sexual practices from the interference of the state. The Yogyakarta Principles on the Application of International Human Rights Law in relation to Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity, although not binding on states, provide recommendations on how existing human rights statutes should be applied in specific situations relevant to sexual minorities. For instance, the Principles recommend that the medical records of sexual minorities be "treated with confidentiality" and that states "ensure that all health service providers treat clients and their partners without discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation or gender identity."202

There are those who argue that because sexual orientation or gender identity are not explicitly mentioned in any of the conventions and covenants, there would be no protection. My response is that such a position is untenable in legal terms, which is confirmed by the evolving jurisprudence. The principle of universality admits no exception. Human rights truly are the birth right of all human beings.

Navanethem Pillay, United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights

#### **IMPRISONMENT AND EXECUTION**

In defiance of international human rights standards, 78 countries make same-sex sexual activity a criminal offence, with half that number in the Commonwealth of Nations.<sup>203</sup> Scholars trace hostility towards homosexuality and transgender people in many instances to colonialism and demonstrate that pre-colonial cultures were often much more tolerant of sexuality and gender diversity.<sup>204</sup>

Penalties for adult consensual sexual conduct between two men range from jail time to execution.<sup>205</sup> Jamaica punishes homosexuality with up to ten years' imprisonment. Malaysia punishes "carnal intercourse against the order of nature" with up to twenty years' imprisonment and whipping.<sup>206</sup> And several sub-Saharan African countries can impose the death penalty on men convicted of having sex with men.<sup>207</sup> Even in jurisdictions where same-sex relations are not criminalised, the state extends no legal protection from discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation; it is not uncommon for laws to allow minors to consent to "heterosexual" sex acts at younger ages than they allow minors to consent to "homosexual" acts.<sup>208</sup>

Progress on these issues has not been universal or sustained. In some instances, steps forward are followed by big steps backward. Uganda's HIV response had shone as an exemplar of success. But recently a Member of Parliament proposed a draconian Anti-Homosexuality Bill, which would seriously jeopardise that programming.<sup>209</sup> The law would impose penalties of life imprisonment for sexual acts between men. Through its clauses outlawing the "promotion" and "aiding and abetting" of homosexuality, it would criminalise working with MSM, thereby exposing field workers, peer educators and health care workers to arrest.<sup>210</sup> Criminal sanctions could also be imposed on parents, teachers or health care workers who fail to report suspicion of homosexuality. International and domestic protest nearly killed the Bill. But as of the writing of this report in March 2012, Ugandan lawmakers have revived it for debate and a vote.<sup>211</sup>

#### **HIGH RISK**

Marginalisation, together with aspects of physiology, circumstance and sexual behaviour, puts MSM at significantly heightened risk of HIV. MSM are nineteen times more likely to be infected than other adult men.<sup>212</sup> For instance, MSM are among the most hidden and stigmatised of all HIV risk groups in the Middle East and North Africa.<sup>213</sup> In nearly every country that reliably collects HIV surveillance data,<sup>214</sup> the figures are stark. Criminalisation both causes and boosts those numbers. For example, UNAIDS reports that in the Caribbean countries where homosexuality is criminalised, almost 1 in 4 MSM is infected with HIV. In the absence of such criminal law the prevalence is only 1 in 15 among MSM.<sup>215</sup>

Many MSM also have sex with women.<sup>216</sup> Although some of these men are attracted to both women and men, others only maintain concurrent heterosexual relationships to avoid stigma and abuse, particularly in environments that criminalise or stigmatise homosexuality. In other words, criminalisation of same-sex relations endangers not just MSM, but women too.<sup>217</sup> By contrast, evidence shows that in a range of epidemic settings, universal access to HIV services for MSM together with anti-discrimination efforts can significantly reduce infections both among those men and the wider community.<sup>218</sup>

The discourse on same-sex sexuality is dominated by hate speech at all levels, including the highest executive level. The Zimbabwean president, Robert Mugabe is known for comparing gays and lesbians to pigs and dogs. Police harassment is a daily occurrence, and homophobia exacted by religious and traditional leaders is deemed normal.

Gays and Lesbians of Zimbabwe, Zimbabwe, Africa Regional Dialogue,

3–4 August 2011



Sample of African & Caribbean countries that criminalise same-sex sexual activity



Sample of African & Caribbean countries that do not criminalise same-sex sexual activity

% HIV prevalence among men who have sex with men

Note: Estimated prevalence for Jamaica ranges from 25-30%.

Data from Smith, Adrian D. et al., Men who have sex with men and HIV/AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa, Lancet, 2009, Sources: \*

Data based on Baral, S. et al. A Systematic Review of HIV epidemiology and risk factors among MSM in Sub-Saharan Africa 2000–2008, International AIDS Conference, Mexico City, 2008. \*\*\* Data based on the UNGASS Reports.

Adapted from UNAIDS Report on the global AIDS epidemic 2008 and UNAIDS Progress Report towards Universal Access to HIV Prevention, Treatment, Care and Support in the Caribbean.

#### **INSENSITIVITY, VIOLENCE, EXCLUSION**

Stigma and discrimination against MSM pervade societies, and this erodes MSM's access to HIV testing, treatment and social support. A multi-lingual global online survey of 5,000 MSM found that only 36% were able to easily access treatment and less than a third had easy access to behavioural interventions and HIV education materials.<sup>219</sup> Religious law criminalising same-sex acts can decimate efforts to arrest the spread of HIV. Research shows that in Senegal after 9 MSM who were HIV prevention outreach work-

#### LGBT RIGHTS & HIV TRANSMISSION RISK





European countries where less than 10% of MSM had sex with a woman in the past 12 months



reported sex with a woman in last 12 months reported possible HIV transmission risk in last 12 months

Source: European MSM Internet Survey (EMIS) 2010; ILGA-Europe's website (www.ilga-europe.org), the European Region of the International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association, accessed by UNDP in 2012.

ers were arrested and imprisoned in 2008 under a law prohibiting "acts against nature", terror gripped MSM communities, advocacy groups disbanded, HIV information and treatment sites shut down and workers and organisers went into hiding.<sup>220</sup>

MSM hardly feel welcome at the clinic. Health care providers are not exempt from ignorance or bigotry. MSM who fear that their sexuality will not be kept confidential do not divulge that information to health care workers, and this information is critically important in HIV-related prevention and care.<sup>221</sup> Untrained health care workers respond to MSM with contempt or hostility and sometimes refuse to treat them.<sup>222</sup> Where sex between men is illegal, health providers who want to offer services may worry that they will be charged with abetting a crime.<sup>223</sup>

Like sexworkers or people who use drugs, MSM face harassment, arrest and police brutality in countries that outlaw their behaviour. Police raid educational forums and confiscate condoms and lubricants as evidence of sex crimes and informational materials as "obscenity."<sup>224</sup> Even when there are no sodomy laws or other restrictive legal structures, police inflict abuse under the aegis of "public safety", "vagrancy" or "solicitation" laws, which give them wide leeway to harass and control MSM and the places where they may gather.<sup>225</sup> Such places may include HIV service centres. But, even if the authorities steer away from clinics, their presence at bars and baths inhibits information-sharing and mutual support in practicing safer sex. In fact, such social institutions are where safe sex was born.

Their extraordinary vulnerability to HIV notwithstanding, MSM are left out of many national strategies to combat AIDS, such as those in the Middle East. In Algeria, although MSM worked on the planning of the national HIV responses, implementation "on the ground remains a challenge due to lack of commitment from different stakeholders (government, civil society, health professionals)", said one Algerian submission to the Commission.<sup>226</sup> He adds, "The law penalises homosexuality."

We see a pattern of violence and discrimination directed at people just because they are gay, lesbian, bisexual or transgender. There is widespread bias at jobs, schools and hospitals. And appalling violent attacks, including sexual assault. People have been imprisoned, tortured, even killed. This is a monumental tragedy for those affected—and a stain on our collective conscience. It is also a violation of international law... To those who are lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender, let me say: You are not alone. Your struggle for an end to violence and discrimination is a shared struggle. Any attack on you is an attack on the universal values the United Nations and I have sworn to defend and uphold. Today, I stand with you ... and I call upon all countries and people to stand with you, too.

> Ban Ki-moon, United Nations Secretary-General Statement to Human Rights Council, 7 March 2012<sup>227</sup>

#### SEXUAL ACCEPTANCE: TOWARD FIGHTING HIV

Thankfully, some MSM are starting to be heard. In Tunisia, for example, MSM are represented on the National Strategic Planning Committee; no doubt as a result, the 2012-2016 plan includes a call for decriminalising same-sex relations.<sup>228</sup> Even in societies where homosexuality has traditionally not been accepted, more tolerant views are emerging. For instance, in March 2008, Siti Musdah Mulia, Islamic Scholar and Chairperson of the Indonesia Conference of Religions and Peace noted that "Homosexuality is from God and should be considered natural. It is not pushed only by passion. There is no difference. In the eyes of God, people are valued based on their piety. The essence of the religion (Islam) is to humanise humans, respect and dignify them."229

International leaders are also beginning to speak up for equality regardless of sexual orientation or consensual sexual acts, and courts around the world are looking to both global and national human rights standards to strike down laws criminalising same-sex activity. UN Secretary-General Ban Ki-moon,<sup>230</sup> the Commission on AIDS in Asia<sup>231</sup> and the UN Special Rapporteur on the Right to Health have all called for decriminalisation.<sup>232</sup> The International Guidelines on HIV/AIDS and Human Rights<sup>233</sup> recommend the review of laws that prohibit sex between consenting adults (including "sodomy") in private, "with the aim of repeal". A number of countries also prohibit discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation.<sup>234</sup> While some countries are moving to more punitive approaches, there is growing international consensus that the decriminalisation of homosexuality is an essential component of a comprehensive public health response to the elevated risk of HIV acquisition and transmission among men who have sex with men.

#### **OVERRULING CRIMINALISATION & DISCRIMINATION**

#### Hong Kong Court of Appeal

Secretary for Justice v. Yau Yuk Lung Zigo and Lee Kam Chuen (2007)<sup>235</sup> and Leung T.C. William Roy v. Secretary of Justice (2006)<sup>236</sup>: Confirmed that sexual orientation is a proscribed ground for discrimination, analogous to race and sex.

#### Fiji High Court

*Nadan and McCoskar v. State* (2005)<sup>237</sup>: Penal Code offences criminalising consensual sexual acts between adult men in private were found to have breached constitutional guarantees to personal privacy and equality.

#### **U.S. Supreme Court**

*Romer v. Evans* (1996)<sup>238</sup>: Found unconstitutional an amendment to the Colorado state constitution that prohibited public measures designed to protect people from discrimination based on their sexual orientation.

*Lawrence v. Texas* (2003)<sup>239</sup>: Struck down a Texas sodomy law, ruling that criminalisation of intimate, consensual sexual conduct infringed on liberty protected under the Constitution's Fourteenth Amendment.

Lawsuits and rulings in both national and international courts are pushing this trend forward. The United Belize Advocacy Movement (UNIBAM) filed a suit in 2010 to overturn Criminal Code Chapter 101, Section 53, which states: "Every person who has carnal intercourse against the order of nature with any person or animal shall be liable to imprisonment for 10 years."<sup>240</sup>

In India in 2009, citing the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Delhi High Court removed the portions of the Indian Penal Code criminalising sex between consenting adult males in private. "The Court concluded that to stigmatise or to criminalise people on account of their sexual orientation is against constitutional morality and principles of inclusiveness in the Indian Constitution."241 In October 2011, AIDS-Free World, unbowed by Jamaica's proscription of such actions in its own courts, filed a petition at the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (IACHR) challenging that country's anti-sodomy law. The "Offenses Against the Person Act" of 1864 criminalises consensual sexual conduct between men, as well as the "abominable crime of buggery" (anal sex) between people of any sex.<sup>242</sup> And, on Human Rights Day, 2011, in a rare allusion to the legitimacy of sexual choice as a human right, United States Secretary of State Hillary Clinton suggested that it is only a matter of time before the world comes around to recognising everyone's freedom to the consensual expression of desire, regardless of the sex of its object.<sup>243</sup>

> It is not easy or popular to call for the legalisation of homosexuality in many African countries, but it is the right thing to do. It is right because it is essential to slow the spread of HIV and to ensure that human rights protections are extended to all our citizens. But it is also right because people in Africa understand that the State has far more urgent priorities than interfering in the private lives of consenting adults.

> > Festus Gontebanye Mogae, former President of Botswana

## RECOMMENDATIONS

To ensure an effective, sustainable response to HIV that is consistent with human rights obligations:

- 3.3. Countries must reform their approach towards sexual diversity. Rather than punishing consenting adults involved in same-sex activity, countries must offer such people access to effective HIV and health services and commodities. Countries must:
  - 3.3.1 Repeal all laws that criminalise consensual sex between adults of the same sex and/or laws that punish homosexual identity.
  - 3.3.2 Respect existing civil and religious laws and guarantees relating to privacy.
  - 3.3.3 Remove legal, regulatory and administrative barriers to the formation of community organisations by or for gay men, lesbians and/or bisexual people.
  - 3.3.4 Amend anti-discrimination laws expressly to prohibit discrimination based on sexual orientation (as well as gender identity).
  - 3.3.5 Promote effective measures to prevent violence against men who have sex with men.

# **3.4 TRANSGENDER PERSONS**



Source: Robert Bourgoing/India

On 20 October 2008 at 11 A.M. the police caught five hijras [transgender women] near a traffic signal in the Girinagar police station and took them to the police station. The Assistant Commissioner of Police [ACP], H.T Ramesh beat one of them with his lathi, broke her bangles and made her bleed. Another hijra was forced to clean the floor of the police station. The police then charged them with false cases under section 341 [wrongful restraint] and 384 [extortion] of the Indian Penal Code... The police asked offensive auestions and taunted the crisis intervention team who went to the police station to assist: "Take off all your clothes; let me see what you've got there? Are you a man or woman?"

Sangama, India, Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011

In many countries from Mexico to Malaysia,<sup>244</sup> by law or by practice, transgender persons are denied acknowledgment as legal persons. A basic part of their identity—gender—is unrecognised. There are still few governments that issue identification documents in which a person's self-identified gender may vary from his or her biological sex.<sup>245</sup> Without documents, employment, health care, travel and participation in many aspects of citizenship are out of reach. In Thailand, for instance, transgender people who attempt national military conscription are dismissed under the ruling "This person's body is not in line with their birth sex."<sup>246</sup>

The denial of papers is one of the most concrete, bureaucratic means by which the law erases the personhood of the transgendered. What is also prohibited in many states is the basic daily expression of self. In Guyana, cross-dressing is an offence.<sup>247</sup> In Kuwait, anyone "imitating the opposite sex in any way" faces a year in prison, a substantial fine or both.<sup>248</sup> It is not any specific behaviour that is criminalised, but rather physical appearance—the parameters of which Kuwaiti police may define. They commonly arrest people for "smooth skin" or "soft voice."<sup>249</sup>

#### TRANSPHOBIA AS A HEALTH RISK

These examples outline the ways the law punishes unconventional gender. Police may stand by while civilians commit acts of sexist violence against transgender people. According to the Trans Citizen Observatory of the Santamaria Foundation of Colombia, "there were 45 registered and denounced homicides against transwomen in Santiago de Cali between 2005 and March 2011, the great majority of whom were sex workers."<sup>250</sup>

Often. states effectively condone the administration of violence by law enforcers.<sup>251</sup> Transgender sex workers often bear the brunt of police brutality where sex work is criminalised. Beyond harassment, arrest and detention, transgender sex workers report that police extort sexual favours from them and rape and brutalise them.<sup>252</sup> As with other key populations, complaints have nowhere to be lodged and, even when channels exist, the petitions of transgender people are often ignored.253 Police abuse of transgender people has been documented and complaints have been submitted to the National Commission of Human Rights and the Public Prosecutor's Office, Taysa Fernandes, of Ángel Azul in Honduras, told the Commission, "without any results so far.... We have knocked on every door without receiving any help."254

All of this contributes to increased marginalisation, increased exposure to HIV and disproportionately rare use of HIV prevention, treatment, care and support services.<sup>255</sup> In some countries transgender women become infected with HIV at more than seven times the national rate.<sup>256</sup>

Transphobia, a bigotry often encoded in the law, is a mental health risk to its victims, data show. According to some research, transgender women and men show increased levels of depression and suicidal ideation,<sup>258</sup> and emotional vulnerability can translate into vulnerability to HIV.

Like other sexual minorities, transgender people<sup>259</sup> encounter difficulty at health centres. A United States–based survey of over 6,000 transgender people found that:

- Up to 28% of transgender people report postponing accessing health care when they are sick out of fear of discrimination
- 19% reported being refused care due to their transgender or gender non-conforming status
- 28% reported a perception of harassment in medical settings<sup>260</sup>

But transgender people may never get in the clinic doors in the first place. A lack of official documentation recognising their gender identities prevents them, in many places, from registering for health care services.<sup>261</sup>

#### PROGRESS

In a number of countries—including South Africa, Japan, Turkey, Belgium, Finland, Germany, Italy, Netherlands, Portugal, Romania, Spain, Sweden, United Kingdom, Mexico, Panama,

After my friend was raped by those men because she was discovered she came to me.... we went to the clinic to get post HIV exposure prophylaxis. The nurse told her to go home, take off her women's clothes and come back. She was already so traumatised she could not return. I believe that is why she is HIV-positive today.<sup>257</sup>

Transgender Sex Workers Cape Town, South Africa, Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011



Source: UNAIDS/Latin America

Uruguay, Canada (most provinces), the United States, Australia and New Zealand—lawmakers have passed legislation that recognises transgender persons and their rights.<sup>262</sup> Such rights include legal sex change, registration of identification documents in accordance with lived gender and prohibition of discrimination against people of non-conforming gender. Such rights enable transgender people to use national health care services, travel with greater ease, and expect protection from violence-all ways of reducing HIV risk or the poor health consequences of infection.<sup>263</sup> Where explicit legal protection is not available through legislation, courts have recognised the right of people with alternative gender identities to be free from discrimination. Judgements from Fiji, Hong Kong, Nepal, Pakistan, Philippines, South Korea and other countries have explicitly noted the links between law, stigma and the social exclusion transgender people face.<sup>264</sup>

In 2007 the Supreme Court of Nepal ordered the government to end the system that prevented transgender individuals from obtaining basic citizenship rights.<sup>265</sup> In its ruling the court used the term "teshro Linki"—or "third gender"—to refer to transgender persons who feel neither female nor male. Among other legal changes, the judges ordered the repeal of penalties against cross-dressing. Cross-dressing, they said, is within an individual's human right to freedom of expression. And in 2009, the Supreme Court of Pakistan held that transgender citizens should have equal rights and access to state benefits such as government financial support schemes and should enjoy protections guaranteed by the Constitution of Pakistan.<sup>266</sup>

### SEX CHANGES New laws recognise transgender identity

**Argentina:** On 9 May 2012, the Senate unanimously approved the Gender Identity Law making sex-change surgery a legal right, as a part of public or private health care plans.<sup>267</sup>

Uruguay: A 2009 law allows people over the age of 18 to change their name and sex on official documents.<sup>268</sup>

**India:** Since 2005, passport applicants have had the option of identifying themselves as male, female or "others", regardless of whether they have had a sex-change operation.<sup>269</sup>

**Portugal:** In 2011 a law was enacted that regulates legal gender recognition. Under it, a person of Portuguese nationality who is over 18 can obtain his or her preferred gender using a standardised administrative procedure and a report from a multi-disciplinary medical team.<sup>270</sup>

## RECOMMENDATIONS

#### To ensure an effective, sustainable response to HIV that is consistent with human rights obligations:

- 3.4. Countries must reform their approach towards transgender people. Rather than punishing transgender people, countries must offer transgender people access to effective HIV and health services and commodities as well as repealing all laws that criminalise transgender identity or associated behaviours. Countries must:
  - 3.4.1 Respect existing civil and religious laws and guarantees related to the right to privacy.
  - 3.4.2 Repeal all laws that punish cross-dressing.
  - 3.4.3 Remove legal, regulatory or administrative barriers to the formation of community organisations by or for transgender people.
  - 3.4.4 Amend national anti-discrimination laws to explicitly prohibit discrimination based on gender identity (as well as sexual orientation).
  - 3.4.5 Ensure transgender people are able to have their affirmed gender recognised in identification documents, without the need for prior medical procedures such as sterilisation, sex reassignment surgery or hormonal therapy.

## **3.5 PRISONERS**



Source: John Steven Fernandez

10 million people are incarcerated in prisons throughout the world<sup>271</sup>—6 countries lock up at least one in every 200 residents, with the United States leading and many others close behind.<sup>272</sup> It could be said that HIV is a cellmate to each of these inmates. Tattooing with homemade and unsterile equipment,<sup>273</sup> drug use and needle sharing,<sup>274</sup> high-risk sex and rape<sup>275</sup> all contribute to HIV rates among detainees that are estimated at twice to 50 times those of general adult populations.<sup>276</sup> Overcrowding abets the spread of opportunistic infections,<sup>277</sup> and stress, malnutrition, violence and drugs weaken the immune system, making HIV-positive individuals more susceptible to getting ill.<sup>278</sup>

Various forms of discrimination conspire to heighten such risks and make the reality even graver. In the United States, people of colour and African-Americans in particular, are imprisoned at rates vastly disproportionate to their numbers in the population. Between 1980 and 1996, male and female AIDS infection rates increased the most among demographic groups

The presence of the anti-buggery/grossindecency law...precludes the distribution of condoms in Jamaican prisons with the result that the HIV prevalence rate among inmates is twice the national average. In 1997, the Commissioner of Corrections, on the advice of his prison doctor, proposed the distribution of condoms in the island's prisons but was advised that he would be aiding and abetting a criminal offence, buggery. Condoms thus remain contraband in Jamaica's prisons, although there are reports that prison warders do a thriving business trading in them. Prisoners who can't afford to pay resort to the use of plastic bags.

Maurice Tomlinson, Jamaica, Caribbean Regional Dialogue, 12–13 April 2011

that experienced the largest increases in male incarceration rates, according to a paper from the University of Michigan's National Poverty Centre.<sup>279</sup> And because most people who serve time eventually get out—and often cycle in and out—prisoners' HIV risks are shared by their communities.<sup>280</sup>

International human rights law recognises the prerogative of the state to deprive people of certain rights—the most obvious one being liberty—through incarceration.<sup>281</sup> But the human rights to humane treatment and dignity are not confiscated at the prison gate.<sup>282</sup> Detainees have a right to a standard of health care equivalent to that available outside of prisons,<sup>283</sup> and agents of the state have an obligation to refrain from inflicting harm on inmates.<sup>284</sup> Among the rights that prison authorities are obligated to protect, and courts including the European Court of Human Rights have upheld, are those to health and life, which include adequate access to HIV prevention and health services. The majority of prison inmates do not have this access.<sup>285</sup>

*I am certain that I was infected with both HIV and hepatitis C during my imprisonment for drug use in Chaing Mai men's prison . . . where at least ten other prisoners and I shared homemade injecting equipment fashioned out of a pen barrel and needle, to inject heroin every day for the six months I was there. There was, and still is, no clean injecting equipment available in Thai prisons, or opiate substitution therapy or sterile tattooing equipment.*<sup>286</sup>

Thai AIDS Action Group, Thailand, Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011



Source: UN Photo/Martine Perret/Timor Leste

#### **CONDOMS CONTRABAND**

Prisoners have sex behind bars, sometimes consensual, sometimes not. It is therefore the responsibility of prison authorities to provide all prisoners with condoms, as well as punish rapists who prey on other prisoners. But in countries where sodomy is outlawed, those authorities see distributing condoms to incarcerated men as abetting a crime.<sup>287</sup> A 2009 study by the AIDS and Rights Alliance of Southern Africa (ARASA) found that where same-sex conduct was criminalised, only one government distributed condoms to prisoners.<sup>288</sup> Criminalisation of drug use has a similar effect: countries refrain from providing harm reduction programmes in prisons.<sup>289</sup>

#### **COMMON SENSE EXONERATED**

A disproportionate number of people who end up in prison use drugs, and absent any positive intervention, they continue to do so behind bars. In 2005 WHO reported, for instance, that among European prisoners, as many as 3 of 4 were regular or dependent users, and as many as 1 in 2 was a lifetime user.<sup>290</sup> In prisons, unsafe drug injection practices are the leading route of HIV transmission.<sup>291</sup>

Fortunately, the public health necessity—both for prisoners and their communities—of arresting the spread of HIV among inmates has prompted 12 countries spanning Western and Eastern Europe, the Middle East, North Africa and Central Asia<sup>292</sup> to offer syringe-exchange programmes (SEPs) in prisons; at least 39 countries provide medication-assisted treatment (MAT).<sup>293</sup> The results are encouraging. Since the implementation of SEPs in 50 prisons in Switzerland, all but one prison reported the eradication of syringe sharing

among inmates. Evaluations of SEPs in European prisons overall indicate that drug use decreased or remained stable over time, with no new cases of HIV, hepatitis B or hepatitis C transmission reported. Opioid substitution therapies have also proven effective at reducing HIV risk behaviours in a wide range of prison environments, without negative consequences for the health of prison staff or prisoners.<sup>294</sup>

Under pressure from NGOs and other stakeholders, some governments have issued orders requiring improvements of medical care for detained persons with HIV. In Ukraine, patients in police custody must have access to substitution therapy. In the Republic of Moldova, the Ministry of Justice ordered prisons to provide confidential HIV care services, as well as transmission-preventive measures, including condoms and disinfectants for shaving, tattooing tools and injecting drug equipment.<sup>295</sup>

Where the state has not taken the initiative, legal actions by or on behalf of prisoners can force it to implement HIV prevention measures in prisons. For instance, in the 2000 case Strykiwsky v. Mills and Canada, Mr. Strykiwsky, a prisoner, sought access to methadone maintenance treatment for himself and all inmates of federal prisons who were medically eligible and wished to receive it. The respondents refused his request. He brought an application for judicial review of both that decision and the Correctional Service of Canada's on-going refusal to implement a broader methadone maintenance programme within federal prisons. Two days after the court heard Mr. Strykiwsky's case, Canada adopted such a policy for all its federal prisons. Thanks to the action of one prisoner, other inmates now can reduce their exposure to the risk of HIV.<sup>296</sup>

#### **UNPROTECTED SEX BEHIND BARS**

Access to condoms for prisoners in select southern African countries



Source: AIDS & Rights Alliance for Southern Africa (ARASA), HIV/AIDS & Human Rights in Southern Africa, 2009.

## RECOMMENDATIONS

To ensure an effective, sustainable response to HIV that is consistent with human rights obligations, countries must ensure that in places of detention:

- 3.5.1 Necessary health care is available, including HIV prevention and care services, regardless of laws criminalising same-sex acts or harm reduction. Such care includes provision of condoms, comprehensive harm reduction services, voluntary and evidence-based treatment for drug dependence and ART.
- 3.5.2 Any treatment offered must satisfy international standards of quality of care in detention settings. Health care services, including those specifically related to drug use and HIV, must be evidence-based, voluntary and offered only where clinically indicated.

# **3.6 MIGRANTS**



Although many developed countries in Asia and the Middle East rely on migrant workers to keep their economies functioning, they have instituted migration policies that use health as a primary criterion for permitting entry and stay of migrants for employment. The crux of these policies is that migrant workers coming from less developed countries must undergo mandatory or compulsory health testing as a screening process to identify those with any of up to twenty-two exclusionary health conditions including HIV.

CARAM, Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011

Source: UN Photo/Diez/Thailand

In globalised economies, millions are on the move—an estimated 214 million international migrants and 740 million internal migrants worldwide.<sup>297</sup> Many hardships and some opportunities compel them from their homes—wars, poverty, natural disasters; up to 86 million people a year seek work away from home.<sup>298</sup> Some migrants are entitled to refugee status or have legal work permits. But millions—some of them victims of trafficking—have moved illegally. They live without official recognition in their new homes.

Migration policies—restrictions on entry, stay and residence in a country—split families and isolate people from their peers, friends and known ways. These conditions disempower people, exposing them to exploitation, changing their sexual behaviours and increasing the likelihood of unsafe practices.<sup>299</sup> As a result, migrants face

a risk of HIV infection that is as much as 3 times higher than that faced by people with secure homes.<sup>300</sup> Discrimination against migrants has a disproportionate impact on women, significantly increasing their vulnerability to HIV.<sup>301</sup> Either they migrate themselves and face HIV risks where they travel or they await their husbands' or partners' returns from temporary or episodic migrations, sometimes infected with HIV.<sup>302</sup> Furthermore, many migrants face discrimination and exclusion from health care systems, leaving them without access to treatment.<sup>303</sup>

Sovereign states may establish migration restrictions. At the same time, although the core human rights treaties do not name migrants specifically,<sup>304</sup> the right to liberty of movement grants everyone the liberty to stay or to leave their countries, to move within and between states and to choose a residence.<sup>305</sup>

In 2010 approximately 11% of all people living with HIV in Germany were migrants, and the trend is rising. A special situation is faced by HIV-positive migrants in Germany with no residence permit. In case they are in need of treatment they have two choices: either they start an application process for a residence permit, as this is obligatory to receive treatment (and bears the risk of deportation at the same time), or they decide to stay illegally—without treatment—and risk their lives.

Internationales Abteilung Strukturelle Prävention 2, Germany, High Income Countries Dialogue, 16–17 September 2011

The rights of migrant workers, whose labour supports the global economy, have been fully articulated in numerous international conventions. The International Labour Organization's 1990 International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families,<sup>306</sup> for instance, spells out the right of migrant workers and their families "to receive any medical care that is urgently required for the preservation of their life or the avoidance of irreparable harm to their health on the basis of equality of treatment with national of the State concerned." <sup>307</sup>

Still, immigration laws and policies erect barriers to access to HIV services for migrants. Some states, like Japan, exclude non-citizens without permanent residency from national health care systems, including HIV care programmes.<sup>308</sup> Botswana denies free ART to non-citizens.<sup>309</sup> In the United Kingdom's Immigration Removal Centres, where migrants can be detained indefinitely awaiting deportation or grant of asylum, there is evidence that people with HIV, many of them Africans, are also denied ART.<sup>310</sup> In March 2012, the United Kingdom Department of Health announced that it would make HIV treatment free for all who need it, regardless of citizenship or immigration status, as long as the person seeking treatment has been in the UK for at least 6 months.<sup>311</sup>

#### **FALSE SECURITY**

A UNAIDS review of HIV-related entry, stay and residence regulations found that 10 countries refuse entry to HIV-positive people and 22 countries deport individuals if their HIV status



**HIV TRAVEL RESTRICTIONS** 

UNDP: Brief for Parliamentarians on HIV and AIDS: Making the law work for the response to HIV, 2011.



Source: Fred Greaves/USA

is discovered.<sup>312</sup> 11 out of 30 countries from Eastern Europe and Central Asia have HIV-specific restrictions on entry, residence or stay in their legislation, such as mandatory testing.<sup>313</sup> 10 out of 21 countries participating in the Commission's High Income Country Dialogue have a history of such policies.<sup>314</sup>

Blanket exclusions of people living with HIV are justified on the grounds of safeguarding public health. But evidence shows they do no such thing.<sup>315</sup> In fact, such policies give the dangerous

mistaken impression that "outsiders" are contaminated and citizens are pure, and that their health is secure so long as the borders are secured.

Since January 2010, countries including Armenia, Ukraine, the United States, Fiji, Namibia, the People's Republic of China and the Republic of Korea have removed or lowered obstacles to the immigration of HIV-positive people.<sup>316</sup> But there is a long way to go before these counterproductive, xenophobic regulations are abolished everywhere.

### RECOMMENDATIONS

#### To ensure an effective, sustainable response to HIV that is consistent with human rights obligations:

- 3.6.1 In matters relating to HIV and the law, countries should offer the same standard of protection to migrants, visitors and residents who are not citizens as they do to their own citizens.
- 3.6.2 Countries must repeal travel and other restrictions that prohibit people living with HIV from entering a country and/ or regulations that mandate HIV tests for foreigners within a country.
- 3.6.3 Countries must implement regulatory reform to allow for legal registration of migrants with health services and to ensure that migrants can access the same quality of HIV prevention, treatment and care services and commodities that are available to citizens. All HIV testing and STI screening for migrants must be informed and voluntary, and all treatment and prophylaxis for migrants must be ethical and medically indicated.

## CHAPTER 4 GENDER AND DISEMPOWERMENT Women



Source: AFP/ Tehrar

Women and girls account for half of the people living with HIV in the world; in Africa the proportion is even higher at 60%.<sup>317</sup> In the regions with the highest rates, HIV strikes younger women and girls particularly hard—in the Caribbean and sub-Saharan Africa, for instance, their infection rates are more than double those of young men and boys. Poverty, both of individuals and of nations, plays its part. Almost all (98%) of HIVpositive women live in developing countries,<sup>318</sup> and of the remaining 2% who live in developed countries, the majority are poor.<sup>319</sup>

Although HIV is still the leading cause of death in women of reproductive age (15 to 44) globally, death associated with pregnancy and childbirth (maternal mortality) is not far behind.<sup>320</sup> Together, the two are a deadly conspiracy: nearly 1 in 5 maternal deaths is attributable to HIV.<sup>321</sup>

Why are women so vulnerable to HIV? Some of the reason is biological: younger girls especially are more susceptible to infection. But biology

Three months after the birth of my son, he developed a heart problem and it was suggested he undergo surgery. My husband refused to have himself and the son tested for HIV but I made informed decision and choice for my son. I also voluntarily asked for HIV testing at the same time. Both my son and I tested HIV-positive. I cried uncontrollably, stopped thinking properly for a second, felt disconnected and just wanted to die because it was too much to handle. My husband informed his family members who came at the hospital where I nursing my son to emotionally abuse me and vowed to never set their eyes on my son and me. His family members told him to stop supporting us in any way and he did just that until the boy died at 2 years 2 months. My husband took all my belongings and moved from the house we rented. I reported the case of property grabbing at the police station but I was harassed by the police who could not understand my position. I decided to seek the courts of law to intervene in the matter of human rights violations and property grabbing.

Judith Kateule, Zambia, Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011

is not destiny. It is gender inequality and discrimination that is enshrined in custom and law, and sexual and domestic violence, which may be condoned by custom and law, that rob women of power. For example, child marriage, a practice parents often believe will protect their daughters from HIV, actually exacerbates their risks. Older husbands may be infected from other relationships, and the child brides, lacking education, experience, knowledge or the chance of economic independence, are less able to negotiate safer sex or demand fidelity. According to the UN Special Rapporteur on Violence Against Women, a demographic and health survey of 26 countries found that "the majority of sexually active girls aged 15-19 in developing countries are married, and these married adolescents tend to have higher rates of HIV infection than their peers".<sup>322</sup>

In many countries, particularly in Africa and Asia, the situation for women is complicated by plural legal systems-that is, general laws that apply to matters in the public domain and codified customary/religious laws mostly concerning private and family life. Although most constitutions stipulate that constitutional law prevails when government and traditional law conflict, "customary laws and religious laws enjoy the status of binding sources of law in the vast majority of countries in the African region."323 This combination of the colonial legacy and postcolonial political decisions can perpetuate or compound gender inequality and discriminatory practices that have "negative implications for [women's] sexual health."324

In addition to these local conflicts, national governments have made exceptions to international covenants, such as CEDAW, on the grounds that they violate religious edicts or customary practices—although some women's rights activists dispute the assumption that Islam (or other religions) compels or condones gender discrimination.<sup>325</sup> Women may accede to the rule of these overlapping laws and customs out of fear of ostracism or violence if they do not, or (particularly rural and uneducated women) they may embrace them for themselves and their

daughters. Still, the evidence is unequivocal: Gender inequality leaves women and girls undefended from HIV infection and diminishes their ability to cope with the consequences of illness and to care for themselves and their families.<sup>326</sup>

Although gender norms and inequality primarily harm women and girls, men and boys also can pay dearly. New data shows that the rape of males is far more prevalent in conflict zones than previously understood.<sup>327</sup> Cultures of machismo can pressure men into having sexual partners that they might not otherwise, discourage the use of condoms or non-penetrative sex and undermine men's motivation to seek necessary health care.<sup>328</sup> The protection and promotion of human rights for women and girls is in everybody's interest.

#### **VIOLENCE AND HIV**

Sexual violence is the accomplice of  $HIV_{r}^{329}$  depriving women of their ability to control their



Source: Avert/South Africa

#### **RAPE WITHIN MARRIAGE**



Legislation against marital rape, by region

\*Developed Regions include Andorra, Australia, Australa, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Liechtenstein, Luxembourg, Malta, Monaco, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Portugal, San Marino, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, United Kingdom and the United States of America.
Source: UN Women Progress of the World's Women 2011 – 2012: In Pursuit of Justice, July 2011.

lives and thereby protect their health. In fact, a 2005 WHO study found that in "a broad range of settings", men who were violent toward their female partners were also more likely to have multiple partners—both violence and infidelity being expressions of male privilege<sup>330</sup>—and to be infected with HIV and other STIs, putting all their female partners at risk.<sup>331</sup> But although international human rights doctrine and jurisprudence unequivocally denounce sexual violence as cruel, inhuman and degrading treatment and a form of torture,<sup>332</sup> and almost every nation criminalises it, the rape of women continues at alarming levels. The law plays its part in allowing violence to plague women. The legal definitions of sex crimes may preclude prosecuting some coerced acts.333 For instance, marriage may be an exemption or defence to the crime of rape.<sup>334</sup> Two thirds of the world's countries currently outlaw domestic violence, but many still do not prosecute marital rape,<sup>335</sup> and marital rape may be defined as a less serious offence than rape outside of marriage.<sup>336</sup> In Antigua and the Bahamas, for example, a husband who rapes his wife can be charged only with the lesser offence of sexual assault.<sup>337</sup>

Even where many forms of sexual violence are interdicted, the laws may be casually enforced or not enforced at all. Rape may be committed by police officers or uniformed service officers, making it impossible for victims to report the crimes or seek legal redress. And because the link between violence and HIV risk is not clearly acknowledged, survivors of violence fail to get timely HIV and health services, including medications to lessen the likelihood of contracting HIV.<sup>338</sup> One submission to the Commission noted that In Chile, despite protective laws against sex-

ual violence, the lack of multi-sectoral coordination between health and justice sectors leads to fragmented and ineffective services.<sup>339</sup>

But rape is no longer just a personal crime. Increasingly it is a chief weapon of military conflict.<sup>340</sup> To break the women and girls is to destroy what holds a people together-from water-carrying to community-building. The spread of HIV through rape is all too effective a way of exhausting a people's resilience for generations. Empowering women is necessary to the well-being of all people. It is crucial to fighting HIV.<sup>341</sup> Violence against women and girls increases their vulnerability to HIV.<sup>342</sup> Research in 4 provinces of Papua New Guinea, for example, showed a strong relationship between sexual abuse and a woman's HIV-positive status. Women in the study who reported being sexually abused in their intimate partner relationships were twice as likely to be HIV-positive as women who were not abused.<sup>343</sup> Forced sex in childhood or adolescence has been linked with increased probablility of engaging in unprotected sex, having multiple partners, participating in sex work and using illegal substances later in life-all activities presenting heightened HIV risks.<sup>344</sup> This connection is particularly disturbing because young women and girls are frequently the primary targets of sexual violence.345 In South Africa, police statistics show that more than 40% of rape survivors who reported their assaults to the police in 2002–2003 were girls under 18 years of age, and 14% were 12 or younger.346

Disclosure of positive HIV status also puts women at risk and in fear of violence, as numerous submissions to the Commission attest. A gangraped Pakistani woman discovered that she was both pregnant and HIV-positive. Her husband, who was also poor and suffering from injuries, abandoned her and her twin sons.<sup>347</sup> Education and class do not necessarily insulate women from such outcomes. A Tanzanian woman described a happy marriage to a professional man and a middle-class life. When she told him of her positive status, "he was very furious and started blaming me for our sons' illness. He exposed me to a lot of stigma and torture. My health deteriorated....My husband accused me for being the cause of the death of his relatives who died of AIDS. I was also expelled from the matrimonial house that I built with my own money. The divorce courts were of no help."<sup>348</sup>

Women with HIV are not expected to fall pregnant. One day I could tell my doctor was angry. I had broken his trust when I said I was pregnant. He was disappointed. I had failed my doctor; I felt irresponsible and guilty. He said, "I don't want you to go through this again." So I was sterilised. I was the bad woman. I was HIV-positive. I compromised my health<sup>349</sup>

Nontobeko Prudence Brenda Dlamini, International Community of Women Living With HIV-Southern Africa, Africa Regional Dialogue, 3-4 August 2011

#### **REPRODUCTIVE AND MATERNAL ILL HEALTH**

Access to HIV and reproductive health services<sup>350</sup> could substantially reduce both vertical transmission of HIV and maternal death. A combination of ARVs taken by a mother prenatally and during labour and breastfeeding has been shown to significantly reduce the chances of vertical transmission.351 Contraception—along with avoidance of unwanted pregnancy—also saves lives: it averted at least 40% of maternal deaths globally in 2008. Fulfilling the current unmet needs for contraception could prevent an additional 30% of such deaths.<sup>352</sup> Yet the reproductive medical clinic is not a welcoming place for many HIV-positive women. Coercive and discriminatory practices in health care settings are rife, including forced HIV testing, breaches of confidentiality and the denial of health care services, as well as forced sterilisations and abortions.353



Source: Andrea Flynn/Namibia

Since 2001, when forced and coerced sterilisation and abortion among HIV-positive women were first documented, reports have emerged from Chile, Venezuela, Mexico, Dominican Republic, Indonesia, Kenya, Namibia, South Africa, Tanzania, Thailand, Uganda and Zambia.<sup>354</sup> Some women report being denied access to HIV and health services unless they agree to abortion or sterilisation.

Where HIV exposure and transmission are criminalised, pregnant women and mothers fear getting tested or treated for HIV or having their babies tested, lest they be prosecuted for passing on the virus. Kenya's Sexual Offences Act, which criminalises HIV transmission "would effectively reduce the number of women going for antenatal care, and most mothers will prefer to have home delivery to avoid testing and reprisal by the health care providers", said a representative of the Federation of Women Lawyers Kenya.<sup>355</sup> Similarly, said an advocate from the Central African Republic, that nation's law criminalising "reckless" transmission from knowing HIV-positive persons to others "implies that mothers can no longer breastfeed their children (whilst if they do not, the child is malnourished and dies, and this is considered an abuse)."<sup>356</sup>

Human rights advocates have made gains against these counterproductive laws, such as the adoption of the Maputo Plan for Action<sup>357</sup> and the increased availability of services to prevent vertical HIV transmission.<sup>358</sup> However, few countries provide for a full range of sexual and reproductive health services to women and girls.

#### **PROPERTY WRONGS**

Without equal rights to acquire and secure property, a woman is effectively the captive of her husband and his family.

This is why numerous international covenants including the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights

In parts of Kenya, many widows and orphans become vulnerable to HIV when their husbands and fathers die, due to disinheritance by their families and communities, which leaves them destitute. [Many] are evicted from their rural homes and flee to urban areas where they find themselves vulnerable to further violence, including physical and sexual abuse, which increases their vulnerability to HIV. Often [they] resort to high-risk behaviour such as involuntary sex work in order to earn enough money to survive.

Allan Maleche, Kenya Legal & Ethical Issues Network on HIV and AIDS (KELIN), Kenya, Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011

#### SHARIA AND MALE PREROGATIVE IN NIGERIA<sup>359</sup>

The 1999 Constitution of Nigeria prohibits discrimination on the grounds of gender, but customary and religious laws continue to restrict women's rights. Nigeria is a federal republic, and each state has the authority to draft its own legislation. Certain states in the north of Nigeria follow a particular school of Sharia, which may be invoked to reinforce customs unfavourable to women, thus increasing their vulnerability to HIV.

#### Nigeria's Sharia recognises four main types of divorce:

- The *talaq* can only be initiated by the husband. It allows him to repudiate the marriage by announcing out loud that he intends to divorce his wife.
- The *khul'u* allows a woman to request a divorce by paying her husband in order to terminate the marriage. The *khul'u* is settled in court.
- The *tafriq* and *faskh* procedures also require court intervention. Divorce is pronounced following an investigation into the truth of the wife's accusations.

#### The Penal Code of Northern Nigeria, based on their application of Sharia, allows a husband to:

- beat his wife, provided it does not rise to the level of "grievous hurt"
- withdraw economic support if his wife refuses sexual intercourse

The Kano State Sharia Penal Code requires a woman alleging rape to produce four witnesses to the rape. If the rape is not proved, she can be punished for adultery with imprisonment or flogging.

(ICESCR) and the Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW)—guarantee equality between men and women in family life, marriage and its dissolution.<sup>360</sup> Regional agreements also address laws and traditions that let men and their families take divorcees' or widows' property. The Protocol to the African Charter on Human Rights and People's Rights on the Right of Women in Africa specifically protects the right to "equal access to housing and to acceptable living conditions"; it requires States to "grant to women, whatever their marital status, access to adequate housing"361 and guarantees to widows "an equitable share in the inheritance of the property of her husband" and "the right to continue to live in the matrimonial home."362 The Maputo Protocol also addresses women's equal access to land and property.

Nevertheless, these international standards, or even the national statutes ratifying them, may have little or no effect. Both formal and customary marriage, property and inheritance laws, as well as unlawful "property-grabbing"—taking of a widow's house and belongings by relatives of her husband—perpetuate gross gender inequality. Women are rendered economically dependent and unable to escape, which gives husbands control over their sexual lives. Just as property inequality increases women's risk for HIV by denying her the ability to demand fidelity or condom use,<sup>363</sup> studies from Africa and Asia also show that HIV-related stigma exacerbates property grabbing.<sup>364</sup>

It is not her house or land that a wife, divorcee or widow risks losing under unjust property and inheritance laws or customs. Customary practices may make her body the property of her husband or his relatives'. Accepted in a number of countries in Africa and Latin America, as well as parts of Asia and the Middle East, customary practices include early marriage and female genital mutilation,<sup>365</sup> "widow inheritance"<sup>366</sup> and "sexual cleansing"<sup>367</sup> despite the increased risk of HIV exposure inherent in a number of these practices.<sup>368</sup> Legal systems, whether governmental or traditional, generally fail to outlaw these activities. And women may either embrace them for cultural or religious reasons, or, fearing ostracism or economic ruin, feel forced to abide by them.<sup>369</sup> The criminalisation of HIV transmission compounds the dangers of these practices and places women in a double-bind: if a woman is HIV-positive and then forced to have sex with her brother-in-law as a part of "widow inheritance", she could be prosecuted for transmitting HIV to him.

#### RECONCILIATION

Undoing decades—even centuries—of traditions that weaken and oppress women-is a slow and incremental process. HIV both exposes pervasive gender discrimination and renders it deadlier than ever before. Some countries— Namibia, for example<sup>370</sup>—are taking steps to remove marital exemptions as a defence to rape. A number of African countries, including Burkina Faso, Malawi, Mozambique, Niger, Rwanda and South Africa, are also moving toward ensuring women's equal access to land and property, some with specific reference to HIV.<sup>371</sup> In Tamil Nadu, India, a partnership among government, civil society and people living with HIV to provide legal services has improved access to property and land for women affected by or living with HIV.372 Courts in countries such as Tanzania, Uganda and Zimbabwe have overturned discriminatory customary and religious laws. But the new, "improved" statutes sometimes reflect the lawmakers' reluctance to challenge customary law principles.<sup>373</sup> Zimbabwe no longer accepts marriage to the victim as a defence for sexual crimes, for instance, but no prosecution of a husband for raping or indecently assaulting his wife can be instituted without the personal authorisation of the Attorney General.<sup>374</sup> And where custom and tradition prevail, women do not feel the effects of progressive laws and judgements at the national level in their daily lives.<sup>375</sup>

Perhaps the most promising route to change is adaptation of traditional legal systems to promote equality for women and their children and recruitment of respected community members to mediate inheritance disputes between widows and their in-laws. The Kenya Legal and Ethical Issues Network on HIV/AIDS (KELIN) is educating elders in alternative dispute resolution approaches and training them, as well as widows and local law enforcement officials, to create awareness of human rights. According to KELIN, the approach recognises that customary law evolves and can incorporate gender equality considerations, and that local mechanisms for enforcing customary law can be strengthened to facilitate the promotion and protection of women's rights.<sup>376</sup>

Inherent to the criminalisation of marital rape is the recognition that marriage is neither an irrevocable consent to sex nor a prophylactic against HIV infection, and that women—married or not—have a fundamental right to refuse sex or negotiate its terms. Without economic security and independence, women can never control their own destinies. And if they cannot, HIV transmission will not be brought to heel.

## RECOMMENDATIONS

To ensure an effective, sustainable response to HIV that is consistent with human rights obligations:

- 4.1. Countries must act to end all forms of violence against women and girls, including in conflict situations and postconflict settings. They must:
  - 4.1.1 Enact and enforce specific laws that prohibit domestic violence, rape and other forms of sexual assault, including marital rape and rape related to conflict, whether perpetrated against females, males or transgender persons.
  - 4.1.2 Take judicial or legislative steps to remove any immunity–or interpreted immunity–from prosecution for rape when the perpetrator is a married or unmarried partner.
  - 4.1.3 Fully enforce existing laws meant to protect women and girls from violence, and prosecute perpetrators of violence against women and girls to the full extent of the law.
  - 4.1.4 Formulate and implement comprehensive, fully resourced national strategies to eliminate violence against women and girls, which include robust mechanisms to prevent, investigate and punish violence. Provision of health services, including post-exposure prophylaxis, legal services and social protection for survivors of violence, must be guaranteed.
- 4.2. Countries must prohibit and governments must take measures to stop the practice of forced abortion and coerced sterilisation of HIV-positive women and girls, as well as all other forms of violence against women and girls in health care settings.
- 4.3. Countries must remove legal barriers that impede women's access to sexual and reproductive health services. They must ensure that:
  - 4.3.1 Health care workers provide women with full information on sexual and reproductive options and ensure that women can provide informed consent in all matters relating to their health. The law must ensure access to safe contraception and support women in deciding freely whether and when to have children, including the number, spacing and methods of their children's births.
  - 4.3.2 Health care workers are trained on informed consent, confidentiality and non-discrimination.
  - 4.3.3 Accessible complaints and redress mechanisms are available in health care settings.
- 4.4. Countries must reform property and inheritance laws to mandate that women and men have equal access to property and other economic resources, including credit. They must take measures to ensure that in practice property is divided without gender discrimination upon separation, divorce or death and establish a presumption of spousal co-ownership of family property. Where property and inheritance practices are influenced or determined by religious or customary legal systems, the leaders of these systems must make reforms to protect women, including widows and orphans.
- 4.5. Countries must ensure that social protection measures recognise and respond to the needs of HIV-positive women and women whose husbands have died of AIDS and that labour laws, social protection and health services respond to the needs of women who take on caregiving roles in HIV-affected households.
- 4.6. Countries must ensure that laws prohibiting early marriage are enacted and enforced.
- 4.7. The enforcers of religious and customary laws must prohibit practices that increase HIV risk, such as widow inheritance, "widow cleansing" and female genital mutilation.

## CHAPTER 5 THEIR WHOLE LIVES TO LIVE Children and Youth



Source: UNDP/Burkina Faso

The reason people are vulnerable to HIV and AIDS is not because they are young, or homosexuals, or sex workers or injecting drug users. We are not somehow extra vulnerable to the virus. Yet, we carry the heaviest burden of the pandemic, because society repeatedly denies us access to sexuality education, commodities for contraception and decisionmaking when it comes to HIV and AIDS programmes. On the issue of rights, a lot of debate focuses on the need to strike a balance between the autonomy and universality of rights and the contexts that surround the realization of these rights. We should begin to name sexual rights without shame, as what is unnamed is more likely to be unsupported, ignored or misunderstood.

Network of Asia Pacific Youth, Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011

Children and youth have the most to lose from HIV: They are far more likely to become poor or homeless, drop out of school, face discrimination and violence, see their opportunities dwindle, and grow ill and die long before their time. Their woes are many and complex and include malnutrition, expulsion from school, grieving for their parents and fearing their own mortality. But they also have the most to gain from successful HIV responses. Children and youth can be powerful agents of change in HIV prevention and in fighting stigma and discrimination. <sup>377</sup>

Globally, there are 3.4 million children<sup>378</sup> living with HIV, roughly 16.6 million who have lost one or both parents to AIDS and millions more who have been affected.<sup>379</sup> Fewer babies are being born with HIV, thanks to an increase in programmes to prevent vertical transmission. Less than one quarter of children who qualified for ART actually got it in 2010. And still 2,500 young people acquire HIV every day.<sup>380</sup>

Many governments have affirmed society's obligations to realise children's right to equality, provide for their survival and development, promote their best interests and give them a meaningful say in matters affecting their lives. Since its adoption in 1989, an estimated 69 countries of the 193 parties to the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC)<sup>381</sup> have enacted statutes affirming these principles. But not all governments are living up to their ideals. Few have actively promoted and funded programmes to benefit children infected or affected by HIV. Rarely does a government take full account of the realities of young people's lives—including their sexual lives.

The needs of children in the epidemic are intimately bound to those of the adults who care for them. When parents or guardians are too sick to support or care for their children, the burdens of supporting the family, running the household and caring for sick parents or siblings may fall on the children themselves.
Older children, especially girls,<sup>382</sup> are often forced to leave school to care for the family.<sup>383</sup> For girls, this is a step backward, away from economic independence in later life, and it elevates the risks of HIV acquisition. Programmes around the globe have helped support older adolescents so that they do not drop out of school. Direct cash payments in Mexico,<sup>384</sup> Malawi and Tanzania have accomplished that aim; in addition, such programmes have reduced rates of teenage pregnancy, STIs and HIV.<sup>385</sup>

Discrimination against families living with HIV is common, as submissions to the Commission attest. Adults living with HIV may be denied visitation rights to see their children<sup>386</sup>; agencies prohibit HIV-positive children from living with their parents in state-sponsored housing and school and child care administrators shut the doors to HIV-positive pupils, believing they will infect others.387 For example, in Paraguay, "people who suffer from chronic contagious disease" are forbidden to marry or adopt.<sup>388</sup> Challenging these legal obstacles is a particularly important role of NGOs. For instance, Gidnist, the Ukrainian legal aid NGO, challenged the Ukrainian court to protect the rights of an HIV-positive child who was denied access to the paternal home. Thanks to this legal action, the child's access to his paternal home was restored and the father was ordered to pay back payments for child support.<sup>389</sup>

#### **GOING HOME**

When parents die, the state must ultimately ensure that their children's human rights and legal interests are protected—the most important of which is to be cared for by responsible adults. Children who have lost parents to HIV live in diverse family systems and households (some formal, some not), so it is critical that the law recognise the parental rights and responsibilities of de facto caregivers, lest children be legally adrift, unable to access health care, education



Source: UN Photo/Shehzad Noorani/Thailand

and social protection.<sup>390</sup> In nearly every sub-Saharan country, according to UNICEF, relatives take in AIDS orphans—more than 90% of these children—"despite the great economic strain this has caused most households."<sup>391</sup>

It should not be forgotten that children orphaned by AIDS experience enormous emotional trauma. They need familial affection and normalcy in their lives. In partnership with the government, the AII-Ukrainian Network of people living with HIV makes sure that HIV-positive children end up in family-based environments and that they stay in school. "By April 2011 in the Crimea, Ukraine, 6 children with HIV were brought up in foster care, 2 were adopted, 2 are under guardianship and 23 children born to HIV-infected women (affected by HIV) have found their families", a representative of the Network told the commission.<sup>392</sup>

A positive HIV diagnosis does not render an adult incompetent to take care of children. Yet the adoption applications of HIV-positive people (or same-sex couples) are commonly rejected. In some countries discrimination of this kind has been outlawed—as of course it should be everywhere, especially when so many children affected by HIV are waiting for homes. The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), for instance, prohibits adoption agencies from discriminating against couples or individuals living with HIV.<sup>393</sup>

#### **GROWING CONTRADICTIONS**

Legal approaches to the evolving capacity of minors in select countries



Sources: Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), Countries Periodic Reports to the Committee on the Rights of the Child (CRC), accessed by UNDP in 2012; INTERPOL, Legislation of INTERPOL member states on sexual offences against children, accessed by UNDP in 2012; UNICEF, National HIV Counseling Guidelines for Children and Adolescents in Pakistan, 2008.

Where inheritance laws do not explicitly protect orphans and custom favours men in property ownership, the situation of AIDS orphans is dire. In Kenya, the lack of such legal protection for orphans has left them vulnerable to property grabbing by relatives under the pretext of informal guardianship.<sup>394</sup> Property disputes can be interminable. In Tanzania, widows and orphans can "languish in the court corridors" for years, the Tanzania Women Lawyers Association told the Commission. "A good number meet their death before their disputes of inheritance in court are resolved."<sup>395</sup>

#### AUTONOMY AND CONSENT

Sexually active young people—for physiological, psychological and social reasons—are particularly vulnerable to HIV. They are in urgent need of appropriate prevention information and reproductive and sexual health services, as the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child has stressed.<sup>396</sup> Adolescents who are gay or lesbian or who question their gender identities have specific needs—among them the support and guidance of gay, lesbian and transgender adults. Youth living with HIV, who may become infected either by birth to HIV-positive mothers

#### UNSAFE PRACTICES: How not to respond to HIV risk

Lee had unsafe sex with his girlfriend to whom he had not disclosed his HIV status. He was concerned about the event and shared it with staff at his children's home; they in turn reported it to the social services' duty social work team. The duty team did not know how to respond and referred it to their manager. A child protection response was undertaken regarding the girl. There was a panic response, immediate action was considered necessary, strategy meetings were held between different managers within the children's service and a significant number of social services staff then learnt about Lee's HIV status. The girl's parents learnt what had happened and began proceedings to prosecute for reckless transmission of HIV under Section 20 of the Offences Against the Person's Act of 1861, although there was no evidence that transmission of HIV had taken place. Lee was referred to a specialist legal advisor. After this meeting he panicked and went straight to the police station and handed himself in. The police did not know what to charge him with and so charged him with sexual assault, although the girl was the same age as him and at this stage was still untested. The girl concerned was later tested by an adult sexual health service. She tested negative for HIV. Her parents and the police dropped all charges.

Looking After HIV, United Kingdom, 2008<sup>397</sup>

or through sex or unsafe drug injection, have particularly complex needs. Focus groups with sero-positive youth in Botswana, for instance, found that they face stigma from classmates, friends and families; they may engage in risky sexual practices; and they have trouble coordinating the demands of schoolwork and health.<sup>398</sup> In spite of legislation to the contrary, Botswana's youth also may be refused HIV tests without parental involvement.399 Research in Canada, where 13,000 adolescents and young adults are living with HIV, found that such youth "experience higher than usual rates of homelessness, sexual and physical abuse, financial difficulties, addictions, and social isolation." Nevertheless, programmes that support Canadian HIV-positive youth are scarce.400

Many states deny youth health services without parental consent.<sup>401</sup> The proponents of such laws say that they protect children (a broad category including everyone from birth to 18), but in reality fear of the disapproval and rage of their parents leads young people to avoid getting reproductive and HIV-related services.<sup>402</sup> By contrast, a United States study showed a significantly higher proportion of young people volunteered for HIV testing once the legal requirement of parental consent was eliminated.<sup>403</sup>

Contradictory attitudes about the competency of youth to make autonomous decisions are evident in the laws that govern minors' sexual and medical lives. In a number of countries, children can lawfully have sex before the age at which they can get medical treatment without their parents' consent. In other countries the laws putatively permit children to access sexual and reproductive health services below the age of consent to sex-except that their underage sexual activities must be reported to the police if they request such services. For example, in South Africa health care workers providing such services to minors are legally compelled to report consensual, underage sex.<sup>404</sup> Such regulations frustrate the majority of STI and HIV prevention efforts for youth.405

#### SEX EDUCATION: THE MISSING LINK

Age-appropriate comprehensive sex education, including information on HIV prevention, serves the health of young people. Studies show that such programmes result in more frequent condom use, fewer sexual partners and significantly reduced sexual risk-taking. No studies find that sex education leads to earlier, riskier or more prolific sexual activity.<sup>406</sup>

At present, very few laws recognise the rights of young people to education about their sexuality or the risks of HIV.<sup>407</sup> But, given the tensions among religious, cultural and political constituencies on what sex education should be, the law can advance children's rights by establishing minimum standards for such programmes.<sup>408</sup>

In its zeal to act in the best interests of youth, the state may intervene to the point of unintentionally harming them. Children under the guardianship of the state are subject to intense surveillance, particularly of their sex lives, and the combination of punitive HIV-related statutes, official confusion and ambivalence over youth sexuality can exacerbate the difficulties of young people living with HIV, as an investigation by the United Kingdom's Children and Young People HIV Network HIV-positive minors "looked after" by the local authorities found.<sup>409</sup>

### RECOMMENDATIONS

#### To ensure an effective, sustainable response to HIV that is consistent with human rights obligations:

- 5.1. Countries must enact and enforce laws that:
  - 5.1.1 Ensure that the birth of every child is registered. This is crucial for supporting children's access to essential services. Ensure that their rights are protected and promoted, as per the Convention on the Rights of the Child.<sup>410</sup>
  - 5.1.2 Ensure that every orphaned child is appointed an appropriate adult guardian. This includes provisions for transfer of guardianship of AIDS orphans from deceased parents to adults or older siblings who can ensure their well-being. In selecting a guardian, preference should be given to adults from the biological or extended families. HIV-positive adults who are otherwise in good health should not be prohibited from adopting children.
  - 5.1.3 Support community-based foster care for children orphaned by AIDS as an alternative to institutionalisation, when formal adoption is not possible or appropriate.
  - 5.1.4 Ensure HIV-sensitive social protections as required, such as direct cash transfers for affected children and their guardians.
  - 5.1.5 Prohibit discrimination against children living with or affected by HIV, especially in the context of adoption, health and education. Take strict measures to ensure that schools do not bar or expel HIV-positive children or children from families affected by AIDS.
- 5.2 Countries must enact and enforce laws to ensure that children orphaned by AIDS inherit parental property. Children orphaned by AIDS should inherit regardless of their sex, HIV status or the HIV status of family members. Such enforcement includes:
  - 5.2.1 Collaboration with the enforcers of religious and customary laws to ensure justice for children orphaned by AIDS.
  - 5.2.2 Reconciliation of conflicts between discriminatory customary laws and traditional practices and international human rights standards to ensure compliance with international law.
- 5.3. Countries must enact and enforce laws ensuring the right of every child, in or out of school, to comprehensive sexual health education, so that they may protect themselves and others from HIV infection or live positively with HIV.
- 5.4. Sexually active young people must have confidential and independent access to health services so as to protect themselves from HIV. Therefore, countries must reform laws to ensure that the age of consent for autonomous access to HIV and sexual and reproductive health services is equal to or lower than the age of consent for sexual relations. Young people who use drugs must also have legal and safe access to HIV and health services.

## CHAPTER 6 MEDICINES FOR WHOM? Intellectual Property Law and the Global Fight for Treatment



Source: APN+/Rico Gustav/India

IP policy is a critical component of substantial, continued price reductions for ARVs, and of the ability of national governments to extend the implications of lessons learned in HIV to other areas of health. The ultimate implications, of course, are measured not in technical prose, but in people's lives.

ARVs and other medicines to counteract the effects of HIV and its co-infections make the difference between health and illness, productive life and early death. Second- and third-generation ARVs and medications for co-infections such as hepatitis C remain expensive. But the prices of first-generation ARVs have fallen dramatically over the past ten years, thanks primarily to

increased marketplace competition from generic drugs. This translates into more people in low- and middle-income countries getting treatment—at the end of 2010, they numbered 6.65 million.<sup>412</sup> And that means fewer HIV infections and related conditions, fewer deaths, fewer children orphaned due to AIDS and reduced expenditure for precariously sustained households and health systems.

#### **ENFORCING THE RIGHT TO HEALTH**

A number of countries have enacted specific laws protecting the right to health for people living with HIV or have achieved broad access to treatment through

Mohammed El Said & Amy Kapczynski, Access to Medicines: The Role of Intellectual Property Law and Policy<sup>411</sup>

> the courts. Brazil's Constitution provides that "health care is a right of all citizens and the duty of State", and in 1996 the federal government adopted Law 9313 guaranteeing affordable access to HIV treatment. This commitment has been crucial to the success of Brazil's HIV response.<sup>413</sup> In numerous other instances, courts have compelled governments to comply with their public health obligations under international and domestic law. In Venezuela, the Supreme Court has ruled more than once that the government violated the constitutional right to health by failing to guarantee access to ART for people living with HIV.<sup>414</sup> In South Africa, the Treatment Access Campaign led and won a right-to-health lawsuit demanding that the government supply ARVs for the prevention of vertical transmission; indeed, the Constitutional Court went further and ordered the government to develop and implement a comprehensive program to reduce that risk.415

> Such legal strategies, together with global advocacy and generic competition, resulted in a 22-fold increase in ART access between 2001 and 2010.<sup>416</sup> While some pharmaceutical companies have entered into agreements to offer medicines at reduced prices, their actions cannot be credited for the dramatic rise in treatment. Rather, AIDS

#### **GENERIC COMPETITION: MAKING ARVs AFFORDABLE**



Source: Médecins Sans Frontières (MSF), Untangling the Web of Antiretroviral Price Reductions (UTW), 14th edition, July 2011.

treatment activists coordinated international campaigns to boost domestic and donor funding. This, coupled with competition from generic manufacturers like Cipla's 'game-changing' offer to provide triple combination treatment for less than a dollar a day in 2001,<sup>417</sup> greatly increased treatment coverage.

In spite of this remarkable achievement, the world is in the grip of a crisis in treatment affordability and accessibility. Of those who qualify under WHO guidelines to receive these life-saving medicines, fewer than half of HIV-positive adults and less than a quarter of children in need are getting them. Moreover, resources for HIV are declining and the global economic crisis is affecting the contributions of donor countries.<sup>418</sup> The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, one of two major financiers of the HIV response, recently announced that it had to postpone or cancel its entire next round of grants, from 2011 to 2013, because many donors are not honouring their commitments.<sup>419</sup> There are also concerns about proposed cuts to PEPFAR funding for treatment.<sup>420</sup> There will be a terrible price to pay in human lives. The costs of HIV prevention and care are modest, especially in comparison to the billions spent on bank bailouts or weaponry. If the global community is serious about ending the epidemic, it must spend what is required.<sup>421</sup>

There are many reasons for this treatment gap. But a major one is the result of recent bilateral and multilateral trade agreements that have undoubtedly increased the power of pharmaceutical patent holders to control the prices of drugs on global markets. Governments, especially in low- and middle-income countries, cannot afford them.

Signed in 1994 and administered by the World Trade Organization (WTO), The Agreement on Trade Related Aspects of Intellectual Property

#### THE TREATMENT GAP

Percentage of medically eligible adults and children <u>NOT</u> receiving antiretroviral therapy in low- and middle-income countries at the end of 2010



Source: Global HIV/AIDS Response: Epidemic update and health sector progress towards Universal Access, Progress Report 2011. WHO, UNAIDS, UNICEF, 2011.

Rights (TRIPS) introduced IP protection and enforcement at a breadth never before seen at the multilateral level.<sup>422</sup> The HIV epidemic has exposed the serious problems of applying TRIPS to medicines and other pharmaceutical products. This has implications well beyond HIV, for example, for non-communicable diseases which affect millions in high-, middle- and low-income countries.<sup>f</sup>

But the trend in IP regulation continues to be away from more latitude for the production and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>f</sup> While the Commission's mandate is HIV specific, people living with HIV are often co-infected with other communicable diseases including hepatitis C and Multiple Drug Resistant Tuberculosis. There is increasing evidence of the linkages between HIV and non-communicable diseases like cancer. Studies show that people living with HIV are up to 1000 times more likely than uninfected people to be diagnosed with Kaposi sarcoma, at least 70 times more likely to be diagnosed with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, and, among women, at least five times more likely to be diagnosed with cervical cancer. Given that similar problems around affordability and accessibility of treatment exist for communicable diseases and for a number of non-communicable diseases, the Commission's findings and recommendations on HIV-related treatment have a broader relevance to health.

distribution of necessary medicines. A number of trade and investment agreements are incorporating even more stringent IP provisions, posing a serious threat to treatment access now and in the future.

#### TRIPS, DOHA AND THE 30 AUGUST 2003 DECISION: A BRIEF HISTORY

Historically, countries retained the right to customise their IP laws to meet their development needs. After it declared independence, the United States, a net importer of technology at the time, did not allow foreigners to file patents<sup>g</sup> for the first 37 years of nationhood. When the restriction on foreigners was eventually lifted, patent fees for foreigners were approximately tenfold higher (with an additional 65% charge for British nationals).423 Switzerland suspended its patent system from 1802 until 1888, when it re-established it under threat of trade sanctions from Germany. When a new law was passed, it contained a strong compulsory licensing<sup>h</sup> mechanism and excluded certain products, including chemicals, from patent protection.<sup>424</sup> Even as recently as the 1970s, Italy, Sweden and Switzerland did not grant patents for pharmaceutical products with Spain, only offering patent protection for pharmaceutical as late as 1992.425

The TRIPS Agreement was born largely as a result of United States industry lobbying for strong multilateral IP protection covering a range of commodities.<sup>426</sup> In 1986, when the negotiations leading to the agreement opened, as many as 50 countries provided no patents for pharmaceutical products.427 Countries were free to define many aspects of their IP regimes—for instance, to exclude entire fields of technology from patentability and determine the duration of patents in light of other public policy considerations. High- as well as low- and middle-income countries used this latitude to ensure that the interests of profit did not interfere with the maximal delivery of health care. In 1970 Brazil declared pharmaceutical products and processes non-patentable. In 1970, India implemented a similar policy that contributed to the development of a strong local pharmaceutical sector, a powerful machine of "reverse engineering" that has produced many of the generic medicines used in developing countries, and ensured that these medicines reached markets guickly and at an affordable price. Access to generics has proven critical to scaling up treatment access. For instance, in February 2001, the Indian generic manufacturer Cipla announced "a price heard around the world", offering a first generation combination regimen for as little as \$350 per patient per year to NGOs and \$600 per patient per year to African governments.<sup>428</sup> A 2010 study found that Indian generic pharmaceutical companies supply at least 80% of ARVs purchased by low- and middle-income countries, including 91% of those formulated for children<sup>429</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Patents confer exclusive rights granted for a limited time to an inventor for an invention - a creation of the mind that is novel, contains an inventive step and is industrially applicable. Patents were introduced to reward inventors for their work, to allow them to recuperate investments, and to stimulate innovation. Today, patents are often used to maintain exclusivity on the market, though patent exclusivity can be overcome through the use of TRIPS flexibilities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>h</sup> Article 31 of the TRIPS Agreement recognises the right of WTO Members to use a patented product without the consent of the patent holder through "compulsory licences", "government use orders", or "compulsory licences to remedy anti-competitive practices".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>i</sup> Reverse engineering is the process of discovering the technological principles of a device, object, or system through analysis of its structure, function, and operation. It often involves taking a medicine or product apart and to try to make a new medicine or product that does the same thing without using or simply duplicating the original.

TRIPS imposed minimum standards for protecting and enforcing IP rights to an extent previously unseen at the global level.430 Today, all WTO Members, with the exception of least developed countries (LDCs), are required to provide a minimum of 20 years' patent protection in all fields of technology, without distinction based on place of invention or country of manufacture.431 The intent of these regulations was supposedly to generate innovation and fairly balance the rights of consumers and patent holders. But for low- and middle-income countries, the adverse consequences have eclipsed any potential benefits. In essence, TRIPS imposed legally protected monopolies internationally. Limited competition resulted in higher costs for medicines.<sup>432</sup> When the product is pharmaceuticals, the outcome for poor countries with overwhelming HIV epidemics and other health challenges has been catastrophic. It is an indictment of the current international IP regime that it has not resulted in increased innovation for medicines to treat HIV co-infections such as tuberculosis, hepatitis C or related diseases that predominantly affect the poor.

## USING TRIPS FLEXIBILITIES: A Snapshot of Selected Countries<sup>433</sup>

As the global economic crisis stretches on and international donor funding shrinks, national health systems are under increased pressure to reduce costs and increase both efficiencies and domestic investment. For all the shortcomings of TRIPS, certain countries still have the option of using so-called TRIPS flexibilities<sup>1</sup> to make treatment considerably more affordable.<sup>434</sup> These flexibilities were re-affirmed at a WTO round in 2001 that resulted in the Doha Declaration on TRIPS and Public Health.<sup>435</sup> The declaration states that TRIPS should be interpreted and implemented in light of the goal "to promote access to medicines for all." To that end, the Doha Declaration affirmed the rights of WTO Members to use "flexibilities", including the rights to define standards of patentability and to order government use of patented inventions and issue compulsory licences to increase treatment access. Governments may also use competition law and policy to remedy abuses of IP rights.<sup>436</sup>

In 2002, 2005 and 2007, treatment activists in South Africa used competition law to reduce the unaffordable prices of key first-generation ARVs.437 Between 2001 and 2006, the Brazilian government used the threat of compulsory licensing to negotiate significant price reductions for a number of ARVs. This saved the government approximately US \$1.2 billion between 2001 and 2005.438 In 2007, Brazil issued a compulsory licence for the important ARV efavirenz, which was being used by more than a third of the 200,000 patients receiving treatment through the national health system's HIV services. Thereafter, the price of the imported generic version of the drug dropped from US \$1.60 to US \$0.45 per dose. Thailand predicts it will realise a minimum savings of US\$ 358 million by taking advantage of TRIPS flexibilities.439 Indian patent authorities used provisions of the Patent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The TRIPS Agreement contains provisions which allow countries to pursue their public health obligations without infringing the WTO law on pharmaceutical patents (flexibilities). Scholars divide such flexibilities into three categories: preventative, remedial and enforcement related. Preventative flexibilities are the opportunity to exclude certain categories for patentability (e.g. processes), applying strict patentability criteria to avoid low-quality patents, or extending the patent term through trivial modifications, pre-grant and post grant patent oppositions. Remedial TRIPS flexibilities are: Compulsory licences and government use orders; the Bolar Exception (allows the preparation for manufacturing of a patented product before the expiration of the patent); parallel importation (allows access from cheaper sources); typical exceptions to patent rights (individual use, for experiments, etc.). Enforcement-related flexibilities focus on adhering to the minimum standards of TRIPS as far as patent infringement is concerned and not allowing unnecessary high levels of IP enforcement, especially criminal sanctions.

COUNTRY & DATE OF ISSUE	TYPE OF LICENSE & NAME OF MEDICINE	IMPACT OF COMPULSORY LICENSE
India March 2012	Compulsory license to locally produce generic <b>sorafenib to-</b> <b>sylate</b> to treat kidney cancer and liver cancer	Price set by India's Patent Controller will result in 97% reduction
<b>Ecuador</b> April 2010	Compulsory license to import and, if necessary, locally pro- duce generic <b>ritonavir</b>	Resulted in patent holder reducing price of brand medi- cine by 70%
<b>Thailand</b> January 2008	Government-use license for import of generic <b>letrozole</b> used to treat breast cancer	Projected aggregate price reductions of 96.8%
<b>Brazil</b> May 2007	Compulsory licence issued by Government to import generic <b>efavirenz</b>	Resulted in a 71.8 % price reduction
<b>Thailand</b> January 2007	Government-use order to import or locally produce generic <b>lopinavir/ritonavir</b>	Projected price reductions of 80.2% expected
<b>Indonesia</b> October 2004	Government-use order to locally manufacture generic <b>lami-</b> vudine, nevirapine	Resulted in price reduction of 53.3%
<b>Malaysia</b> November 2003	Government-use order for the production of combination of generic <b>stavudine + didonasine + nevirapine</b>	Resulted in price reduction of 83%

Source: United Nations Development Programme, Bureau for Development Policy, HIV Group. 2012<sup>440</sup>

Act to reject a number of patent applications for new forms of known medicines that offer little therapeutic improvement—important not only for Indians but for the developing world as a whole, much of which uses India as its pharmacy.<sup>441</sup>

In spite of their potential benefits, TRIPS flexibilities have proved insufficient in obviating the shortages of affordable medicines that TRIPS itself has contributed to creating. The TRIPS Agreement, on paper, affords flexibility as to how its obligations are implemented by national governments. Nevertheless, in practice, the attempts by low- and middle-income countries to use measures to promote access to affordable medicines have been fraught with difficulty and met with retaliation and opposition from some high-income countries and corporations.442 For example, even though it scrupulously followed TRIPS requirements and national law, Thailand was placed on the United States Special 301 Priority Watch list for three straight years, at least in part because of having issued compulsory licences for a number of pharmaceutical products, including medicines to treat HIV, cancer and heart disease.443 When the government of Thailand issued a compulsory licence in 2007 on lopinavir/ritonavir (Kaletra), Abbott, the pharmaceutical company that held the patent for Kaletra, responded with an announcement that it was withdrawing multiple applications to obtain marketing approval for new drugs in Thailand, including a heat-stable version

of Kaletra.<sup>444</sup> Similarly, when South Africa passed a law in 1997 that allowed for parallel importation of cheaper medicines,<sup>445</sup> thirty-nine pharmaceutical companies took the government to court alleging the law violated the South African Constitution and the TRIPS Agreement. South Africa was also placed on the Section 301 Special Watch List, a move that was revoked by then President Clinton via Executive Order,<sup>446</sup> following extensive protests by activists and legal action. The Indian government remains embroiled in litigation with the company Novartis, which is seeking to overturn the state's application of Section 3(d) of its Patent Code to reject a patent application on the Novartis cancer medicine Gleevec (imatinib mesylate).<sup>447</sup>

The Doha Declaration of 2001 also left unresolved a major problem: how to ensure access to medicines for countries that face patent bars but have limited or no domestic capacity to produce medicines locally, and thus are still dependent on medicines from countries where TRIPS rules limit exports to insufficient quantities. After 20 months of negotiation, the WTO General Council finally adopted a temporary solution: the 30 August 2003 Decision, a complicated set of regulations for overcoming these limitations. However, this decision has proven ineffective in practice. It has been used only once in more than 8 years.<sup>448</sup> In fact, its effectiveness has been extensively questioned by low- and middle-income countries, such as Ecuador, Brazil and India, which argued at

The enforcement and application of the Anti-Counterfeit Act... will endanger the lives of Kenyan citizens afflicted with HIV and AIDS, as they will be arbitrarily denied access to affordable and essential drugs and medicine necessary to the fulfillment of the rights to life and human dignity that are enshrined in ... the Constitution of the Republic of Kenya.

Jacinta Nyachae, AIDS Law Project, Kenya, Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011

the WTO TRIPS Council that detailed requirements such as pill colouring, additional labelling and website tracking of shipments produced under the mechanism are costly, time consuming and a disincentive for generic manufacturers. Despite attempts to persuade countries to ratify, only a minority of WTO Members have chosen to do so. Despite these criticisms, high-income countries, including the United States, the European Union and Canada, continue to support it.<sup>449</sup>

#### THE OVERREACH OF IP PROTECTION

Ten years after WTO Members unanimously reaffirmed their right to use TRIPS flexibilities for public health objectives through the Doha Declaration, certain governments and pharmaceutical companies are actively undermining the right and attempts of countries to use them. While the United States, the EU and Japan, among others, continue to undermine the Doha Declaration, they are attempting to increase IP enforcement in other forums as well-including the World Health Assembly, World Intellectual Property Organization, the World Customs Union and Interpol. Some high-income countries are also demanding that developing countries adopt commitments more stringent than those in TRIPS—so-called "TRIPS-plus provisions" in bilateral or plurilateral free trade agreements.

#### Stepped-up enforcement

Unilateral laws and policies by a number of developed countries stymie the efforts of developing countries to broaden treatment access. For instance, the EU adopted border regulations<sup>450</sup> that resulted in the seizure or temporary detention of at least 17 shipments of generic medicines, most of them Indian, in

2007 and 2008. The shipments were seized on the grounds that they violated patents and trademarks in Europe, even though the products were destined for countries in which they would infringe no IP rights. The result was a disruption in the supply chain of legitimate generics, including HIV medicines, and likely cost increases due to changes in shipping patterns.<sup>451</sup>

Attention to IP enforcement is growing, as perverse as that may seem. One result is the recently concluded Anti-Counterfeiting Trade Agreement (ACTA), negotiated among a select group of predominantly high-income countries,<sup>452</sup> with very little official information made available outside the group on the substance of the negotiations.<sup>453</sup> The recently signed ACTA—whose completion the G8 nations have strongly pushed—adds a layer of IP protection significantly exceeding what is required by TRIPS. It is feared this could greatly threaten treatment access.<sup>454</sup> ACTA caused such controversy that on 4 July 2012, the European Parliament declined to ratify European Union participation in the Agreement.<sup>455</sup>

#### Anti-counterfeiting laws

The recent proliferation of anti-counterfeiting legislation in East Africa, promoted by multinational pharmaceutical companies, reflects the increasing conflation of generic with counterfeit drugs— substandard formulations that endanger people who take them<sup>456</sup>—and the myth that generics are inferior to originator brands. In 2008, with support and applause from the multinational pharmaceutical industry, Kenya enacted a law that purported to address drug counterfeiting, but in fact dramatically expanded IP enforcement.<sup>457</sup> Such laws are dangerous to countries in East Africa, which rely heavily on generic medicines.<sup>458</sup> In fact, the laws alone do nothing to

address the real problem of substandard medicines. Defective medicines mistakenly manufactured by a patent holder do not infringe the patent but are certainly public health hazards; an inspection by customs officials cannot reveal the defect. Drug quality, safety and efficacy issues have nothing to do with IP. They fall within the ambit of drug regulatory authorities and should be implemented by them.<sup>459</sup> A recent judgment from the High Court of Kenya confirmed an earlier order preventing the implementation of the 2008 Anti-Counterfeit Act on the basis that the definition of "anti-counterfeit" within the Act did not clearly distinguish between counterfeit and generic medicines and thus could undermine access to affordable generic medicines. In her judgment, Lady Justice Ngugi ruled that intellectual property should not override the right to life, right to health and right to human dignity outlined in the 2010 Kenyan Constitution.460

#### Free trade agreements

Free trade agreements (FTAs) and economic partnership agreements (EPAs) containing TRIPSplus standards also threaten access to medicines. A case in point is the United States-promoted Transpacific Partnership Agreement (TPPA). Among other terms friendly to the United States pharmaceutical industry, the proposed patenting standards would allow patenting of new forms, new uses and new formulation of existing medicine; extend patent terms; and restrict the use of price control mechanisms. In another example, the proposed EU-India FTA would shrink the latitude of countries to adopt policies promoting the production and distribution of generic medicines. The United States trade stance, which threatens access to affordable medicines for millions of the world's poorest people, is egregious given President Barack Obama's professed commitments to increased economic equality and access to health care in the United States.

These TRIPS-plus provisions can be budget breaking, even for high-income countries.<sup>461</sup>

#### FREE TRADE, MOUNTING CONSTRAINTS



Source: World Trade Organization's website (WTO: www.wto.org), accessed by UNDP in 2012.

Canada is currently negotiating an FTA with the EU that could add a projected CDN\$ 2.8-billion a year in extra costs to Canadian drug plans if various TRIPS-plus provisions are adopted.<sup>462</sup> For countries with limited resources, the burden can be crushing. The US-CAFTA agreement, according to some projections, will increase Costa Rica's public spending on ARVs at least 50% by 2030. Developing country governments negotiating FTAs are often forced to accept these IP terms in exchange for market access for their goods. Eager as they are for trade, low- and middle-income country governments must not be forced to exchange the "highest attainable standard of health" for access to developed country markets.

#### **CHANGING VALUES, NEW INCENTIVES**

TRIPS was meant to strike a balance between the rights of innovators and the rights of consumers. In reality, the balance has tipped dangerously in favour of the rights holders. To be sure, the research and development pipeline must remain open for future

#### **"DEAD WEIGHT COSTS" & ACTUAL DEATHS**

Today's patent systems and the international agreements are intended to encourage innovation and reward inventors for their investments. But if the US experience is typical, they have not always succeeded in doing so. In other ways, however, the agreements are working as designed—that is, to enable producers of patented drugs to recover costs and generate monopoly profits by charging supra-competitive prices, which will be covered by consumers, governments or health insurance providers. What the IP regime does not factor in is that the majority of medicine purchases are made out of pocket in low- and middle-income countries by governments with limited health budgets. Accordingly, high prices create—in economic language—"dead-weight costs", which, in the context of medicines, result in actual deaths.

treatments; current treatments for HIV infection, albeit effective, need continual improvement to make them less toxic and more effective, with less drug resistance and fewer adverse side effects. Treatments and medical technologies must be suitable for the specific needs of developing countries—such as formulations for children and diagnostics that can be used where care is dispensed, especially important where people must travel long distances to a health care provider.<sup>463</sup> But there is a pernicious myth at work. The myth is that stringent IP protection and enforcement are the necessary and unique means of encouraging the development of new pharmaceutical products.<sup>464</sup> The evidence belies this claim. What has the patent-based free market produced? Sometimes, life-saving and life-enhancing innovations, such as new drugs for hypertension and diabetes. But often, pharmaceutical companies produce boutique



#### **BOOSTING INNOVATION?**

Source: US Food and Drug Administration's website (www.fda.gov), accessed by UNDP in 2012.

drugs to address the problems of people in wealthy countries—acne, wrinkles, restless leg syndrome, erectile dysfunction—and thousands of products and processes that offer only minor modifications of existing drugs or new uses of existing ones.<sup>465</sup> According to a report of the United States National Institute for Health Care Management, from 1989 to 2000, only 15% of all new drug approvals were for medicines that provide a significant clinical improvement.<sup>466</sup>

In the meantime, research and development (R&D) departments have neglected tropical diseases that sicken and kill millions because the potential consumers are poor. Indeed, in 2006 the WHO Commission on Intellectual Property, Innovation and Public Health asserted: "For diseases affecting millions of poor people in developing countries, patents are not a relevant factor or effective in stimulating R&D and bringing new products to the market."<sup>467</sup>

Proposals and programmes for improving the environment for innovation and access vary. The Global Fund and the United States President's Emergency Program for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) have created economic incentives for the development of generic drugs where patent bars do not exist or have been overcome. With increased generic competition and economies of scale in production, prices come down.468 Recently, thirteen major pharmaceutical companies, with support from the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, the World Bank and other donors, pledged to invest in R&D to eliminate or control ten neglected tropical diseases in low-income countries, including river blindness and sleeping sickness, by 2020. The companies will also donate more existing drugs to countries in need 469

These are decent, modest initiatives, but they cannot pretend to undo the damage done by



Source: UNAIDS/0. O'Hanlon/Cambodia

TRIPS. Drug donations do not offer sustainable solutions; they leave the underlying problems unresolved. Innovation prize funds, a binding international treaty on R&D and open source drug discovery are initiatives that include some of the most promising proposals being studied by the Consultative Expert Working Group of the WHO.<sup>470</sup> A recent report of the WHO Consultative Expert Working Group has called for countries to start negotiations on a binding international treaty on R&D.<sup>471</sup> These nascent ideas hold the potential to yield more collaboration or broader access. In any scenario, it is essential that low- and middle-income countries participate meaningfully in this discussion.<sup>472</sup>

But the crisis regarding access to medicines is not just a technical problem. It is an issue of law and politics. Many analysts question the most basic political, economic and moral assumptions underlying the reliance on TRIPS-based IP regimes as the mechanism to focus needed R&D for HIV drugs. They question whether the research silos and secrecy that mark phases of the IP-based system serve the interests of more efficient and scientifically rigorous research. They challenge the inclusion of pharmaceutical products in the same regime as movies and software and the perverse incentives in which the guest for lifesaving medicines is mobilised by maximal profits for pharmaceutical monopolies rather than the unmet health needs of millions.

### RECOMMENDATIONS

To ensure an effective, sustainable response to HIV that is consistent with human rights obligations:

- 6.1. The UN Secretary-General must convene a neutral, high-level body to review and assess proposals and recommend a new intellectual property regime for pharmaceutical products. Such a regime should be consistent with international human rights law and public health requirements, while safeguarding the justifiable rights of inventors. Such a body should include representation from the High Commissioner on Human Rights, WHO, WTO, UNDP, UNAIDS and WIPO, as well as the Special Rapporteur on the Right to Health, key technical agencies and experts, and private sector and civil society representatives, including people living with HIV. This re-evaluation, based on human rights, should take into account and build on efforts underway at WHO, such as its Global Strategy and Plan of Action on Public Health, Innovation, and Intellectual Property and the work of its Consultative Expert Working Group. Pending this review, the WTO Members must suspend TRIPS as it relates to essential pharmaceutical products for low- and middle-income countries.
- 6.2. High-income countries, including donors such as the United States, European Union, the European Free Trade Association countries (Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway and Switzerland) and Japan must immediately stop pressuring low- and middle-income countries to adopt or implement TRIPS-plus measures in trade agreements that impede access to life-saving treatment.
  - 6.2.1 All countries must immediately adopt and observe a global moratorium on the inclusion of any intellectual property provisions in any international treaty that would limit the ability of countries to retain policy options to reduce the cost of HIV-related treatment. Agreements such as the Anti-Counterfeiting Trade Agreement (ACTA) must be reformed; if ACTA is not reformed to exclude such intellectual property provisions, countries should not sign it. All countries must cease unilateral practices to this same, access-limiting end.
  - 6.2.2 High-income countries must stop seeking to impose more stringent, TRIPS-plus intellectual property obligations on developing country governments. High income countries must also desist from retaliating against countries that resist adopting such TRIPS-plus measures so that they may achieve better access to treatment.
- 6.3. While the Commission recommends that WTO Members must urgently suspend TRIPS as it relates to essential pharmaceutical products for low- and middle-income countries, we recognise that such change will not happen overnight. In the interim, even though individual countries may find it difficult to act in the face of political pressure, they should, to the extent possible, incorporate and use TRIPS flexibilities, consistent with safeguards in their own national laws.
  - 6.3.1 Low- and middle-income countries must not be subject to political and legal pressure aimed at preventing them from using TRIPS flexibilities to ensure that infants, children and adolescents living with HIV have equal access to HIV diagnosis and age-appropriate treatment as adults.
  - 6.3.2 It is critical that both countries with significant manufacturing capacity and those reliant on the importation of pharmaceutical products retain the policy space to use TRIPS flexibilities as broadly and simply as they can. Lowand middle-income countries must facilitate collaboration and sharing of technical expertise in pursuing the full use of TRIPS exceptions (for instance, by issuing compulsory licences for ARVs and medicines for co-infections

such as hepatitis C). Both importer and exporter countries must adopt straightforward, easy-to-use domestic provisions to facilitate the use of TRIPS flexibilities.

- 6.3.3 Developing countries should desist from adopting TRIPS-plus provisions including anti-counterfeiting legislation that inaccurately conflates the problem of counterfeit or substandard medicines with generics and thus impedes access to affordable HIV-related treatment.
- 6.3.4 Countries must proactively use other areas of law and policy such as competition law, price control policy and procurement law which can help increase access to pharmaceutical products.
- 6.4. The WTO Members must indefinitely extend the exemption for LDCs from the application of TRIPS provisions in the case of pharmaceutical products. The UN and its member states must mobilise adequate resources to support LDCs to retain this policy latitude.
- 6.5. The August 30, 2003 Decision of the WTO General Council has not proved to be a viable solution for countries with insufficient pharmaceutical manufacturing capacity. It is essential that the system established by that decision be revised or supplemented with a new mechanism, to allow the easier import of pharmaceutical products produced under compulsory licence. WTO Members should desist from ratifying the adoption of the August 30, 2003 Decision as a new Article 31 bis of the TRIPS Agreement, and they must pursue efforts to reform or replace the system.
- 6.6. TRIPS has failed to encourage and reward the kind of innovation that makes more effective pharmaceutical products available to the poor, including for neglected diseases. Countries must therefore develop, agree and invest in new systems that genuinely serve this purpose, prioritising the most promising approaches including a new pharmaceutical R&D treaty and the promotion of open source discovery.

## CONCLUSION

In the 21st century, HIV is a manageable chronic condition—for some. However, like other preventable and remediable afflictions such as —pneumonia, diarrhoea, malnutrition—it continues to sicken and kill far too many people who are vulnerable or marginalised.

From the beginning, the response to this epidemic has been driven by people living with HIV, populations disproportionately affected by AIDS, and their families and loved ones. Their tenacity, activism, creativity and solidarity created "safe sex" and "harm reduction", pushed for medical and scientific advances and led to the rapid scale-up of international financing for the response to AIDS over the past decade. They provided the Commission with compelling evidence about how good laws and meaningful respect for human rights can foster the effective HIV responses necessary for sustainable development.

The world can always benefit from more evidence and from better tools and technologies. An "Investment Framework" published in 2011<sup>473</sup> demonstrates that modestly increasing and better targeting financial investments in HIV responses can turn the tide on the global epidemic over the next few years. New technology would be helpful, but establishing an enabling legal environment is of paramount importance—if money is not to be wasted.

The UNAIDS Reference Group on HIV and Human Rights recently argued that the "funding crisis is the most important human rights issue in the HIV response at this time. Paradoxically, funding is being flat-lined or reduced just as science, medicine and programmes are providing the tools for success against HIV."<sup>474</sup> Countries and international funding organisations must restore and boost the flow of resources to the HIV response. They must craft strategies from the best public health evidence and not be driven by ideologies. They must be realistic about the exigencies of lives limited by a paucity of choices. And they must respect the experience and intelligence of people living with HIV and their advocates.

In extending foreign aid and allocating domestic resources, governments must understand that the millions they invest in humane HIV responses can be quickly negated by political and material support provided to repressive legal environments in those same countries. Multilateral trade bodies cannot operate as if medicines were commodities like software or movies. Civil society must demand that the corporate quest for profits in trade agreements be subject to the requirements of universal human rights.

The world is porous. Oil, food, digitised data, capital and conflicts flow over borders—and so, ceaselessly, do people. HIV cannot be quarantined socially, economically or medically. The Commission's recommendations exhort governments, donors, civil society, religious institutions and the United Nations to take up their obligations as world citizens who uphold human rights and hold each other accountable in doing everything possible to end AIDS.

Governments, in creating the legal environments that will enable the most effective and humane HIV responses, must honour the commitments they have made in international human rights agreements and in their own legislative bodies, and then go

further. The three elements of legal environments—law, enforcement and access to justice—are interdependent. It is best to pursue all three in simultaneous and coordinated fashion; contradictory laws and practices have gnarled efforts to combat HIV almost as much as have laws that are hostile or absent. But where governments are fragile and resources few, it is always worthwhile to work on one or two fronts, creating space to address all three in time. And even where legal reform may be deemed too complex and challenging, governments must protect human rights, punish police violence and support programmes to challenge stigma and discrimination against people with HIV, other key populations and those who are vulnerable.

Finally, religious institutions must be inspired by their best spirits and their ideals of love, compassion and service to others - common to all of the world's spiritual traditions. If they do not, they will stand on the side of what can only be called evil: condemning others to illness and death because of their sexualities or identities, their occupations or even their frailties.

Human immunodeficiency virus: its first name is "human". To defeat it, the world and its laws must embrace and promote what every living person shares: the fragile, immensely potent human rights to equality, dignity and health.

The law can have a profound impact on the lives of people. Many of the successes in mitigating the causes and consequences of HIV have taken root where laws have been used to protect the human rights of the marginalised and disempowered. For example, in some countries anti-discrimination laws have helped people living with HIV keep their jobs and their homes and look after their families. Laws to protect confidentiality have contributed to increasing confidence in health systems, encouraging people to learn their HIV status and to access HIV prevention and treatment. Legal guarantees of equal inheritance and property for women and girls have helped to mitigate the social and economic burdens of HIV. Still in many countries across the globe, the legal environment is presenting significant challenges for effective HIV responses, and preventing access to lifesaving HIV treatment. Every day, people living with HIV, including sex workers, drug users, men who have sex with men, and transgender people, continue to suffer stigma, discrimination and violence. Laws and practices that discriminate against women or fail to protect their rights to be free from violence make women particularly vulnerable to HIV. While the rhetoric of rights based HIV responses has grown and there have been some success in advancing enabling legal frameworks in the context of HIV, human rights violations also continue with impunity. Globally, HIV responses are at a critical juncture, where an objective, independent analysis of the relationships between legal environments and HIV which provides concrete policy options for countries and communities could shape the next generation of AIDS, health and development responses. Consequently, the Programme Coordinating Board of Joint UN Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) tasked

the United Nations Development Programme, (UNDP), on behalf of the UNAIDS family, to establish an independent Commission on HIV and the Law.

The Global Commission on HIV and the Law aims to develop actionable, evidence-informed and human rights-based recommendations for effective HIV responses that promote and protect the human rights of people living with and most vulnerable to HIV. The Global Commission on HIV and the Law will interrogate the relationship between legal environments, human rights and HIV. The Commission will also focus on some of the most challenging legal issues in the context of HIV, including criminalisation of HIV transmission and behaviours and practices such as drug use, sex work and same-sex relations, legal and social status of women and access to HIV prevention and treatment services. The Global Commission on HIV and the Law will contribute to ensuring that law, human rights and HIV receive the interrogation and exposition necessary to facilitate universal access to HIV prevention, treatment, care and support in order to achieve the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). Over a period of 18 months, the Global Commission on HIV and the Law will carry out the followina:

 Analyse existing evidence on the relationships between legal environments and HIV, including an assessment of the current legal environments in countries, both punitive and enabling, and their impact on the lives of people living with HIV, key populations such as sex workers, people who use drugs, men who have sex with men, transgender people, and others who are vulnerable to and affected by HIV;

- Assess the medium and long term impacts of both punitive and enabling legal environments on HIV, health and development responses at country, regional and global levels;
- Consider the perspectives and experiences of governments, law and policy makers, law enforcers, civil society including those most marginalised and affected by HIV and communities; and
- Provide evidence-informed and actionable recommendations on legislative and policy reforms that need to be adopted at country,

regional and global levels in order to mitigate the impact of HIV on individuals, households, and communities.

The findings and recommendations of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law will be summarized in a report that will be widely disseminated to national governments, civil society - especially people living with HIV and other key populations, and communities affected by HIV, the UN system especially the UNAIDS Cosponsors and UNAIDS Secretariat, and bilateral and multilateral donors, for effective implementation and monitoring.

# COMMISSIONER BIOGRAPHIES

#### Full biographies can be found on-line at www.hivlawcommission.org

## 1. President Fernando Henrique Cardoso (Brazil) – Chair

Fernando Henrique was the President of Brazil from 1995 to 2002. During this time, Brazil became one of the first developing countries to provide free anti-retroviral treatment to its citizens. Prior to this, he served as the Minister of Foreign Relations and Minister of Finance. In May 2012, it was announced that Fernando Henrique Cardoso would be awarded the John W. Kluge Prize for lifetime intellectual achievement in the humanities and social sciences.

## 2. His Excellency Mr. Festus Gontebanye Mogae (Botswana)

Festus Gontebayne Mogae was the president of the Republic of Botswana from 1998 to 2008. During this time, Botswana became the first African country to provide free anti-retroviral treatment to its citizens. Festus Gontebayne Mogae is Chairman of Champions for a HIV-Free Generation and is credited for being one of the first African leaders to publicly take a HIV test.

## 3. Ms. Ana Helena Chacon-Echeverria (Costa Rica)

Ana Helena Chacon-Echeverria has been the Coordinator of the Costa Rican Parliamentarian Group, Minister of Public Security and a Congresswoman. She has also been the vicepresident of the Inter-American Parliamentary Group. She is a long-time advocate for women's rights and rights of disabled people.

#### 4. Mr. Charles Chauvel (New Zealand)

Charles Chauvel is a Member of Parliament in New Zealand. He is the shadow Attorney General and the Labour Party spokesperson for Justice and Arts, Culture & Heritage. He has also served on the New Zealand Public Health Commission and was a member of the New Zealand AIDS Foundation.

#### 5. Dr. Shereen El Feki (Egypt) – Vice Chair

Shereen El Feki is an academic, writer and broadcaster whose current research focuses on sexual and reproductive health and life in the Arab region. She was also the Healthcare Correspondent for The Economist.

#### 6. Ms. Bience Gawanas (Namibia)

Bience Gawanas was elected as the African Union Commissioner for Social Affairs. From 1991-1996, Bience Gawanas was a full time member of the Public Service Commission of Namibia. She was appointed Ombudswoman of Namibia in 1996 and held that position until 2003.

#### 7. Hon. Dame Carole Kidu (Papua New Guinea)

Carol Kidu is the Leader of the Opposition in Papua New Guinea. She has been a Member of Parliament since 1997 and is the only woman in the 109 member Papua New Guinea Parliament. In addition to leading key legislative reforms, she has served as Minster of Community Development.

#### 8. The Hon. Michael Kirby (Australia)

Michael Kirby was a judge in the High Court of Australia from 1996 - 2009. He also served as the Chairman of the Australian Law Reform Commission, the President of the International Commission of Jurists and the Special Representative of the United Nations Secretary General for Human Rights in Cambodia.

#### 9. Hon. Barbara Lee (United States)

Barbara Lee has been a member of the United States Congress for over a decade. She was a co-author of the landmark legislation that created the President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief and has played a pivotal role in increasing domestic funding for HIV programmes, including the Minority AIDS Initiative.

#### 10. Mr. Stephen Lewis (Canada)

Stephen Lewis is the co-founder of AIDS Free-World, an international advocacy organisation to promote a more urgent and effective response to HIV. He was the United Nations Secretary General's Special Envoy for HIV/AIDS in Africa from 2001 - 2006. Stephen has also served as the Canadian Ambassador to the United Nations.

#### 11. Professor Sylvia Tamale (Uganda)

Sylvia Tamale is a leading African feminist lawyer and scholar based in Uganda. She is a human rights defender and an advocate for the rights of women and marginalised communities. She has served as the Dean of the Faculty of Law at Makarere University.

#### 12. Mr. Jon Ungphakorn (Thailand)

Jon Ungphakorn is a former Senator for Bangkok. His career has been dedicated to human rights and development issues in Thailand. He is currently the Vice-Chairperson of the Thai Foundation for AIDS Rights and a member of the Board of Governors of the Thai Public Broadcasting Service.

#### 13. Professor Miriam K. Were (Kenya)

Miriam Were has been the Chair of the Kenya National AIDS Control Council and the African Medical and Research Foundation. She is a cofounder of UZIMA foundation - an organisation focusing on youth empowerment and HIV, and a member of Champions for a HIV-Free Generation.

#### 14. Mr. JVR Prasada Rao (India) – Member Secretary

Mr. JVR Prasada Rao was the Director of India's National AIDS Control Programme from 1997 -2002. He also served as Permanent Secretary in the Ministry of Health, Government of India and the Director of the UNAIDS Regional Support Team for Asia-Pacific. Mr. JVR Prasada Rao served as the Member Secretary of the Commission on AIDS in Asia and the Commission on AIDS in the Pacific. In May 2012, he was appointed the UN Secretary-General's Special Envoy for AIDS in Asia and in the Pacific.

# TECHNICAL ADVISORY GROUP BIOGRAPHIES

#### Full biographies can be found on-line at www.hivlawcommission.org

#### 1. The Hon. Michael Kirby (Co-Chair)

Michael Kirby was a judge in the High Court of Australia from 1996–2009. He also served as the Chairman of the Australian Law Reform Commission, the President of the International Commission of Jurists and the Special Representative of the United Nations Secretary General for Human Rights in Cambodia.

#### 2. Allehone Mulugeta Abebe (Co-Chair)

Allehone Mulugeta Abebe is an Ethiopian diplomat. He has a background in public health, human rights and international law. He has negotiated several multilateral, regional and international human rights instruments and resolutions. He is currently doing his doctoral research on internally displaced people in Africa.

#### 3. Aziza Ahmed

Aziza Ahmed is Assistant Professor of Law at Northeastern University in Boston, Massachusetts. Her work focuses on issues of HIV, gender, sexuality, sexual and reproductive health and rights, and the intersection of public health and criminal law.

#### 4. Jonathan Berger

Jonathan Berger is doing his pupillage in South Africa. He was a researcher at and head of policy and research at SECTION27, incorporating the AIDS Law Project. His Masters of Law degree focused on the relationship between access to HIV treatment, international trade law and constitutional law.

#### 5. Chris Beyrer

Chris Beyrer is Professor of Epidemiology, International Health and Health, Behavior and Society at Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health. He is the founder and Director of the Centre for Public Health and Human Rights at John Hopkins.

#### 6. Scott Burris

Scott Burris is a Professor of Law at Temple University, where he directs the Centre for Health Law, Policy and Practice, and the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation's Public Health Law Research program. His work focuses on how law influences public health, and what interventions can make laws and law enforcement healthier in practice.

#### 7. Joanne Csete

Joanne Csete is senior program officer for the Global Drug Policy Program, Open Society Foundations (OSF). Prior to joining OSF, she was at Columbia University's Mailman School of Public Health, where her research focused on health services for marginalised and criminalised populations, especially people who use illicit drugs, sex workers, prisoners and detainees, and people living with HIV.

#### 8. Mandeep Dhaliwal

Mandeep Dhaliwal is the Cluster Leader: Human Rights and Governance in the HIV Group at UNDP. Prior to joining UNDP, she was a senior advisor to the Dutch Royal Tropical Institute's Programme on AIDS, focusing on issues of HIV, health, human rights and law. She was the founding Coordinator of the Lawyers Collective HIV/AIDS Unit in India.

#### 9. Sophie Dilmitis

Sophie Dilmitis has been living openly with HIV for 16 years. She has extensive experience working in the AIDS and women's movements in Africa and globally. From 2006–2011, Sophie worked for the World YWCA as the Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights and HIV Coordinator.

#### 10. Vivek Divan

Vivek Divan is a lawyer from India. As the Coordinator of the Lawyers Collective HIV/ AIDS Unit in India, he was part of the team which drafted India's HIV/AIDS Bill. He was also closely involved in the research and community mobilisation work for the public interest litigation challenging India's anti-sodomy law.

#### 11. Richard Elliott

Richard Elliott is a lawyer and the Executive Director of the Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network. He currently holds a Community Leadership in Justice Fellowship from the Law Foundation of Ontario at the University of Toronto, Faculty of Law. Between 2001 and 2007, he was a member of the Ministerial Council on HIV/AIDS, an expert body advising Canada's Federal Minister of Health.

#### 12. Sofia Gruskin

Sofia Gruskin directs the Program on Global Health and Human Rights at the University of Southern California, the USC Institute for Global Health, and holds appointments as Professor of Preventive Medicine at the Keck School of Medicine and as Professor of Law and Preventive Medicine at the Gould School of Law. She is also Adjunct Professor of Global Health, Department of Global Health and Population at Harvard.

#### 13. Wendy Isaack

Wendy Isaack is a lawyer and human rights activist from South Africa. Her work has focused on women's rights, specifically violence against women, and the rights of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender people. She has been actively engaged in human rights advocacy work with the African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights.

#### 14. Rick Lines

Rick Lines is the Executive Director of Harm Reduction International. He is known for his work on prisoners' rights, harm reduction, death penalty for drug offences, drug policy, HIV. He holds Masters Degrees in Sociology and International Human Rights Law.

#### 15. Annie Madden

Annie Madden has been working in the areas of injecting drug use, HIV, hepatitis C, peer education and drug user representation for 20 years. She is the Executive Officer of the Australian Injecting & Illicit Drug Users League and a representative of the International Network of People who use Drugs.

#### 16. Kevin Moody

Kevin Moody is openly living with HIV and has been the Chief Executive Officer of the Global Network of People Living with HIV since 2006. He started his career as a pharmacist in hospital and community pharmacies and has worked with the Medecins Sans Frontieres' Campaign for Access to Essential Medicines.

#### 17. Vitit Muntarbhorn

Vitit Muntarbhorn has been working at the Chulalongkorn University's, Faculty of Law for over 30 years. He was the United Nations Special Rapporteur on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography from 1990 -1994. His work focuses on human rights issues, including the rights of sexual minorities.

#### 18. Cheryl Overs

Cheryl Overs is the founder of the Global Network of Sex Projects. As a Senior Research Fellow in the Michael Kirby Centre for Public Health and Human Rights at Monash University and a member of the Paulo Longo Research Initiative, her work focuses on the impact of economic and legal conditions on sex workers health and human rights.

#### 19. JVR Prasada Rao (Commission Member Secretary)

Mr. JVR Prasada Rao was the Director of India's National AIDS Control Programme from 1997 -2002. He also served as Permanent Secretary in the Ministry of Health, Government of India and the Director of the UNAIDS Regional Support Team for Asia-Pacific. Mr. JVR Prasada Rao served as the Member Secretary of the Commission on AIDS in Asia and the Commission on AIDS in the Pacific. In May 2012, he was appointed the UN Secretary-General's Special Envoy for AIDS in Asia and in the Pacific.

#### 20. Tracey Robinson

Tracey Robinson is a Senior Lecturer in the Faculty of Law, University of the West Indies (UWI), Cavehill, Barbados. She has published in areas of family law, gender and citizenship, legal feminism, sex work, same sex sexuality, sexual harassment and intimate domestic relationships.

#### 21. Purna Sen\*

Purna Sen directs the Programme for African Leadership at the London School of Economics. She has almost thirty years' experience on work to promote social justice, most recently as Head of Human Rights for the Commonwealth Secretariat and before that as Director for the Asia-Pacific Programme at Amnesty International. Previously she taught Gender and Development at the Development Studies Institute at the London School of Economics and worked on race equality in education.

#### 22. Susan Timberlake

Susan Timberlake is the Senior Human Rights and Law Advisor at UNAIDS. She started her career in the UN at the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) where she worked for nineteen years. At UNAIDS, her work focuses on promoting rights based approaches and enabling legal environments for HIV.

#### 23. Matthew Weait

Matthew Weait is a Professor of Law and Policy at Birkbeck College, University of London. His work focuses on the impact of law on people living with HIV, with a particular emphasis on the legal construction of responsibility and the relationship between law and human rights. He has published widely in the field of criminal law and HIV.

<sup>\*</sup> Purna Sen left the Technical Advisory Group in March 2012.

## ANNEX IV SUMMARY RECOMMENDATIONS

To ensure an effective, sustainable response to HIV that is consistent with human rights obligations:

#### 1. **DISCRIMINATION**

- 1.1. Countries must ensure that their national HIV policies, strategies, plans and programmes include effective, targeted action to support enabling legal environments, with attention to formal law, law enforcement and access to justice. Every country must repeal punitive laws and enact protective laws to protect and promote human rights, improve delivery of and access to HIV prevention and treatment, and increase the cost-effectiveness of these efforts.
- 1.2. Where they have not already done so, countries must explicitly prohibit discrimination on the basis of actual or perceived HIV status and ensure that existing human rights commitments and constitutional guarantees are enforced. Countries must also ensure that laws and regulations prohibiting discrimination and ensuring participation and the provision of information and health services protect people living with HIV, other key populations and people at risk of HIV.
- 1.3. Donors, civil society and private sector actors, and the UN should hold governments accountable to their human rights commitments. Groups outside government should develop and implement rights-based HIV-related policies and practices and fund action on HIV-related law reform, law enforcement and access to justice. Such efforts should include educating people about their rights and the law, as well as challenging stigma and discrimination within families, communities and workplaces.

#### 2. CRIMINALISATION OF HIV TRANSMISSION, EXPOSURE AND NON-DISCLOSURE

- 2.1. Countries must not enact laws that explicitly criminalise HIV transmission, HIV exposure or failure to disclose HIV status. Where such laws exist, they are counterproductive and must be repealed. The provisions of model codes that have been advanced to support the enactment of such laws should be withdrawn and amended to conform to these recommendations.
- 2.2. Law enforcement authorities must not prosecute people in cases of HIV non-disclosure or exposure where no intentional or malicious HIV transmission has been proven to take place. Invoking criminal laws in cases of adult private consensual sexual activity is disproportionate and counterproductive to enhancing public health.
- 2.3. Countries must amend or repeal any law that explicitly or effectively criminalises vertical transmission of HIV. While the process of review and repeal is under way, governments must place moratoria on enforcement of any such laws.

- 2.4. Countries may legitimately prosecute HIV transmission that was both actual and intentional, using general criminal law, but such prosecutions should be pursued with care and require a high standard of evidence and proof.
- 2.5. The convictions of those who have been successfully prosecuted for HIV exposure, non-disclosure and transmission must be reviewed. Such convictions must be set aside or the accused immediately released from prison with pardons or similar actions to ensure that these charges do not remain on criminal or sex offender records.

#### 3. KEY POPULATIONS

3. To ensure an effective, sustainable response to HIV that is consistent with human rights obligations, countries must prohibit police violence against key populations. Countries must also support programmes that reduce stigma and discrimination against key populations and protect their rights.

#### **PEOPLE WHO USE DRUGS**

- 3.1. Countries must reform their approach towards drug use. Rather than punishing people who use drugs who do no harm to others, they must offer them access to effective HIV and health services, including harm reduction and voluntary, evidence-based treatment for drug dependence. Countries must:
  - 3.1.1 Shut down all compulsory drug detention centres for people who use drugs and replace them with evidencebased, voluntary services for treating drug dependence.
  - 3.1.2 Abolish national registries of drug users, mandatory and compulsory HIV testing and forced treatment for people who use drugs.
  - 3.1.3 Repeal punitive conditions such as the United States government's federal ban on funding of needle and syringe exchange programmes that inhibit access to HIV services for people who use drugs.
  - 3.1.4 Decriminalise the possession of drugs for personal use, in recognition that the net impact of such sanctions is often harmful for society.
  - 3.1.5 Take decisive action, in partnership with the UN, to review and reform relevant international laws and bodies in line with the principles outlined above, including the UN international drug control conventions: the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs (1961); Convention on Psychotropic Substances (1971); the Convention against the Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances (1988) and the International Narcotics Control Board.

#### **SEX WORKERS**

- 3.2. Countries must reform their approach towards sex work. Rather than punishing consenting adults involved in sex work, countries must ensure safe working conditions and offer sex workers and their clients access to effective HIV and health services and commodities. Countries must:
  - 3.2.1 Repeal laws that prohibit consenting adults to buy or sell sex, as well as laws that otherwise prohibit commercial sex, such as laws against "immoral" earnings, "living off the earnings" of prostitution and brothel-keeping. Complementary legal measures must be taken to ensure safe working conditions to sex workers.
  - 3.2.2 Take all measures to stop police harassment and violence against sex workers.
  - 3.2.3 Prohibit the mandatory HIV and STI testing of sex workers.
  - 3.2.4 Ensure that the enforcement of anti-human-trafficking laws is carefully targeted to punish those who use force, dishonesty or coercion to procure people into commercial sex, or who abuse migrant sex workers through debt bondage, violence or by deprivation of liberty. Anti-human-trafficking laws must be used to prohibit sexual exploitation and they must not be used against adults involved in consensual sex work.
  - 3.2.5 Enforce laws against all forms of child sexual abuse and sexual exploitation, clearly differentiating such crimes from consensual adult sex work.
  - 3.2.6 Ensure that existing civil and administrative offences such as "loitering without purpose", "public nuisance", and "public morality" are not used to penalise sex workers and administrative laws such as "move on" powers are not used to harass sex workers.
  - 3.2.7 Shut down all compulsory detention or "rehabilitation" centers for people involved in sex work or for children who have been sexually exploited. Instead, provide sex workers with evidence-based, voluntary, community empowerment services. Provide sexually exploited children with protection in safe and empowering family settings, selected based on the best interests of the child.
  - 3.2.8 Repeal punitive conditions in official development assistance—such as the United States government's PEPFAR anti-prostitution pledge and its current anti-trafficking regulations—that inhibit sex workers' access to HIV services or their ability to form organisations in their own interests.
  - 3.2.9 Take decisive action to review and reform relevant international law in line with the principles outlined above, including the UN Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children (2000).

#### MEN WHO HAVE SEX WITH MEN

- 3.3. Countries must reform their approach towards sexual diversity. Rather than punishing consenting adults involved in same sex activity, countries must offer such people access to effective HIV and health services and commodities. Countries must:
  - 3.3.1 Repeal all laws that criminalise consensual sex between adults of the same sex and/or laws that punish homosexual identity.
  - 3.3.2 Respect existing civil and religious laws and guarantees relating to privacy.
  - 3.3.3 Remove legal, regulatory and administrative barriers to the formation of community organisations by or for gay men, lesbians and/or bisexual people.
  - 3.3.4 Amend anti-discrimination laws expressly to prohibit discrimination based on sexual orientation (as well as gender identity).
  - 3.3.5 Promote effective measures to prevent violence against men who have sex with men.

#### **TRANSGENDER PERSONS**

- 3.4. Countries must reform their approach towards transgender people. Rather than punishing transgender people, countries must offer transgender people access to effective HIV and health services and commodities as well as repealing all laws that criminalise transgender identity or associated behaviours. Countries must:
  - 3.4.1 Respect existing civil and religious laws and guarantees related to the right to privacy.
  - 3.4.2 Repeal all laws that punish cross-dressing.
  - 3.4.3 Remove legal, regulatory or administrative barriers to formation of community organisations by or for transgender people.
  - 3.4.4 Amend national anti-discrimination laws to explicitly prohibit discrimination based on gender identity (as well as sexual orientation).
  - 3.4.5 Ensure transgender people are able to have their affirmed gender recognised in identification documents, without the need for prior medical procedures such as sterilisation, sex reassignment surgery or hormonal therapy.

#### **PRISONERS**

- 3.5.1 Necessary health care is available, including HIV prevention and care services, regardless of laws criminalising same-sex acts or harm reduction. Such care includes provision of condoms, comprehensive harm reduction services, voluntary and evidence-based treatment for drug dependence and ART.
- 3.5.2 Any treatment offered must satisfy international standards of quality of care in detention settings. Health care services, including those specifically related to drug use and HIV, must be evidence-based, voluntary and offered only where clinically indicated.

#### **MIGRANTS**

- 3.6.1 In matters relating to HIV and the law, countries should offer the same standard of protection to migrants, visitors and residents who are not citizens as they do to their own citizens.
- 3.6.2 Countries must repeal travel and other restrictions that prohibit people living with HIV from entering a country and/or regulations that mandate HIV tests for foreigners within a country.
- 3.6.3 Countries must implement regulatory reform to allow for legal registration of migrants with health services and to ensure that migrants can access the same quality of HIV prevention, treatment and care services and commodities that are available to citizens. All HIV testing and STI screening for migrants must be informed and voluntary, and all treatment and prophylaxis for migrants must be ethical and medically indicated.

#### 4. WOMEN

- 4.1. Countries must act to end all forms of violence against women and girls, including in conflict situations and postconflict settings. They must:
  - 4.1.1 Enact and enforce specific laws that prohibit domestic violence, rape and other forms of sexual assault, including marital rape and rape related to conflict, whether perpetrated against females, males or transgender persons.
  - 4.1.2 Take judicial or legislative steps to remove any immunity–or interpreted immunity–from prosecution for rape when the perpetrator is a married or unmarried partner.
  - 4.1.3 Fully enforce existing laws meant to protect women and girls from violence, and prosecute perpetrators of violence against women and girls to the full extent of the law.

- 4.1.4 Formulate and implement comprehensive, fully resourced national strategies to eliminate violence against women and girls, which include robust mechanisms to prevent, investigate and punish violence. Provision of health services, including post-exposure prophylaxis, legal services and social protection for survivors of violence, must be guaranteed.
- 4.2. Countries must prohibit and governments must take measures to stop the practice of forced abortion and coerced sterilisation of HIV-positive women and girls, as well as all other forms of violence against women and girls in health care settings.
- 4.3. Countries must remove legal barriers that impede women's access to sexual and reproductive health services. They must ensure that:
  - 4.3.1 Health care workers provide women with full information on sexual and reproductive options and ensure that women can provide informed consent in all matters relating to their health. The law must ensure access to safe contraception and support women in deciding freely whether and when to have children, including the number, spacing and methods of their children's births.
  - 4.3.2 Health care workers are trained on informed consent, confidentiality and non-discrimination.
  - 4.3.3 Accessible complaints and redress mechanisms are available in health care settings.
- 4.4. Countries must reform property and inheritance laws to mandate that women and men have equal access to property and other economic resources, including credit. They must take measures to ensure that in practice property is divided without gender discrimination upon separation, divorce or death and establish a presumption of spousal co-ownership of family property. Where property and inheritance practices are influenced or determined by religious or customary legal systems, the leaders of these systems must make reforms to protect women, including widows and orphans.
- 4.5. Countries must ensure that social protection measures recognise and respond to the needs of HIV-positive women and women whose husbands have died of AIDS and that labour laws, social protection and health services respond to the needs of women who take on caregiving roles in HIV-affected households.
- 4.6. Countries must ensure that laws prohibiting early marriage are enacted and enforced.
- 4.7. The enforcers of religious and customary laws must prohibit practices that increase HIV risk, such as widow inheritance, "widow cleansing" and female genital mutilation.

#### 5. CHILDREN AND YOUTH

- 5.1. Countries must enact and enforce laws that:
  - 5.1.1 Ensure that the birth of every child is registered. This is crucial for supporting children's access to essential services. Ensure that their rights are protected and promoted, as per the Convention on the Rights of the Child.
  - 5.1.2 Ensure that every orphaned child is appointed an appropriate adult guardian. This includes provisions for transfer of guardianship of AIDS orphans from deceased parents to adults or older siblings who can ensure their well-being. In selecting a guardian, preference should be given to adults from the biological or extended families. HIV-positive adults who are otherwise in good health should not be prohibited from adopting children.
  - 5.1.3 Support community-based foster care for children orphaned by AIDS as an alternative to institutionalization, when formal adoption is not possible or appropriate.
  - 5.1.4 Ensure HIV-sensitive social protections as required, such as direct cash transfers for affected children and their guardians.
  - 5.1.5 Prohibit discrimination against children living with or affected by HIV, especially in the context of adoption, health and education. Take strict measures to ensure that schools do not bar or expel HIV-positive children or children from families affected by AIDS.
- 5.2. Countries must enact and enforce laws to ensure that children orphaned by AIDS inherit parental property. Children orphaned by AIDS should inherit regardless of their sex, HIV status or the HIV status of family members. Such enforcement includes:
  - 5.2.1 Collaboration with the enforcers of religious and customary laws to ensure justice for children orphaned by AIDS.
  - 5.2.2 Reconciliation of conflicts between discriminatory customary laws and traditional practices and international human rights standards to ensure compliance with international law.
- 5.3. Countries must enact and enforce laws ensuring the right of every child, in or out of school, to comprehensive sexual health education, so that they may protect themselves and others from HIV infection or live positively with HIV.
- 5.4. Sexually active young people must have confidential and independent access to health services so as to protect themselves from HIV. Therefore, countries must reform laws to ensure that the age of consent for autonomous access to HIV and sexual and reproductive health services is equal to or lower than the age of consent for sexual relations. Young people who use drugs must also have legal and safe access to HIV and health services.



- 6.1. The UN Secretary General must convene a neutral, high-level body to review and assess proposals and recommend a new intellectual property regime for pharmaceutical products. Such a regime should be consistent with international human rights law and public health requirements, while safeguarding the justifiable rights of inventors. Such a body should include representation from the High Commissioner on Human Rights, WHO, WTO, UNDP, UNAIDS and WIPO, as well as the Special Rapporteur on the Right to Health, key technical agencies and experts, and private sector and civil society representatives, including people living with HIV. This re-evaluation, based on human rights, should take into account and build on efforts underway at WHO, such as its Global Strategy and Plan of Action on Public Health, Innovation, and Intellectual Property and the work of its Consultative Expert Working Group. Pending this review, the WTO must suspend TRIPS as it relates to essential pharmaceutical products for low- and middle-income countries.
- 6.2. High-income countries, including donors such as the United States, European Union, the European Free Trade Association countries (Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway and Switzerland) and Japan must immediately stop pressuring low- and middle-income countries to adopt or implement TRIPS-plus measures in trade agreements that impede access to life-saving treatment.
  - 6.2.1 All countries must immediately adopt and observe a global moratorium on the inclusion of any intellectual property provisions in any international treaty that would limit the ability of countries to retain policy options to reduce the cost of HIV-related treatment. Agreements such as the Anti-Counterfeiting Trade Agreement (ACTA) must be reformed; if ACTA is not reformed to exclude such intellectual property provisions, countries should not sign it. All countries must cease unilateral practices to this same, access-limiting end.
  - 6.2.2 High-income countries must stop seeking to impose more stringent, TRIPS-plus intellectual property obligations on developing country governments. High-income countries must also desist from retaliating against countries that resist adopting such TRIPS-plus measures so that they may achieve better access to treatment.
- 6.3. While the Commission recommends that WTO Members must urgently suspend TRIPS as it relates to essential pharmaceutical products for low and middle income countries, we recognise that such change will not happen overnight. In the interim, even though individual countries may find it difficult to act in the face of political pressure, they should, to the extent possible, incorporate and use TRIPS flexibilities, consistent with safeguards in their own national laws.
  - 6.3.1 Low- and middle-income countries must not be subject to political and legal pressure aimed at preventing them from using TRIPS flexibilities to ensure that infants, children and adolescents living with HIV have equal access to HIV diagnosis and age-appropriate treatment as adults.

- 6.3.2 It is critical that both countries with significant manufacturing capacity and those reliant on the importation of pharmaceutical products retain the policy space to use TRIPS flexibilities as broadly and simply as they can. Low- and middle-income countries must facilitate collaboration and sharing of technical expertise in pursuing the full use of TRIPS exceptions (for instance, by issuing compulsory licences for ARVs and medicines for co-infections such as hepatitis C). Both importer and exporter countries must adopt straightforward, easy-to-use domestic provisions to facilitate the use of TRIPS flexibilities.
- 6.3.3 Developing countries should desist from adopting TRIPS-plus provisions including anti-counterfeiting legislation that inaccurately conflates the problem of counterfeit or substandard medicines with generics and thus impedes access to affordable HIV-related treatment.
- 6.3.4 Countries must proactively use other areas of law and policy such as competition law, price control policy and procurement law which can help increase access to pharmaceutical products.
- 6.4. The WTO Members must indefinitely extend the exemption for LDCs from the application of TRIPS provisions in the case of pharmaceutical products. The UN and its member states must mobilise adequate resources to support LDCs to retain this policy latitude.
- 6.5. The August 30, 2003 Decision of the WTO General Council has not proved to be a viable solution for countries with insufficient pharmaceutical manufacturing capacity. It is essential that the system established by that decision be revised or supplemented with a new mechanism, to allow the easier import of pharmaceutical products produced under compulsory licence. WTO Members should desist from ratifying the adoption of the August 30, 2003 Decision as a new Article 31 bis of the TRIPS Agreement, and they must pursue efforts to reform or replace the system.
- 6.6. TRIPS has failed to encourage and reward the kind of innovation that makes more effective pharmaceutical products available to the poor, including for neglected diseases. Countries must therefore develop, agree and invest in new systems that genuinely serve this purpose, prioritising the most promising approaches including a new pharmaceutical R&D treaty and the promotion of open source discovery.

## **ENDNOTES**

- 1 UNAIDS, (2011), World AIDS Day Report 2011, How to Get to Zero: Faster, Smarter, Better. Available at: http://www. unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/unaidspublication/2011/JC2216\_WorldAIDSday\_ report\_2011\_en.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 2 UNAIDS, WHO, UNICEF, (2011), Global HIV/AIDS Response: Epidemic update and health sector progress towards Universal Access – Progress Report 2011. Available at: http:// whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2011/9789241502986\_ eng.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 3 UNAIDS, (2011), World AIDS Day Report 2011, How to Get to Zero: Faster, Smarter, Better.
- 4 Michel Sidibé, Executive Director of UNAIDS, announced that UNDP would convene a high-level commission on HIV and the law at the 25<sup>th</sup> Programme Coordinating Board meeting in December 2009. Available at: http:// www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/dataimport/pub/speechexd/2009/20091208\_pcb\_exd\_ speech\_en-1.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 5 All information about The Global Commission on HIV and the Law can be found on the Commission's website www.hivlawcommission.org.
- 6 The Commission's Technical Advisory Group (TAG) comprises 23 leading experts on HIV, public health, gender, human rights and law, including members of communities affected by HIV. More information about the TAG is available at: www.hivlawcommission.org.
- 7 During 2011, dialogues were convened in Asia-Pacific, Caribbean, Eastern Europe and Central Asia, Latin America, Middle East & North Africa, Africa and for High Income Countries.
- 8 Written submissions were analysed using NVIVO (research software for analysis of qualitative data), in order to identify and understand key trends and patterns in the qualitative data.
- 9 UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, General Comment No. 20: Non-discrimination in economic, social and cultural rights (art. 2, para. 2, of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights), E/C.12/GC/20, 2 July 2009, para. 2.
- 10 Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, Universal Human Rights Instruments. Available at: http://

www2.ohchr.org/english/law/ [Accessed on 28 March 2012]

- 11 See the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights, 1981; the American Convention on Human Rights, 1969 and its Protocols of 1988 and 1990; the European Convention on Human Rights, 1950 and its Protocols; see also OHCHR, (2003), Human Rights in the Administration of Justice: A Manual on Human Rights for Judges Prosecutors and Lawyers, United Nations, chapter 3.
- 12 Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS, United Nations General Assembly, Res/S-26/2, 27 June 2001, paras. 37 and 58; Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS, United Nations General Assembly, A/RES/60/262, 15 June 2006; and Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS: Intensifying our Efforts to Eliminate HIV/AIDS, A/65/I.77 8 July 2011.
- 13 Rolando Luis Cuscul Privaral and Others affected by HIV/ AIDS v. Guatemala, petition 642-03, 7 March 2005, report no. 32/05 and Jorge Odir Miranda Cortez and Others v. El Salvador, case 12.249, 20 March 2009, report no. 27/09.
- Council of Europe, Parliamentary Assembly, HIV/Aids in Europe, Resolution 1536, 2007, para. 9.2.
- 15 UNAIDS, (2010), Making the Law Work for the HIV Response: A snapshot of selected laws that support or block universal access to HIV prevention, treatment, care and support. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/ en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/priorities/20100728\_HR\_Poster\_en.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012]. However, 46 per cent of countries reported having laws, regulations or policies that impede key populations at higher risk of HIV infection from accessing prevention, treatment, care and support services: United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Secretary-General – United to end AIDS: achieving the targets of the 2011 Political Declaration, A/66/757. Available at: http:// www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/document/2012/20120402 UNGA A-66-757 en.pdf [Accessed on 1 May 2012].
- 16 *Ibid*.
- 17 Philippine AIDS Control and Prevention Act of 1998, Sections 2(B)(3), and 35–41.
- Employment Act, Bahamas, 2001, Section 6; Gable L. et al.,
  (2007), Legal Aspects of HIV/AIDS: A Guide for Policy and Law Reform, The World Bank, Washington, D.C., p. 47.
- 19 Anti-Discrimination Act, New South Wales, Australia, 1977, Section 49ZXB & C. Gable Let al. (2007), Legal Aspects of HIV/AIDS: A Guide for Policy and Law Reform, The World Bank, Washington, D.C., p. 47.
- 20 Hoffmann v South African Airways 2000 (2) SA 628; 2001 (10) BHRC 571; (2000) 3 CHRLD 146. Available at: http://www. equalrightstrust.org/ertdocumentbank/Hoffmann%20 v%20South%20African%20Airways.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012].
- 21 The right to equality and freedom from discrimination is protected by the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (1948), article 2: "Everyone is entitled to all the rights and freedoms set forth in this Declaration, without distinction of any kind, such as race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth or other status. Furthermore, no distinction shall be made on the basis of the political, jurisdictional or international status of the country or territory to which a person belongs, whether it be independent, trust, non-self-governing or under any other limitation of sovereignty." and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (1966), e.g, Article s2(1) and 26. On the guestion of non-discrimination, see General Comment No. 18 of the Human Rights Committee in UN doc. HRI/GEN/1/Rev.5, Compilation of General Comments and General Recommendations adopted by Human Rights Treaty Bodies, p. 136, para. 12.
- 22 The protection of human rights in the context of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS), UN Commission on Human Rights, Resolution 1995/44, 3 March 1995, para. 1. See also Commission on Human Rights Resolutions 1996/43, 19 April 1996; 1999/49, 27 April 1999; 2001/51, 24 April 2001; 2003/47, 23 April 2003; 2005/84, 21 April 2005.
- 23 Article 1 of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities states: "Persons with disabilities include those who have long term physical, mental, intellectual or sensory impairments which in interaction with various barriers may hinder their full and effective participation in society on an equal basis with others." Article 2 defines discrimination as: "any distinction, exclusion or restriction on the basis of disability which has the purpose or effect, on an equal basis with others, of all human rights and fundamental freedoms in the political, economic, cultural, civil or any other field." See R. Elliott, L. Utyasheva, and E. Zack, (2009), HIV, disability and discrimination: making the links in international

and domestic human rights law, Journal of the International AIDS Society 12.

- 24 Québec (Commission des droits de la personne et des droits de la jeunesse) v. Montréal (City) and Québec (Commission des droits de la personne et des droits de la jeunesse) v. Boisbriand (City), 2000 SCC 27 [2000] 1 SCR 665 (Supreme Court of Canada, 2000), at para. 48.
- 25 Bragdon v. Abbott, 524 U.S. 624 (U.S. Supreme Court, 1998).
- 26 Submissions from Kelemi, RIP+, Mamadou, Ogenyi, Niang, Noubissi, Obbes, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011; Submissions from Tamata, Thi Le Tram, Shan, Gunawan, Dela Cruz, Vijayabandara, Thanh, Suzuki, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011; Submission from ABWU, ABPSA, TUCA, for the Caribbean Regional Dialogue, 12–13 April 2011; Submission from Bordunis, Mardari, Lintsova, for the EECA Regional Dialogue, 18–19 May 2011; Submissions from Quiroqa, Vera, Berredo and Muñoz, Arrecis, Acevedo, Rondón, Velásquez, Vasquez, Estepan, Filho, for the Latin America Regional Dialogue, 26–27 June 2011. See also, UNAIDS, *Non-Discrimination in HIV responses*, 26<sup>th</sup> Meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board, 22–24 June 2010, Geneva, Switzerland.
- 27 See for instance submissions from Wicomb, Kelemi, Ogenyi, for the Africa Regional Dialogue 3–4 August 2011; Submissions from Tamata, Thi Le Tram, Shan, Gunawan, Lim, Suzuki, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011; Submissions from Chrichlow, Augustus, Antoine, Eustache, for the Caribbean Regional Dialogue, 12–13 April 2011; Submission from Mladenovic, Untura, for the EECA Regional Dialogue, 18–19 May 2011; Submissions from Vera, Arrecis, Rondón, Almeida, Nunes and Cerqueira, Fernanda, Vasquez, for the Latin America Regional Dialogue, 26–27 June 2011. See also, UNAIDS, *Non-Discrimination in HIV responses*, 26<sup>th</sup> Meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board, 22–24 June 2010, Geneva, Switzerland.
- 28 See for example, the situation in Burundi from the submission from Niyongabo, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011; and submissions from National Association of PLHA, Rajhavandra, Jeyaseelan, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011; Submission from One Love, for the Caribbean Regional Dialogue, 12–13 April 2011. See also Visser M., Makin JD.,

Lehobye K., (2006), *Stigmatizing attitudes of the community towards people living with HIV/AIDS*, Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology, 16: 42–58.

- 29 UNAIDS, (2011), Middle East and North Africa, Regional Report on AIDS, UNAIDS. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/ unaidspublication/2011/JC2257\_UNAIDS-MENA-report-2011\_en.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 30 The Report of the Eminent Persons Group to Commonwealth Heads of Government, (2011), *A Commonwealth of the People: Time for Urgent Reform*, Perth, Australia.
- 31 Submission from SIDA Information Service, France, for the High Income Countries Dialogue, 16–17 September 2011; French Ministry of Finance, Nouvelle convention AERAS 2011: S'Assurer et Emprunter avec un Risque Aggravé de Santé. Available at: http://www2.economie.gouv.fr/ presse/dossiers\_de\_presse/110201aeras.pdf. [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 32 *Ibid.*
- 33 Specialist submission from the International Labour Organization (ILO), Burkina Faso, October 2011.
- 34 Kazatchkine C. et al., (2010), *Criminalising HIV transmission or exposure: the context of French-speaking West and Central Africa*, HIV/AIDS Policy and Law Review, 14(3).
- 35 Burris S. and Weait M., (2011), Criminalisation and the Moral Responsibility for Sexual Transmission of HIV, Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011. See also Burris S., Cameron E., (2008), The Case Against Criminalization of HIV Transmission, Journal of the American Medical Association, 300(5): 578-581; UNDP, UNAIDS, (2007), International Consultation on the Criminalization of HIV Transmission, Summary of main issues and conclusions, Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, 31 October–2 November 2007, Geneva, Switzerland.
- 36 Lazzarini Z. et al., (2002), Evaluating the Impact of Criminal Laws on HIV Risk Behavior, Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics, cited in GNP+ (2010), The Global Criminalisation Scan Report, Documenting trends presenting evidence, Amsterdam, The Netherlands. See also submission from the Centre for HIV Law and Policy, USA; National Children's Bureau, UK; Swedish Association for sexuality Education, LGBT and HIV, Sweden, for the High Income Countries Dialogue, 16–17 September 2011.

- 37 See recent articles on HPTN 052 study which show a 96% reduction in risk of HIV transmission with the use of ART: Scott M., Hammer MD., (2011) Antiretroviral Treatment as Prevention, The New England Journal of Medicine, 11 August 2011, 365: 561–562; Myron S. et al., (2011), Prevention of HIV-1 Infection with Early Antiretroviral Therapy, The New England Journal of Medicine, 11 August 2011, 365: 493–505. Denmark's criminalisation statute was repealed in 2011 in part because of this scientific evidence. See generally http://criminalhivtransmission.blogspot. com/2011/02/denmark-justice-minister-suspends-hiv. html [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 38 See for instance submission from Edwin Bernard, Germany, for the High Income Countries Dialogue, 16–17 September 2011; Open Society Foundations, (2008), Ten Reasons to Oppose the Criminalization of HIV Exposure or Transmission, New York, United States; UNAIDS, (2002), Criminal Law, Public Health and HIV Transmission: A Policy Options Paper, Burris S. et al., (2007), Do Criminal Laws Influence HIV Risk Behaviour? An Empirical Trial, Arizona State Law Journal, 39: 467, available at: http://ssrn.com/abstract=977274 [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 39 Cameron E., (2009), Criminalization of HIV transmission: Poor Public Health Policy, Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, HIV/AIDS Policy and Law Review, (14)2; Burris S., et al., (2007), Do Criminal Laws Influence HIV Risk Behavior? An Empirical Trial, Arizona State Law Journal; Open Society Institute, (2008), Ten reasons to oppose the criminalization of HIV exposure or transmission.
- 40 Burris S. and Weait M., (2011), Criminalisation and the Moral Responsibility for Sexual Transmission of HIV, Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011; Weait, M., (2007), Intimacy and Responsibility: The Criminalization of HIV Transmission, Abingdon, Routledge-Cavendish.
- 41 Other examples: sexual assault (Canada), reckless infliction of grievous bodily harm (United Kingdom), criminal nuisance (New-Zealand). See Bernard E., (2010), *HIV & the criminal law*, NAM Aidsmap, London. Available at: http://www.aidsmap.com/law [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; The Center for HIV Law and Policy, *Prosecutions and arrest for HIV Exposure in the United States, 2008–2012*, Positive Justice Project. Available at: www.hivlawandpolicy.org/resources/download/456 [Accessed on 8 March 2012].

- 42 Bernard E., (2010), *HIV & the Criminal Law*, NAM Aidsmap, London.
- 43 Cameron E., (2009), Criminalization of HIV transmission: Poor Public Health Policy, Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, HIV/AIDS Policy and Law Review, (14)2; GNP+ (2010), The Global Criminalisation Scan Report, Documenting Trends Presenting Evidence. Available at: http://www. gnpplus.net/criminalisation/index.php?option=com\_ content&task=view&id=15&Itemid=37 [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 44 Osborne K., (2010), What's the impact of criminalizing HIV transmission, IPPF, 26 November 2010. Available at: http:// www.ippf.org/en/News/Press-releases/Whats+the +impact+of+criminalizing+HIV+transmission.htm [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; UNAIDS, (2011), Working Paper: Criminalisation of HIV Non-Disclosure, Exposure and Transmission. Background and Current Landscape.
- 45 REPEAL HIV Discrimination Act, (2011), H.R. 3053, 112th Cong., 1st Sess. § 3. Available at: http://www.hivlawandpolicy.org/resources/view/650. [Accessed 4 July 2012]; The Kaiser Family, (2010), Criminal Statute on HIV Transmission. Available at: http://www.statehealthfacts.org/ comparetable.jsp?ind=569&cat=11 [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; GNP+, (2010), *The Global Criminalisation Scan Report, Documenting Trends Presenting Evidence.* Available at: http://www.gnpplus.net/criminalisation/ index.php?option=com\_content&task=view&id=15&lte mid=37 [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; The Center for HIV Law and Policy, (2010), *Ending and Defending Against HIV Criminalization: State and Federal Laws and Prosecutions.* Available at: http://www.hivlawandpolicy.org/resources/ download/564 [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 46 UNAIDS, (2011), Working Paper: Criminalisation of HIV Non-Disclosure, Exposure and Transmission. Background and Current Landscape; GNP+, (2010), The Global Criminalisation Scan Report, Documenting Trends Presenting Evidence. Available at: http://www.gnpplus.net/criminalisation/index.php?option=com\_content&task=view&id =15&ltemid=37 [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; UNAIDS, (2010), Making the Law Work for the HIV Response: A snapshot of selected laws that support or block universal access to HIV prevention, treatment, care and support. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/priorities/20100728\_HR\_Poster\_en.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012]; Bernard E., (2010), HIV & the Criminal Law, NAM Aidsmap, London.

- 47 GNP+, (2010), The Global Criminalisation Scan Report, Documenting Trends Presenting Evidence. Available at: http:// www.gnpplus.net/criminalisation/index.php?option= com\_content&task=view&id=15&Itemid=37 [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 48 The Center for HIV Law and Policy, Prosecutions and arrest for HIV Exposure in the United States, 2008-2012, Positive Justice Project. Available at: www.hivlawandpolicy.org/ resources/download/456 [Accessed on 8 March 2012]; The Center for HIV Law and Policy, (2010), Ending and Defending Against HIV Criminalization: State and Federal Laws and Prosecutions. Available at: http://www.hivlawandpolicy.org/resources/download/564 [Accessed on 8 March 2012]; GNP+, (2010), The Global Criminalisation Scan Report, Documenting Trends Presenting Evidence. Available at: http://www.gnpplus.net/criminalisation/ index.php?option=com\_content&task=view&id=15&lte mid=37 [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 49 Kazatchkine C. et al., (2010), Criminalising HIV transmission or exposure: the context of French-speaking West and Central Africa, Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, HIV/AIDS Policy and Law Review, 14(3); Pearshouse R., (2007), Legislation Contagion: The Spread of Problematic new HIV Laws in Western Africa, Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, HIV/ AIDS Policy and Law Review, (12)2/3, December 2007. See also UNAIDS, (2011), Working Paper: Criminalisation of HIV Non-Disclosure, Exposure and Transmission. Background and Current Landscape.
- 50 The relevant provision in the model law criminalises the willful transmission of HIV, which is defined as "the transmission of HIV virus through any means by a person with full knowledge of his/her HIV/AIDS status to another person". The model provisions also impose specific obligations on people living with HIV, including the duty to disclose their status to their sexual partner(s) within six weeks. See also AWARE-HIV/AIDS (2004), Regional Workshop to Adopt a Model Law for STI/HIV/AIDS for West and Central Africa - General Report, September 2004, articles 1, 26 and 36; Pearshouse R., Legislation contagion: building resistance, HIV/AIDS Policy & Law Review, 13(2/3): 1-10. In 2008, UNAIDS published a document proposing amendments to certain problematic provisions of the N'Djamena model law and, by implication, national HIV statutes enacted in Sub-Saharan Africa. See UNAIDS, (2008), Recommendations for alternative language to some problematic articles in the N'Djamena model legis-

lation on HIV (2004). Available at: http://data.unaids.org/ pub/Manual/2008/20080912\_alternativelanguage\_ndajema\_legislation\_en.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].

- 51 Cohen M. et al., (2011) Prevention of HIV-1 Infection with Early Antiretroviral Therapy, New England Journal of Medicine, 365: 493-505; The Lancet, (2011), HIV Treatment as Prevention – It Works, The Lancet, 377: 1719.
- 52 Bermuda Criminal Code (Sexual Offences) Amendment Act, 1993.
- 53 Weait, M. 2011.'The Criminalisation of HIV Exposure and Transmission: A Global Review.' Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group, Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July, 2011; See also Edwin B., (2009), Bermuda: Man arrested for HIV exposure; fifth prosecution amongst HIV population of 200, Criminal HIV Transmission – Blog, 11 November 2009. Available at: http://criminalhivtransmission.blogspot.com/search /label/Bermuda, [Accessed on 30 March]; Cameron, E., Burris, S., and Clayton, M., (2008), Debate: HIV is a virus, not a crime: ten reasons against criminal statutes and criminal prosecutions, Journal of the International AIDS Society. Available at: http://www.biomedcentral.com/content/ pdf/1758-2652-11-7.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 54 Weait M., (2011) The Criminalisation of HIV Exposure and Transmission: A Global Review, Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group, Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July, 2011; Kaiser Daily HIV/AIDS Report, Singapore's Parliament Approves Measure That Addresses Spread of HIV Through Unsafe Sex, 24 April 2008. See also submission from Arthur Lim, Singapore, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011.
- 55 The Center for HIV Law and Policy, Prosecutions and arrest for HIV Exposure in the United States, 2008–2012, Positive Justice Project. Available at: www.hivlawandpolicy.org/resources/download/456 [Accessed on 8 March 2012]. See also http://www.nytimes.com/2008/05/16/ us/16spit.html.
- 56 United States v Moore 846 F.2d 1163 (1988).
- 57 NAM Aidsmap, (2010), HIV and the criminal law Northern Europe. Available at: http://www.aidsmap.com/Northern-Europe/page/1444965/ [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 58 Dodds C. et al., (2005), Grievous Harm? Use of the Offences Against the Person Act 1861 for Sexual Transmission of HIV, Sigma Research. Available at: http://www.sigmare-

search.org.uk/files/report2005b.pdf; The Center for HIV Law and Policy (2010), Ending and Defending Against HIV Criminalization, A Manual for Advocates: State and Federal Laws and Prosecutions, Vol. 1. Available at: http://hivlawandpolicy.org/resources/view/564 [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; UNAIDS, UNDP, (2008), Policy Brief, Criminalisation of HIV Transmission.

- 59 Weait, M., (2011), The Criminalisation of HIV Exposure and Transmission: A Global Review. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group, Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7-9 July, 2011. See also Ombati who refers to a current constitutional challenge to the broadly worded criminalisation provision within the Kenyan HIV and AIDS (Prevention and Control) Act 2006 on the basis that it unfairly discriminates against PLHIV and marginalised populations. See also Submission froms Musinguzi, Lema, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3-4 August 2011; Submission from Mack for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16-17 February 2011; Submission from Mladenovic for the EECA Regional Dialogue, 18-19 May 2011; Submissions from Pierre-Pierre, Osborne, Forbes, Azad, Power, for the High Income Countries Dialogue, 16–17 September 2011.
- 60 National AIDS Trust, (2006), Criminal Prosecution of HIV Transmission, NAT Policy Update, August 2006; Wright S., Sears N., McIntrye S., (2006), Woman jailed for deliberately infecting lover with HIV, Daily Mail, 8 August 2006. Available at: http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-391418/Woman-jailed-deliberately-infecting-lover-HIV. html#ixzz1nhXGgMgr; Johnson A., (2006), Sarah was no 'AIDS avenger,' Independent, 25 June 2006. Available at: http://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/crime/sarah -was-no-aids-avenger-405403.html [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 61 ATHENA Network, (2009), 10 reasons why criminalization of HIV transmission harms women. Available at: http:// www.athenanetwork.org/index.php?id=39 [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; Cameron E., (2009), Criminalization of HIV transmission: Poor Public Health Policy, Canadian HIV/ AIDS Legal Network, HIV/AIDS Policy and Law Review, (14)2, December 2009.
- 62 GNP+, (2010), The Global Criminalisation Scan Report, Documenting Trends Presenting Evidence. Available at: http://www.gnpplus.net/criminalisation/index.php? option=com\_content&task=view&id=15&ltemid=37 [Accessed on 7 March 2012].

- 63 UN General Assembly, Report of the Special Rapporteur on the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, Anand Grover, Human rights Council, Fourteenth session, Agenda item 3, A/HRC/14/20, April 27, 2010; ATHENA Network, (2009), 10 reasons why criminalization of HIV transmission harms women. Available at: http://www.athenanetwork.org/ index.php?id=39 [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 64 UNDP, UNAIDS, (2008), Policy Brief, Criminalisation of HIV Transmission. Available at: http://data.unaids.org/pub/ basedocument/2008/20080731\_jc1513\_policy\_criminalization\_en.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 65 Edwin B., (2011), Denmark: Justice Minister suspends HIVspecific criminal law, sets up working group, Criminal HIV Transmission – Blog, 17 February 2011. Available at: http://criminalhivtransmission.blogspot.com/search/label/Denmark, [Accessed on 30 March].
- 66 In Sweden the public health statute grants authority to authorities to intervene in the event a person is spreading, or is suspected of spreading, a communicable disease. See: Prosecution of HIV transmission, exposure and failure to disclose the status is based on the Swedish Penal Code 1962. There are further health regulations like the *Swedish Communicable Diseases Act 2004* allows for forced isolation of HIV+ individuals deemed to be a 'threat' to others. See more information on http://www. sweden.gov.se/sb/d/15661/a/183500. [Accessed on 8 March 2012]. See also Danziger, R., (1998), *HIV testing and HIV prevention in Sweden*, British Medical Journal, Vol. 316, Issue 7127.
- 67 Norway has a penal provision that in theory applies to all infectious diseases but which in fact has only ever been applied to cases involving HIV, contrary to UNAIDS policy and best practice; OHCHR, UNAIDS, (2006), International Guidelines on HIV/AIDS and Human Rights, 2006 Consolidated version, Switzerland, Guideline 4. Available at: http://data.unaids.org/Publications/IRC-pub07/jc1252internguidelines\_en.pdf [Accessed on 21 January 2012].
- 68 UNAIDS, UNDP, (2008), Policy brief on the criminalisation of HIV transmission (recommendations). Available at: http:// data.unaids.org/pub/basedocument/2008/20080731\_ jc1513\_policy\_criminalisation\_en.pdf. See also Inter-Parliamentary Union, UNAIDS, UNDP, (2007), Taking Action Against HIV – A Handbook for Parliamentarians, No. 15; for the Swiss Statement produced on behalf of the

Swiss National AIDS Commission: Garnett G., Gazzard B., (2008), *Risk of HIV Transmission in Discordant Couples*, The Lancet 372(9635): 270–271. Available at: http://www.natap.org/2008/HIV/072908\_04.htm following a quashed conviction for transmission, the Geneva Court of Justice took into account both the honest belief that a defendant had as to his or her risk of onward transmission, and looked at the relevance of viral load, noting that in cases where the viral load is negligible a person should not be treated as infectious. The Court considered whether or not the person may not be considered reckless if they engage in sex with a possibility of transmission.

- 69 Burris S. and Weait M., (2011), Criminalisation and the moral responsibility for sexual transmission of HIV, Working paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011; Weait, M., (2007), Intimacy and Responsibility: The Criminalisation of HIV Transmission, Abingdon, Routledge-Cavendish.
- 70 In Sweden, the policy requires that there shall be no prosecution unless the scientific evidence supporting the allegation is sufficiently robust and the defendant knew he or she was HIV positive. An expansive definition of "knowledge" is used so that "willful blindness" to the fact of infection may be insufficient. Evidence that the defendant used appropriate precautions would normally preclude a charge. See: RFSU, RFSL, (2011), *HIV-Sweden, HIV, Crime and Punishment*, Sweden.
- 71 Phylogenetic analysis examines small differences in HIV's genes using computational methods to calculate the genetic distance between strains. Unlike human DNA, which remains stable for a lifetime, HIV's RNA changes very rapidly, leading to a huge amount of genetic diversity. This diversity means that scientists, using phylogenetic analysis, have been able to ascertain where HIV comes from, as well as track the various strains of HIV that exist worldwide. See Bernard, EJ., et al., (2007), *HIV Forensics: The use of phylogenetic analysis as evidence in criminal investigation of HIV transmission*, NAM/NAT (National AIDS Trust). http://www.nat.org.uk/Media%20library/Files/PDF%20Documents/HIV-Forensics.pdf
- 72 UNAIDS, (2008), UNAIDS Recommendations for Alternative Language to some Problematic Articles in the N'Djamena Legislation on HIV (2004). Available at: http://data.unaids. org/pub/Manual/2008/20080912\_alternativelanguage\_

ndajema\_legislation\_en.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012].

- 73 UNAIDS Feature Story, (2011), Countries Questioning Laws that Criminalize Transmission and Exposure, UNAIDS, available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2011/april/20110426criminalization/ [Accessed on 3 April].
- 74 In 2007, the National HIV expert group issued a public statement which concluded that from a public health evidence point of view, the use of criminal prosecution is ineffective and probably counterproductive as a transmission prevention method. Please see National Institute for Health and Welfare, (2012), UNGASS Country Progress Report 2012, Finland. Available at: http://www. unaids.org/fr/dataanalysis/monitoringcountryprogress/ progressreports/2012countries/file,68506,fr.pdf [Accessed on 23 April 2012].
- 75 UNAIDS Feature Story, (2011), Countries Questioning Laws that Criminalize Transmission and Exposure, UNAIDS, available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2011/april/20110426criminalization/ [Accessed on 3 April].
- 76 Government Information Agency, (2011), Spread of HIV/ AIDS cannot be resolved by criminalization, Georgetown, September 2011.
- 77 IPPR, GNP+, ICW, (2008), Verdict on a Virus: Public Health, Human Rights and Criminal Law; UNAIDS, UNDP, (2008), International Consultation on the Criminalisation of HIV Transmission: Summary of main issues and conclusions, Geneva.
- 78 Vertical transmission or "prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV," or PMTCT, provides drugs, counseling and psychological support to help mothers safeguard their infants against the virus. Available at: http:// www.unicef.org/aids/index\_preventionyoung.html [Accessed on 21 March 2012]
- 79 The United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, Special Rapporteurs on the Right to the Highest Attainable Standard of Health and various regional bodies such as the African Commission on Human and People's Rights and United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific. Please see: *Report of the Secretary-General on the protection of human rights in the context of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS): A/HRC/16/69,*

available at: http://daccess-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/ GEN/G10/178/42/PDF/G1017842.pdf?OpenElement [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; Report of the Special Rapporteur on the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health (right to health and criminalisation of same-sex conduct and sexual orientation, sex-work and HIV transmission): A/HRC/14/20, available at: http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/ hrcouncil/docs/14session/A.HRC.14.20.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; ACHPR/Res.195(L)2011; Resolution on the Appointment of the Chairperson and Members of the Committee on the Protection of the Rights of People Living With HIV and Those at Risk, Vulnerable to and Affected by HIV, available at: http://www.achpr.org/english/resolutions/ Resolution195\_en.htm [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; UN-ESCAP Resolution 66/10 Regional call for action to achieve universal access to HIV prevention, treatment, care and support in Asia and the Pacific, available at: http://www. unescap.org/sdd/issues/hiv\_aids/Resolution-66-10-on-HIV.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; Maastricht University and International Commission of Jurists, (2011), Maastricht Principles on Extraterritorial Obligations of States in the area of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, available at: http://oppenheimer.mcgill.ca/IMG/pdf/ Maastricht\_20ETO\_20Principles\_20-\_20FINAL.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].

80 See reservations made by Egypt upon signature and confirmed upon ratification of CEDAW. In respect of article 16: "Reservation to the text of article 16 concerning the equality of men and women in all matters relating to marriage and family relations during the marriage and upon its dissolution, without prejudice to the Islamic Sharia's provisions whereby women are accorded rights equivalent to those of their spouses so as to ensure a just balance between them. This is out of respect for the sacrosanct nature of the firm religious beliefs which govern marital relations in Egypt and which may not be called in question and in view of the fact that one of the most important bases of these relations is an equivalency of rights and duties so as to ensure complementary which guarantees true equality between the spouses. The provisions of the Sharia lay down that the husband shall pay bridal money to the wife and maintain her fully and shall also make a payment to her upon divorce, whereas the wife retains full rights over her property and is not obliged to spend anything on her keep. The Sharia therefore restricts the wife's rights to divorce by making it contingent on a judge's ruling, whereas no such restriction is laid down in the case of the husband." Egypt made a general reservation on article 2: "The Arab Republic of Egypt is willing to comply with the content of this article, provided that such compliance does not run counter to the Islamic Sharia." Available at: http://www.un.org/ womenwatch/daw/cedaw/reservations-country.htm. [Accessed on 15 March 2012].

- 81 D'Adesky, AC., (2011), *The Lessons of Uganda*, Pride Magazine. Available at: http://www.rectalmicrobicides.org/ docs/Lessons\_of\_Uganda.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 82 Malances, Maurice, (2011), Philippine Catholic Church at odds with health department over HIV prevention. Retrieved from http://www.eni.ch/featured/article.php?id= 5337 [Accessed on 4 July 2012]; Mateo, R., Sarol, J., and Poblete, R. (2004). HIV/AIDS in the Philippines. AIDS Education and Prevention, 16, Supplement A, pp. 43-52; Miguel, M., Murray, L., Wittlin, N., Wilison, P., Terto, V., and Parker, R., (2011), Divine targets: youth at the centre of Catholic and Pentecostal responses to HIV and AIDS in Brazil. Culture, Health, and Sexuality: An International Journal for Research, Intervention, and Care, 13, 06, 657-668; Rios, L., Aquino, F., Munoz-Laboy, M., Oliveira, C., and Parker, R., (2011), The Catholic Church, moral doctrine, and HIV prevention in Recife, Brazil: Negotiating the contradictions between religious belief and the realities of everyday life. Culture and Religion: An Interdisciplinary Journal, 12, 4, 355-372; Ankomah, A., (1998), Condom use in sexual exchange relationships among young single adults in Ghana, AIDS Education and Prevention, 10(4), 303–316; Eriksson, E., Lindmark, G., Axemo, P., Haddad, B., and Ahlberg, B., (2010), Ambivalence, silence and gender differences in church leaders' HIV-prevention messages to young people in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Culture, Health & Sexuality: An International Journal for Research, Intervention and Care, 12:1, 103-114.
- 83 65<sup>th</sup> Session of the UN General Assembly High-level meeting on the comprehensive review of the progress achieved in realising the Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS and the Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS, New York, 10 June 2011, Statement by H.E. Archbishop Francis Chullikatt Apostolic Nuncio, Permanent Observer of the Holy See. Available at:

http://www.un.org/en/ga/aidsmeeting2011/pdf/holysee.
pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2011]; 65<sup>th</sup> General Assembly Plenary Session, GA/11093, New York, 10 June 2011, Adoption of political declaration promises' bold and decisive action' to wipe out what remains of global human tragedy of HIV/AIDS. Available at: http://www.un.org/News/Press/docs/2011/ga11093.doc.htm [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
84 Ibid.

- 04 1010.
- 85 Malaysian AIDS Council, (2011), International HIV and Islam: Responsible religious response to HIV and AIDS in Malaysia – A Malaysian AIDS Council Brief. Available at: http:// idpc.net/sites/default/files/library/hiv-and-islam.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 86 For Mauritania, see Law nr. 2007.042 on the prevention, care and control of HIV/AIDS. Available at: http:// www.gnpplus.net/criminalisation/new/sites/default/ files/mauritania\_hiv\_legislation.pdf [Accessed on 4 July 2012]. See also Patrick Eba, (2008), One size punishes all... A critical appraisal of the criminalisation of HIV transmission, AIDS Legal Network. Available at: http://www.icw. org/files/ALQ\_Double\_Edition\_08\_--\_Criminalisation. pdf [Accessed on 4 July 2012]. For the Laotian Buddhist Metta Dhamma Project, see UNICEF East Asia and Pacific Regional Office, (2009), Regional Review: Buddhist Leadership Initiative. Available at: http://www.unicef.org/eapro/ AW\_BLI\_2Sep09.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; IRIN, (2007), LAOS: Regional Buddhist HIV outreach programme making an impact. Available at: http://www.irinnews. org/Report/70800/LAOS-Regional-Buddhist-HIV-outreach-programme-making-an-impact [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 87 Mathers S.M., et al., (2008), Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and HIV among people who inject drugs: a systematic review, The Lancet, Vol. 372, Issue 9651. Available at: http://www.who.int/hiv/topics/idu/LancetArticleIDUHIV.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 88 UNAIDS, (2009), HIV Prevention Among Injecting Drug Users, 24<sup>th</sup> Meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board, Geneva Switzerland, 22–24 June 2009.
- 89 UNAIDS, (2010), 2010 Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/globalreport/global \_report.htm [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; UNDP, UN-AIDS, (2009), UNAIDS Action Framework: Universal Access for Men who have Sex with Men and Transgender People. Available at: http://data.unaids.org/pub/report/2009/jc

1720\_action\_framework\_msm\_en.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].

- 90 United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Secretary-General – United to end AIDS: achieving the targets of the 2011 Political Declaration, A/66/757. Available at: http:// www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/document/2012/20120402\_UNGA\_A-66-757\_ en.pdf [Accessed on 1 May 2012].
- 91 Burris, S. and Chiu, J., (2011), Punitive Drug Law and the Risk Environment for Injecting Drug Users: Understanding the Connections, Working paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011. See also: Global Commission on Drug Policy, (2011), War on Drugs: Report of the Global Commission on Drug Policy. Available at: http://www.globalcommissionondrugs.org/Report [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; Dr Wodak AM., A., (2011), Demand Reduction and Harm Reduction, Working Paper prepared for the First Meeting of the Global Commission on Drug Policy, January 2011. Available at: http://www. globalcommissionondrugs.org/Arquivos/Global\_Com\_ Alex\_Wodak.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; WHO, UNODC, UNAIDS, (2009), Technical Guide for countries to set targets for universal access to HIV prevention, treatment and care for injecting drug users. Available at: http://www. who.int/hiv/pub/idu/idu\_target\_setting\_guide.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; WHO, (2005), Evidence for action: a critical tool for guiding policies and programmes for HIV prevention, treatment and care among injecting drug users, Editorial from the International Journal of Drug Policy. Available at: http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/prev\_ care/drugpolicyjournal.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; WHO, (2004), Effectiveness of sterile needle and syringe programming in reducing HIV/AIDS among IDUs: Evidence for action technical paper and policy brief. Available at: http:// whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2004/9241591641.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 92 Harm Reduction International, (2010), What is harm reduction? A position statement from the International Harm Reduction Association. Available at: http://www.ihra.net/files/2010/08/10/Briefing\_What\_ is\_HR\_English.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 93 WHO, UNODC, UNAIDS, (2009), Technical Guide for countries to set targets for universal access to HIV prevention, treatment and care for injecting drug users. Available at:

http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/idu/idu\_target\_setting\_ guide.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].

- 94 Taylor A., Frischer M., Green ST., Goldberg D., McKeganey N., and Gruer L., (1994), *Low and stable prevalence of HIV among drug injectors in Glasgow*, International Journal of STD & AIDS. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8031910 [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; Frischer, M., Green, ST., Goldberg, DJ., Haw, S., Bloor, M., McKeganey, N., Covell, R., Taylor, A., Gruer, LD., and Kennedy, D., (1992), *Estimates of HIV infection among injecting drug users in Glasgow*, 1985–1990, AIDS. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1472341 [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 95 Ibid.
- 96 Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, United Nations, 30 March 1961, entered into force 13 December 1964; as amended by the 1972 Protocol amending the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, 25 March 1972, entered into force 8 August 1975.
- 97 Convention on psychotropic substances, United Nations, 21 February 1971, entered into force 16 August 1976.
- 98 Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, United Nations, 20 December 1988, entered into force 11 November 1990.
- 99 Commentary to the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961. Prepared by the UN Secretary-General in accordance with paragraph 1 of the Economic and Social Council Resolution 914 D (XXXIV), 3 August 1962.
- 100 Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, United Nations, 1961, Article 38; Convention on Psychotropic Substances, United Nations, 1971, Article 22; Convention against Illicit Trafficking in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, United Nations, 1988, Article 14. See also UNODC, (2010), World Drug Report 2010. Available at: http://www.unodc.org/documents/wdr/WDR\_2010/ World\_Drug\_Report\_2010\_lo-res.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Secretary-General – United to end AIDS: achieving the targets of the 2011 Political Declaration, A/66/757. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/ contentassets/documents/document/2012/20120402\_ UNGA\_A-66-757\_en.pdf [Accessed on 1 May 2012].
- 101 Burris, S., and Chiu, J., (2011), Punitive Drug Law and the Risk Environment for Injecting Drug Users: Understanding

the Connections, Working paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011. See also: Narcotics Addict Rehabilitation Act B.E. 2545 (2002); Indonesia Narcotics Law, Articles 54 and 111 (2009); Bewley-Taylor, D., C. Hallam, et al., (2009), The Incarceration of Drug Offenders: An Overview, Beckley Foundation Drug Policy Programme; Butler, W. E., (2005), Narcotics and HIV/AIDS in Russia: Harm Reduction Policies Under Russian Law, Wildy, Simmonds & Hill Law Publishing ; Jelsma, M., (2010), Drug Law Reform Trend in Latin America, TNI; Nougier, M., (2011), First IDPC seminar on drug policy in the Middle East and North Africa, IDPC. Available at: http://www.idpc. net/sites/default/files/library/IDPC%20report%20on%20 MENA%20seminar %20FINAL%20web\_0.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2006]; UNODC, (2010), Accessibility of HIV Prevention, Treatment, and Care Services for People who Use Drugs and Incarcerated People in Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan: Legislative and Policy Analysis and Recommendations for Reform; Open Society Institute, (2009), At What Cost? HIV and Human Rights Consequences on the Global War on Drugs, International Harm Reduction Development Program; United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Secretary-General - United to end AIDS: achieving the targets of the 2011 Political Declaration, A/66/757. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/ contentassets/documents/document/2012/20120402 UNGA\_A-66-757\_en.pdf [Accessed on 1 May 2012].

- 102 Ibid.
- 103 Global Commission on Drug Policy, (2011), War on Drugs: Report of Global Commission on Drug Policy. Available at: http://www.globalcommissionondrugs.org/Report [Acccessed on 6 March 2012].
- 104 Submission from Kamon Uppakaew, Thai AIDS Treatment Action Group, Thailand, for the Asia Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011.
- 105 Human Rights Watch, (2006), Rhetoric and Risk: Human Rights Abuses Impeding Ukraine's Fight Against AIDS; Human Rights Watch, (2004), Lessons Not Learned: Human Rights Abuses and HIV/AIDS in the Russian Federation; Human Rights Watch, (2003), Fanning the Flames: How Human Rights Abuses Are Fuelling the AIDS Epidemic in Kazakhstan. See also: Burris, S. and Chiu, J., (2011), Punitive Drug Law and the Risk Environment for Injecting Drug

*Users: Understanding the Connections,* Working paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011.

- 106 Otiashvili, D., (2008), Georgian Drug War Ignoring Evidences, Neglecting Human Rights, presented at the International Harm Reduction Association's on 19th Annual conference in Barcelona.
- 107 Burris, S. and Chiu, J., (2011), Punitive Drug Law and the Risk Environment for Injecting Drug Users: Understanding the Connections, Working paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011. See also: Open Society Institute, (2009), The Impact of Drug Users Registration Laws on People's Rights and Health, Key findings from Russia, Georgia and Ukraine. Available at: http://www.soros.org/ initiatives/health/focus/ihrd/articles\_publications/publications/drugreg\_20091001/drugreg\_20091001.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; Human Rights Watch, (2007), Rehabilitation Required: Russia's Human Rights Obligation to Provide Evidence-Based Drug Treatment. Available at: http:// www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/russia1107webwcover.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 108 Elliott R., Lines R., and Schleifer, R., (2010), Compulsory Drug Detention: A Human Rights Analysis; Human Rights Watch, (2010), Skin and Cable: The Illegal Arrest, Arbitrary Detention and Torture of People Who UseDrugs in Cambodia; Open Society Institute, (2009), At What Cost? HIV and Human Rights Consequences on the Global War on Drugs. International Harm Reduction Development Program.
- 109 Ibid.
- 110 UNESCAP, February 2012, Asia-Pacific High-Level Intergovernmental Meeting on the Assessment of Progress against Commitments in the Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS and the Millennium Development Goals, Country Statements for Agenda Item 5. Available at: http://unescapsdd.org/sites/ test/files/Country-Statements-Item-5.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 111 See for instance submissions from Recovering Nepal (National Network of people who use drugs in Nepal), Nepal; Thai AIDS Treatment Action Group (TTAG), Thailand; Space Allies, Japan, for the Asia Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February, 2011; Mustafaeva; Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, Canada; Sarkunts; Charity fund for the development of education, health and HIV/AIDS

Prevention, Russia; Initiative for Health Foundation, Bulgaria, Kurmanaevsky, Russia; Eurasian Harm Reduction, Lithuania, for the EECA Regional Dialogue, 18–19 May, 2011; Youth RISE for reducing drug related harm, Nigeria, for the Africa Dialogue, 3–4 August, 2011.

- 112 Burnet Institute, (2010), Harm reduction in Asia: progress towards universal access to harm reduction services among people who inject drugs. For more evidence on the contradiction between punitive laws and national HIV/AIDS policies: HAARP, (2009), Law and Policy Review; UNODC, (2007), Prevention of Transmission of HIV among drug users in SAARC Countries Legal and Policy concerns related to IDU harm reduction in SAARC countries. Available at: http://www.unodc.org/pdf/india/publications/legal\_policy\_book\_140807.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 113 Burris, S. and Chiu, J., (2011), Punitive Drug Law and the Risk Environment for Injecting Drug Users: Understanding the Connections, Working paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011. See also: Case, Meehan., and Jones, (1997); Taussig et al., (2001); Bluthenthal, (1997); Mikhailove, (2003); Burris, et al., (2009); Human Rights Watch, (2006); Burris, Blankenship, and Donoghoe, (2004); Open Society Institute, (2001); Rhodes, (2002); Beletsky, et al., (2011); Diaz, et al., (1999); Gleghorn, et al., (1995); Weinstein, et al., (1998); Vocal-NY Users Union, and Urban Justice Institute, (2010). Submission from McLemore, for the High Income Countries Dialogue, 16–17 September, 2011.
- 114 WHO, UNODC, UNAIDS, (2009), Technical Guide for countries to set targets for universal access to HIV prevention, treatment and care for injecting drug users. Available at: http:// www.who.int/hiv/pub/idu/idu target setting guide. pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012]. See also: Human Rights Watch, (2004a); Open Society Institute, (2008a); Rhodes et al., (2006); Shields, (2009); Davis, Triwahyuono and Alexander, (2009); Hammett et al., (2008); Maru, (2003); Schleifer, (2006); Struthers and Csete, (2003); Wolfe and Saucier, (2010); HIV/AIDS Alliance of Ukraine, (2010); Reid, (2007); Csete et al., (2009) cited in Burris, S. and Chiu, J., (2011), Punitive Drug Law and the Risk Environment for Injecting Drug Users: Understanding the Connections, Working paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011.

- 115 Open Society Institute, (2009), The Impact of Drug Users Registration Laws on People's Rights and Health, Key findings from Russia, Georgia and Ukraine. Available at: http://www.soros.org/initiatives/health/focus/ihrd/articles\_publications/publications/drugreg\_20091001/ drugreg\_20091001.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; Human Rights Watch, (2007), Deadly Denial, Barriers to HIV/AIDS Treatment for People Who Use Drugs in Thailand.
- 116 Human Rights Watch, (2011), The Rehab Archipelago: Forced Labor and Other Abuses in Drug Detention Centers in Southern Vietnam. Available at: http://www.hrw.org/ sites/default/files/reports/vietnam0911ToPost.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 117 Bastos and Strathdee, (2000); Bluthenthal et al., (1999); Bourgois, (1998); Diaz et al., (1999); Blumenthal, (1999); Gleghorn et al., (1995); Koester, (1994); Rhodes et al., (2003); Weinstein et al., (1998); Zule, (1992); Blankenship and Koester, (2002); Burris et al., (2011), cited in Burris, S. and Chiu, J., (2011), *Punitive Drug Law and the Risk Envi*ronment for Injecting Drug Users: Understanding the Connections, Working paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011.
- 118 Aitken et al., 2002, Dixon and Maher, 2002; Maher and Dixon, 2001, Small, Kerr et al., 2005; Broadhead et al., 2002 cited in Chiu and Burris, 2011.
- 119 Aitken, et al., (2002); Cooper, et al., (2004); Dixon and Maher, (2002); Small, Kerr et al., (2005) cited in Burris, S. and Chiu, J., (2011), Punitive Drug Law and the Risk Environment for Injecting Drug Users: Understanding the Connections, Working paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011.
- 120 Kerr, T., Small, W., and Wood, E., (2005), The Public Health and Social Impacts of Drug Market Enforcement: A Review of the Evidence, International Journal of Drug Policy. Available at: http://www.idpc.net/sites/default/ files/library/The%20public%20health%20and%20social%20impacts%20of%20drug%20market%20enforcement%20-%20a%20review%20of%20the%20evidence. pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 121 UNAIDS, (2010), UNAIDS feature story: AIDS project helps communities in Russia to take actions to protect themselves. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/re sources/presscentre/featurestories/2011/may/2011

0510aidscompetence/ [Accessed on 3 April 2012]; Needle, R. H. and Zhao, L., (2010), *HIV Prevention among Injection Drug Users: Strengthening U.S. Support for Core Interventions*, CSIS Global Health Policy Center, 11. Available at: http://csis.org/files/publication/100408\_Needle\_HIVPrevention\_web.pdf. [Accessed on 8 July 2012].

- 122 The State Anti-drug Policy of the Russian Federation 2010 2020. Available at: http://stratgap.ru/pages/strategy/
   3662/4434/4437/index.shtml [Accessed on 3 April 2012].
- 123 Submission from the Network for Harm Reduction in Russia (ESVER), Russia, for the Eastern Europe and Central Asia Regional Dialogue, 18–19 May 2011.
- 124 Harm Reduction International, (2010), *Global State of Harm Reduction 2010 Report*. Available at: http://www. ihra.net/international-response [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 125 Submission from The New Zealand AIDS Foundation (NZAF), New Zealand, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011.
- 126 Global Commission on Drug Policy, (2011), War on Drugs: Report of Global Commission on Drug Policy. Available at: http://www.globalcommissionondrugs.org/Report [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 127 Global Commission on Drug Policy, (2012), *The War on* Drugs and HIV/AIDS: How the Criminalization of Drug Use Fuels the Global Pandemic, 10. Available at: http:// globalcommissionondrugs.org/wp-content/themes/ gcdp\_v1/pdf/GCDP\_HIV-AIDS\_2012\_REFERENCE.pdf. [Accessed 2 July 2012].
- 128 Ohiri, K., Claeson, M., Razzaghi, E., Nassirimanesh, B., Afshar, P., and Power, R., et al., (2006), *HIV/AIDS prevention among injecting drug users: Learning from harm reduction in Iran*. Available at: http://siteresources.worldbank.org/ SOUTHASIAEXT/Resources/223546-1192413140459/ 4281804-1231540815570/5730961-1236796342147/4. pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 129 Global Commission on Drug Policy, (2011), War on Drugs: Report of Global Commission on Drug Policy. Available at: http://www.globalcommissionondrugs.org/Report [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; Hughes, CE. and Stevens, A., (2010), What can we learn from the Portuguese decriminalisation of illicit drugs?, British Journal of Criminology. Available at: http://bjc.oxfordjournals.org/content/early/ 2010/07/21/bjc.azq038 [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; Greenwald, G., (2009), Drug Decriminalisation in Portu-

gal: Lessons for Creating Fair and Successful Drug Policies, Cato Institute. Available at: http://www.cato.org/pubs/ wtpapers/greenwald\_whitepaper.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; Latin American Commission on Drugs and Democracy, (2009), Drugs and Democracy: Toward a Paradigm Shift. Available at: http://cbdd.org.br/en/ files/2011/05/CLDD-Relat%C3%B3rio-ING.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].

- 130 Global Commission on Drug Policy, (2011), War on Drugs: Report of Global Commission on Drug Policy. Available at: http://www.globalcommissionondrugs.org/Report [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; Latin American Commission on Drugs and Democracy, (2009), Drugs and Democracy: Toward a Paradigm Shift. Available at: http://cbdd. org.br/en/files/2011/05/CLDD-Relat%C3%B3rio-ING.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 131 Greenwald, G., (2009), Drug Decriminalisation in Portugal: Lessons for Creating Fair and Successful Drug Policies, Cato Institute. Available at: http://www.cato.org/pubs/ wtpapers/greenwald\_whitepaper.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Secretary-General: United to end AIDS: achieving the targets of the 2011 Political Declaration, A/66/757. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/ contentassets/documents/document/2012/20120402\_ UNGA\_A-66-757\_en.pdf [Accessed on 1 May 2012].
- 132 *Ibid*.
- 133 Hughes, CE. and Stevens, A., (2010), What can we learn from the Portuguese decriminalisation of illicit drugs?, British Journal of Criminology. Available at: http://bjc.oxfordjournals.org/content/early/2010/07/21/bjc.azq038 [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; Greenwald, G., (2009), Drug Decriminalisation in Portugal: Lessons for Creating Fair and Successful Drug Policies, Cato Institute, pp. 11–12. Available at: http://www.cato.org/pubs/wtpapers/greenwald \_whitepaper.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 134 Canadian HIVAIDS Legal Network, (2008), HIV/AIDS Policy and Law Review, Vol. 13, No. 2/3, p. 48. Available at: http://www.aidslaw.ca/publications/interfaces/downloadFile.php?ref=1636 [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 135 Canadian HIVAIDS Legal Network, (2009), HN/AIDS Policy and Law review, Vol. 14, No. 2, p. 23. Available at: http:// www.aidslaw.ca/publications/interfaces/downloadFile. php?ref=1597 [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; Stevenson, M., (2009), Mexico decriminalizes small-scale drug posses-

sion, The Huffington Post. Available at: http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2009/08/21/mexico-decriminalizessma\_n\_264904.html [Accessed on 7 March 2012].

- 136 Greenwald, G., (2009), Drug Decriminalisation in Portugal: Lessons for Creating Fair and Successful Drug Policies, Cato Institute. Available at: http://www.cato.org/pubs/ wtpapers/greenwald\_whitepaper.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Secretary-General: United to end AIDS: achieving the targets of the 2011 Political Declaration, A/66/757. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/ contentassets/documents/document/2012/20120402\_ UNGA\_A-66-757\_en.pdf [Accessed on 1 May 2012].
- 137 Richard, E., et al., (2002), Establishing Safe Injection Facilities in Canada: Legal and Ethical Issues, Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network. Available at: http://www.aidslaw.ca/ publications/interfaces/downloadFile.php?ref=776 [Accessed on 7 March 212].
- 138 Canada (Attorney General) v. PHS Community Services Society, 2011 SCC 44, [2011] 3 S.C.R. 134. Available at: http:// scc.lexum.org/en/2011/2011scc44/2011scc44.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 139 UNAIDS, (2010), Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic 2010. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/documents/ 20101123\_GlobalReport\_Chap5\_em.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012]; United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Secretary-General – United to end AIDS: achieving the targets of the 2011 Political Declaration, A/66/757. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/ contentassets/documents/document/2012/20120402\_ UNGA\_A-66-757\_en.pdf [Accessed on 1 May 2012].
- 140 ProCon.org, (2009), 100 Countries and their Prostitution Policies. Available at: http://prostitution.procon.org/ view.resource.php?resourceID=000772. [Accessed on 8 March 2012]; For Vietnam see Asian Pacific Resource and Research Centre for Women (ARROW), (2010), MGD 3 in Vietnam. Available at: http://www.mdg5watch.org/ index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=96&I temid=164 [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 141 UNAIDS, (2011), The Report of the UNAIDS Advisory Group on HIV and Sex Work, UNAIDS.
- 142 Gould, A., (2001), The Criminalisation of Buying Sex: The Politics of Prostitution in Sweden, Journal of Social Policy, 6 August 2001, 30: 437–456; Ekberg, G., (2004), The Swedish Law that Prohibits the Purchase of Sexual Services : Best

Practices for Prevention of Prostitution and Trafficking in Human Beings, Violence Against Women 10(10: 1187– 1218, p. 1189.

143 Address by Rosinha Sambo to the Taipei Sex Worker Conference 2001 on the Situation of Sex Workers in Sweden: "To be a sex worker in Sweden, is dangerous. It's a hell- mostly dangerous. We don't know anymore, what, or how to do it. What we have in Sweden, it's a law who doesn't make us any good, and doesn't give us any choice. Government in Sweden wants to rehabilitate us, to rehabilitate the sex worker, just like we are victims of some kind of dangerous sickness. Rehabilitate us as we could spread around this sickness." Full statement available at: http://www.bayswan.org/ swed/rosswed.html [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; Kulick, D., (2003), Sex in the new Europe: The criminalization of clients and Swedish fear of penetration, Anthropological Theory, 3(2): 199-218. Available at: http://myweb.dal.ca/ mgoodyea/Documents/Sweden/Sex%20in%20the%20 new%20Europe%20Kulick%20Anthr%20Theor%20 2003%203(2)%20199.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; Harcourt, C., Egger, S., and Donovan, B., (2005), Sex work and the law, Sex Health. 2005; 2(3):121-8; Canadian HIV/ AIDS Legal Network, (2005), New Zealand and Sweden: two models of reform. Available at: http://www.bayswan. org/swed/Canada\_law\_reform\_models.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; Sullivan, T., (2009), Sweden revisits prostitution law: Its though stance is upheld as model. But does it work?, The Christian Science Monitor. Available at: http://www.csmonitor.com/World/Europe/2009/0630/ p10s01-woeu.html [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; Agustin, Laura, (2010), The Other Swedish Model: Gender, sex and culture – Trying to prove Swedish law reduces trafficking: Garbage in, garbage out. Available at: http://www.thelocal.se/blogs/theotherswedishmodel/ [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; FIRST Decriminalize sex work, (2010), Swedish model a failure: yet another law targeting street-based sex workers. Available at: http://www.firstadvocates.org/ sites/firstadvocates.org/files/Swedish-model-a-failure\_0. pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; Levy, J., (2011), Impacts of the Swedish Criminalisation of the Purchase of Sex on Sex Workers, Presented at the British Society of Criminology Annual Conference, Northumbria University, 4th July 2011. Available at: http://cybersolidaires.typepad. com/files/jaylevy-impacts-of-swedish-criminalisationon-sexworkers.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; Dodillet S. and Östergren P., (2011), *The Swedish sex purchase act: claimed success and documented effect*, Paper presented at workshop "*Decriminalizing prostitution and beyond: practical experiences and challenges*," The Hague. Available at: http://www.plri.org/sites/plri.org/files/Impact%20of%20Swedish%20law\_0.pdf [Accessed on 13 April 2012]; Jordan, A., (2012), *The Swedish Law to Criminalize Clients: A Failed Experiment in Social Engineering*, Issue Paper 4 – April 2012, Program on Human Trafficking and Forced Labor, Center for Human Rights & Humanitarian Law, American University – Washington College of Law. Available at: http://rightswork.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/Issue-Paper-4.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012].

- 144 Shah, S., (2011), Trafficking and the Conflation with Sex Work: Implications for HIV Prevention and Control. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011; See also Chapkis W., (2005), Soft Glove, Punishing Fist: The Trafficking Victims Protection Act in Regulating Sex, Bernstein and Schaffner Routledge Edition. See also Schreter, L., Jewers, M., and Sastrawidjaja, S., The Danger of Conflating Trafficking and Sex Work: A Position Paper of the Sex Workers Project at the Urban Justice Center, Urban Justice Center. Available at: http://www.sexworkersproject.org/media-toolkit/downloads/20070330-BriefingPaperOnConflationOfTraffickingAndSexWork. pdf [Accessed on 11 April 2012].
- 145 For instance, see the submission from the African Alliance of Sex Workers (AASW), Mozambique, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011 for a discussion of the Mozambique law against 'vices against nature' used to penalise sex work. See also Mgbako C. and Smith L., (2010), Sex Work and Human Rights in Africa, Fordham International Law Journal, 33: 1178.
- 146 Sukthankar, A., (2011), *Sex Work, HIV and the Law*, Working paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011. The author cites the example of Italy, where Domestic Security laws that 'invest mayors with the judicial power to declare anything that might endanger the security and decorum of the cities an emergency' have been used to fine sex workers. See also Burris, S., Overs, C. and Weait, M., (2010), *Laws and Prac*-

tices that Effectively Criminalise People Living with HIV and Vulnerable to HIV. Working Paper prepared for the First Meeting of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 6–7 October 2010; See also submissions from Apisuk for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011; Submission from Ferdoko for the EECA Regional Dialogue, 18–19 May 2011; Confidential submission for the Latin America Regional Dialogue, 26–27 June 2011; Submission from Maseko, Sisonke, Botswana, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011.

- 147 PROS Network and Leigh Tomppert, (2012), Public Health Crisis: The Impact of Using Condoms as Evidence of Prostitution in New York City, PROS Network and the Sex Workers Project at the Urban Justice Center. Available at: http:// sexworkersproject.org/downloads/2012/20120417public-health-crisis.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; Velmanette Montgomery, New York State Senator, (2012), Public Health Experts, Human Rights Advocates Join Senator Montgomery in Calling for Law Barring Use of Condoms as Evidence of Prostitution. Available at: http://www. nysenate.gov/press-release/public-health-expertshuman-rights-advocates-join-senator-montgomerycalling-law-barri [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; Human Rights Watch, (2010), Off the Streets: Arbitrary Detention and Other Abuses against Sex Workers in Cambodia. Available at: http://www.hrw.org/reports/2010/07/20/streets [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; Gruskin, S. and Ferguson, L., (2009), Government regulation of sex and sexuality: in their own words, Reproductive Health Matters, Vol. 17, No. 34, pp. 108–118, November 2009. Available at SSRN: http:// ssrn.com/abstract=1543803 [Accessed on 24 April 2012]. See also Submissions from Sangama, India, and Empower Foundation, Thailand, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011.
- 148 WHO, (2005), Violence Against Women and HIV/AIDS: Critical Intersections, Violence Against Sex Workers and HIV Prevention, Information Bulletin Series, No 3. Available at: http://www.who.int/gender/documents/sexworkers. pdf [Accessed on 12 April 2012]. See Csete, J. and Cohen, J., (2010), Health Benefits of Legal Services for Criminalised Populations: The Case of People Who Use Drugs, Sex Workers and Sexual and Gender Minorities, The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics, Vol. 38, Issue 4, pp. 816–831.
- 149 Pyett, PM. and Warr, DJ., (1997), Vulnerability on the Streets: Female Sex Workers and HIV Risk, AIDS Care, Vol. 9, Issue 5,

539–537. The China Sex Worker Organization Network, (2011), *Report on the Impact of China's 2010 'Strike Hard Campaign': A Crackdown on Sex Work;* Rhodes, T., et al., (2008), *Police violence and sexual risk among female and transvestite sex workers in Serbia: qualitative study.* BMJ, 4 August 2008. Available at: http://www.bmj.com/content/337/bmj.a811.full [Accessed on 8 March 2012]; See also the submission from Gays and Lesbians, Zimbabwe, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011. UN-AIDS, (2011), *The Report of the UNAIDS Advisory Group on HIV and Sex Work*, UNAIDS.

- 150 Sukthankar, A., (2011), Sex Work, HIV and the Law, Working paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011; See also Csete, J. and Shannon, K., (2010), Violence, Condom Negotiation, and HIV/STI Risk Among Sex Workers, Journal of the American Medical Association, 304(5): 573–574; Rhodes, T., et al., (2008), Police violence and sexual risk among female and transvestite sex workers in Serbia: qualitative study. BMJ, 4 August 2008. Available at: http://www.bmj.com/content/337/bmj.a8 11.full [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 151 The China Sex Worker Organization Network, (2011), Report on the Impact of China's 2010 'Strike Hard Campaign': A Crackdown on Sex Work; Alexander, P., (2001), Contextual risk versus risk behavior: The impact of the legal, social and economic context of sex work on individual risk taking, Research for Sex Work, 4: 3-5; WHO, (2005), Violence Against Women and HIV/AIDS: Critical Intersections, Violence against Sex Workers and HIV Prevention, Information Bulletin Series, No. 3; Human Rights Watch, (2003), Fanning the Flames, How Human Rights Abuses are Fueling the AIDS Epidemic in Kazakhstan, June 2003, Vol. 15, No. 4. See also Asia Calling, (2010), Burmese Sex Workers Avoid Arrest with Bribes and not Carrying Condoms, Available at: http://www.asiacalling.org/km/special-reports/ sex-workers-stories-from-across-asia/1919-burmesesex-workers-avoid-arrest-with-bribes-and-not-carrying-condoms [Accessed on 12 April 2012]., NC Harm Reduction Coalition, (2012), Arrested for Carrying Condoms? Daily Kos. Availabe at: http://www.dailykos.com/ story/2012/01/13/1054561/-Arrested-for-Carrying-Condoms- [Accessed on 12 April 2012].
- 152 Women's Network of Unity, (2011), Violence against Sex Workers is Prevalent in Cambodia with Customers

and the Police Often the Perpetrators, WNU. Available at: http://www.plri.org/resource/violence-against-sexworkers-prevalent-cambodia-customers-and-policeoften-perpetrators [Accessed on 12 April 2012].

- 153 Sukthankar, A., (2011), Sex Work, HIV and the Law, Working paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011. Scorgie F., Nakato D., et al., (2011), I Expect to be Abused and I have Fear: Sex Workers's Experiences of Human Rights Violations and Barriers to Accessing Healthcare in Four African Countries, African Sex Worker Alliance. Available at: http://www.plri.org/sites/plri.org/ files/ASWA\_Report\_HR\_Violations\_and\_Healthcare\_Barriers 14 April 2011.pdf [Accessed on 12 April 2012]. See also Richter, M., (2008), Sex Work, Reform Initiatives and HIV/ AIDS in Inner-City Johannesburg, African Journal of AIDS Research, Vol. 7, Issue 3; ATHENA, 10 Reasons why Criminalisation of HIV Exposure or Transmission Harms Women; Pyett PM., Warr DJ., (1997), Vulnerability on the Streets: Female Sex Workers and HIV Risk, AIDS Care, Vol. 9, Issue 5, 539-537.
- 154 Sukthankar, A., (2011), Sex Work, HIV and the Law, Working paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011; See also, for example, UNIFEM, (2007), A Legal Analysis of Sex Work in the Anglophone Caribbean, available at http://www.unifem.org [Accessed: 1 December 2011]; Jenkins C., CPU, WNU and Sainsbury C., (2006), Violence and Exposure to HIV Among Sex Workers in Phnom Penh, Cambodia, USAID. Available at: http://www. hivpolicy.org/Library/HPP001702.pdf [Accessed on 12 April 2012].

155 Ibid.

- See Csete, J. and Cohen, J., (2010), Health Benefits of Legal Services for Criminalised Populations: The Case of People who Use Drugs, Sex Workers and Sexual and Gender Minorities, Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics, 38 (4): 816–831.
  Reed, E., et al., The Role of Housing in Determining HIV Risk Among Female Sex Workers in Andhra Pradesh, India; Considering Women's Life Contexts, Social Science & Medicine, 72:5, 710–716.
- 157 Submission from Rocke, SASOD, Guyana, for the Caribbean Regional Dialogue, 12–13 April 2011.
- 158 UNAIDS, (2011), The Report of the UNAIDS Advisory Group on HIV and Sex Work; Cornish F., (2006), Challenging the Stigma of Sex Work in India: Material Context and Symbolic

*Change*, Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology, 16: 462–471.

- 159 Girls and Women's Protection Act 39, 1920. See Gallinetti J., (2007), Harmonisation of laws relating to children Swaziland, The African Child Policy Forum, 5 November 2007. Available at: www.africanchildforum.org. The offence under section 3(1) of the Swaziland Girl's and Women's Protection Act is as follows: "Every male person who has unlawful carnal connection with a girl under the age of sixteen years or who commits with a girl under that age immoral or indecent acts or who solicits or entices a girl under such age to the commission of such acts shall be guilty of an offence and liable on conviction to imprisonment not exceeding 6 years with or without whipping not exceeding 24 lashes and with or without a fine not exceeding one thousand Emalangeni in addition to such imprisonment and lashes." Section 3(3) provides defences to such a charge, one of which is that at the time of the commission of the offence the girl was a prostitute. See also, High Court of Swaziland, R. v. Mbhamali, Crim. Case No. 143/02 (2004). Available at: http://www. swazilii.org/files/sz/judgment/high-court/2004/176/ SZHC\_2004\_176.pdf [Accessed on 4 July 2012].
- 160 Reza, A., et al., (2009), Sexual Violence and its Health Consequences for Female Children in Swaziland: A Cluster Survey Study, The Lancet, Vol. 373, Issue 9679, 1966–1972; Amnesty International, (2010), Too Late, Too Little, The Failure of Law Reform for Women in Swaziland, November 2010.
- 161 Scorgie F. et al., Socio-Demographic Characteristics and Behavioural Risk Factors of Female Sex Workers in Sub-Saharan Africa; A Systematic Review, AIDS Behavior, Jul 13 2011.
- 162 The Foundation for AIDS Research, (2011), Reaching key populations: a critical priority to controlling the AIDS epidemic. Available at: http://www.amfar.org/uploaded-Files/In\_the\_Community/Publications/factsheetVulnerablePop04-15-2011.pdf?n=8240 [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 163 Gould, A., (2001), The Criminalisation of Buying Sex: The Politics of Prostitution in Sweden, Journal of Social Policy, 6 August 2001, 30: 437–456; Sukthankar, A., (2011), Sex Work, HIV and the Law, Working paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July

2011. See also Levy, J., (2011), Impacts of the Swedish Criminalisation of the Purchase of Sex on Sex Workers. Presented at the British Society of Criminology Annual Conference, Northumbria University, 4th July 2011. Available at: http://cybersolidaires.typepad.com/files/ jaylevy-impacts-of-swedish-criminalisation-on-sex workers.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; Dodillet, S., Ostergren, P., (2011), The Swedish Sex Purchase Act: Claimed Success and Documented Effects, Conference paper presented at the International Workshop "Decriminalizing Prostitution and Beyond: Practical Experiences and Challenges", The Hague. Available at: http://www.plri.org /sites/plri.org/files/Impact%20of%20Swedish%20law\_0. pdf [Accessed on 13 April 2012]; Jordan, A., (2012), The Swedish Law to Criminalize Clients: A Failed Experiment in Social Engineering, Issue Paper 4 - April 2012, Program on Human Trafficking and Forced Labor, Center for Human Rights & Humanitarian Law, American University - Washington College of Law. Available at: http://rights work.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/Issue-Paper-4. pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012].

- 164 BAYSWAN also reports that the law has given impetus to the formation of a sex workers' rights organization in Sweden: http://www.bayswan.org/swed/flashback\_ sweden.html [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 165 Kulick, D., (2003), Sex in the new Europe: The criminalization of clients and Swedish fear of penetration, Anthropological Theory, 3(2): 199-218; Levy, J., (2011), Impacts of the Swedish Criminalisation of the Purchase of Sex on Sex Workers, Presented at the British Society of Criminology Annual Conference, Northumbria University, 4th July 2011. Available at: http://cybersolidaires.typepad.com/ files/jaylevy-impacts-of-swedish-criminalisation-on-sex workers.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; Dodillet, S. and Östergren, P., (2011), The Swedish sex purchase act: claimed success and documented effect, Paper presented at workshop "Decriminalizing prostitution and beyond: practical experiences and challenges", The Hague. Available at: http://www.plri.org/sites/plri.org/files/Impact%20of %20Swedish%20law\_0.pdf [Accessed on 13 April 2012]; Jordan, A., (2012), The Swedish Law to Criminalize Clients: A Failed Experiment in Social Engineering, Issue Paper 4 -April 2012, Program on Human Trafficking and Forced Labor, Center for Human Rights & Humanitarian Law, American University - Washington College of Law.

Available at: http://rightswork.org/wp-content/uploads/ 2012/04/Issue-Paper-4.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012].

- 166 Harcourt, C., Egger, S., and Donovan, B., (2005), Sex work and the law, Sex Health. 2005; 2(3):121-8; Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, (2005), New Zealand and Sweden: two models of reform. Available at: http:// www.bayswan.org/swed/Canada\_law\_reform\_models. pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; Sullivan, T., (2009), Sweden revisits prostitution law: Its though stance is upheld as model. But does it work?, The Christian Science Monitor. Available at: http://www.csmonitor. com/World/Europe/2009/0630/p10s01-woeu.html [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; Agustin, Laura, (2010), The Other Swedish Model: Gender, sex and culture - Trying to prove Swedish law reduces trafficking: Garbage in, garbage out. Available at: http://www.thelocal.se/blogs/ theotherswedishmodel/ [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; FIRST Decriminalize sex work, (2010), Swedish model a failure: yet another law targeting street-based sex workers. Available at: http://www.firstadvocates.org/sites/first advocates.org/files/Swedish-model-a-failure\_0.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; Levy, J., (2011), Impacts of the Swedish Criminalisation of the Purchase of Sex on Sex Workers, Presented at the British Society of Criminology Annual Conference, Northumbria University, 4th July 2011. Available at: http://cybersolidaires.typepad.com/ files/jaylevy-impacts-of-swedish-criminalisation-onsexworkers.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; Dodillet, S. and Östergren, P., (2011), The Swedish sex purchase act: claimed success and documented effect, Paper presented at workshop "Decriminalizing prostitution and beyond: practical experiences and challenges", The Hague. Available at: http://www.plri.org/sites/plri.org/files/Impact% 20of%20Swedish%20law 0.pdf [Accessed on 13 April 2012]; Jordan, A., (2012), The Swedish Law to Criminalize Clients: A Failed Experiment in Social Engineering, Issue Paper 4 – April 2012, Program on Human Trafficking and Forced Labor, Center for Human Rights & Humanitarian Law, American University - Washington College of Law. Available at: http://rightswork.org/wp-content/uploads/ 2012/04/Issue-Paper-4.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012].
- 167 Bay Area Sex Worker Advocacy Network BAYSWAN, Prostitution in Sweden. Available at: http://www.bayswan.org/swed/fl ashback\_sweden.html [Accessed on 6 March 2012].

- 168 Åstergren, P., Prostitution in Sweden, English Summary. Available at: http://www.bayswan.org/swed/flashback\_ sweden.html [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 169 Baral, S., Beyrer, C., et al., (2012) Burden of HIV among female sex workers in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis, The Lancet. DOI:10.1016/S1473-3099(12) [Accessed on 15 March 2012].
- 170 UNAIDS, (2010), Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic 2010; (1999), Sexual Behavioural Change for HIV: Where Have Theories Taken Us?; Morris, M., (1997), Sexual Networks and HIV, AIDS 11: 209–216.
- 171 Overs, C. and Hawkins, K., (2011), Can Rights Stop the Wrongs? Exploring the Connections Between Framings of Sex Workers' Rights and Sexual and Reproductive Health, BMC International Health and Human Rights, 11:3; Lippman, SA., et al., (2010), Social-environmental factors and protective sexual behavior among sex workers: the Encontros intervention in Brazil, The American Medicine Journal of Public Health, 100: 216–223; Basu, I., et al., (2004), HIV Prevention Amongst Sex Workers in India, Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes, 1 July 2004, 36(3): 845–52; UNDP, UNAIDS, (2011), The 'AIDS + MDGs' Approach: What is it, why does it matter and how do we take it forward?.
- 172 UNAIDS, (2011), The Report of the UNAIDS Advisory Group on HIV and Sex Work. Available at: http://www.unaids. org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/unaidspublication/2011/20111215\_Report-UNAIDS-Advisorygroup-HIV-Sex-Work\_en.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 173 See definition at article 3 (a) of the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons Especially Women and Children, supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime, 2000, General Assembly Resolution 55/25. Available at: http:// www2.ohchr.org/english/law/protocoltraffic.htm. [Accessed on 13 April 2012]. See also Butcher K., (2003), Confusion between prostitution and sex trafficking. The Lancet, 361: 9373; Gallagher, A., (2010), The International Law of Human Trafficking, Cambridge University Press; Kempadoo, K., et al., (2005), Trafficking and Prostitution Reconsidered, New Perspectives on Migration, Sex Work and Human Rights, Paradigm Publisher.
- 174 UNAIDS, (2011), The Report of the UNAIDS Advisory Group on HIV and Sex Work. Available at: http://www.unaids.

org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/unaidspublication/2011/20111215\_Report-UNAIDS-Advisory-group-HIV-Sex-Work\_en.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012].

- 175 Shah, S., (2011) *Trafficking and the Conflation with Sex Work: Implications for HIV Prevention and Control*, Working Paper for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011; Burris, S., Overs, C., and Weait, M., (2010), *Laws and Practices that Effectively Criminalise People Living with HIV and Vulnerable to HIV.* Working Paper prepared for the First Meeting of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 6–7 October 2010. See also Overs, C., (2009), *Caught Between the Tiger and the Crocodile: The Campaign to Suppress Human Trafficking and Sexual Exploitation in Cambodia*, APNSW. Available at: http://www.plri.org/resource/caught-between-tiger-and-crocodile-campaignsuppress-human-trafficking-and-sexual-exploitat.
- 176 Raymond, J.G., (2002), The New UN Trafficking Protocol, Women's Studies International Forum, Vol. 25, No. 5. Available at: http://www.heart-intl.net/HEART/030106/The-NewUNTrafficking.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 177 United Nations Convention Against Transnational Organized Crime Protocol to Prevent, Suppress, and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, 2000. For a discussion, see, e.g.: http://www.nikk.no/ The+Palermo+Protocol.9UFRvKYC.ips [Accessed on 7 March 2012]. See also Touzenis, K., (2010), Trafficking in Human Beings, Human Rights and Transnational Criminal Law, Developments in Law and Practices, UNESCO, Migration Studies 3. Available at: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ images/0018/001883/188397e.pdf. [Accessed on 13 April 2012].
- 178 USAID, (2005), Office of Acquisition & Assistance, AAPD 05–04 Implementation of the United States Leadership Against HIV/AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria Act of 2003 – Eligibility Limitation on the Use of Funds and Opposition to Opposition to Prostitution and Sex Trafficking. Available at: http://transition.usaid.gov/business/business\_opportu nities/cib/pdf/aapd05\_04.pdf [Accessed on 3 July 2012]; AIDS Matters, (2005), PEPFAR Rules and Restrictions. Available at: http://www.aidsmatters.org/archives/113-PEPFAR-Rules-and-Restrictions.html [Accessed on 3 July 2012]; see also, United States Leadership Against HIV/ AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria Act, 22 U.S.C. §§ 7601(23), 7631(e), (f).

- 179 See for example, UNAIDS, (2011), The Report of the UN-AIDS Advisory Group on HIV and Sex Work. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/unaidspublication/2011/20111215\_ Report-UNAIDS-Advisory-group-HIV-Sex-Work\_en.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012]; Sukthankar, A., (2011), Sex Work, HIV and the Law, Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group, Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011.
- 180 Shah, S., (2011) Trafficking and the Conflation with Sex Work: Implications for HIV Prevention and Control, Working Paper for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011. See also Ditmore, M. and Allman, D., (2010), Implications of PEPFAR's anti-prostitution pledge for HIV prevention among organizations working with sex workers, HIV/AIDS Policy Law Review, October 2010, 15(1): 63–64.
- 181 Middleberg, M., (2006), The Anti-Prositution Policy in the US HIV/AIDS Program, Journal of Health and Human Rights, 9:1, 3–15. Available at: http://www.hhrjournal.org/archivespdf/4065386.pdf.bannered.pdf. [Accessed on 13 April 2012].
- 182 See PEPFAR rules and restrictions available at: http:// www.aidsmatters.org/archives/113-PEPFAR-Rules-and-Restrictions.html [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 183 ILO, (2010), Recommendation Concerning HIV and AIDS and the World of Work (No. 200). Available at: http://www. ilo.org/aids/lang--en/docName--WCMS\_142706/index. htm [Accessed on 7 March 2012].

## 184 Ibid.

185 New Zealand Prostitution Reform Act 2003, Part 2 Commercial Sexual Services, Sections 8 and 9. See Section 8(1) (a): "(1)Every operator of a business of prostitution must – (a)take all reasonable steps to ensure that no commercial sexual services are provided by a sex worker unless a prophylactic sheath or other appropriate barrier is used if those services involve vaginal, anal, or oral penetration or another activity with a similar or greater risk of acquiring or transmitting sexually transmissible infections"; and see Section 9(1): "(1)A person must not provide or receive commercial sexual services unless he or she has taken all reasonable steps to ensure a prophylactic sheath or other appropriate barrier is used if those services involve vaginal, anal, or oral penetration or another activity with a similar or greater risk of acquiring or transmitting sexually transmissible infections". Available at: http://www.legislation.govt.nz/act/ public/2003/0028/latest/DLM197815.html [Accessed on 16 July 2012].

- 186 The New Zealand Prostitute's Collective recently partnered with the Government. Submission from New Zealand Prostitutes Collective, New Zealand, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011.
- 187 Kenya National Commission on Human Rights, (2012), Realising Sexual and Reproductive Health Rights in Kenya: A myth or reality? – A Report of the Public Inquiry into Violations of Sexual and Reproductive Health Rights in Kenya. Available at: http://www.knchr.org/Portals/0/Reports/ Reproductive%20health%20report.pdf [Accessed on 15 May 2012]. In this report, the Kenya National Commission on Human Rights also called on the government to decriminalize same sex relationships, p. 22.
- 188 Bangladesh Society for the Enforcement of Human Rights v. Bangladesh, 2001, 53 D.L.R. 1.
- 189 Bedford v. Canada (Attorney General), 2010 ONCA 0814, Ont. Superior Ct. of Justice (28 September 2010); Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, (2010), Canadian HIV/ AIDS Legal Network Hails Decision of Ontario Court That Supports Rights of Sex Workers, News Release; Shannon K., (2010), Ontario Judge Strikes Down Prostitution Laws, National Post, 28 September 2010.
- 190 Canada (Attorney General) v. Bedford, 2012 ONCA 186. Available at: http://www.ontariocourts.ca/decisions/ 2012/2012ONCA0186.htm [Accessed on 29 March 2012].
- 191 Kylie v. Commission for Conciliation Mediation and Arbitration and Others, (CA10/08) [2010] ZALAC 8; 2010 (4) SA 383 (LAC); 2010 (10) BCLR 1029 (LAC) (26 May 2010).
- 192 UNAIDS, (2011), The Report of the UNAIDS Advisory Group on HIV and Sex Work; UNAIDS, 2010 UNGASS Greece Country Report. Available at: http://www.unaids. org/es/dataanalysis/monitoringcountryprogress/2010 progressreportssubmittedbycountries/file,33574,es..pdf [Accessed on 4 July 2012]; Mgbako, C., (2012), Sex Workers in Greece Face Forced HIV Testing, While Those in Malawi Fight Back, The Huffington Post. Available at http:// www.huffingtonpost.com/chi-mgbako/greece-forcedhiv-testing\_b\_1585301.html. [Accessed 4 July 2012]; European Network for HIV/STI Prevention and Health Promotion among Migrant Sex Workers, (2009), Sex Work, Migration, Health: A report on the intersections of legislations and policies regarding sex work, migration

and health in Europe, TAMPEP International Foundation. Available at http://tampep.eu/documents/Sexworkmigrationhealth\_final.pdf. [Accessed 4 July 2012]; Sukthankar, A., (2011), Sex Work, HIV and the Law, Working paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011. Available at: http://hivlawcommission. org/index.php/report-working-papers?task=document. viewdoc&id=99. [Accessed on 4 July 2012]; citing Sullivan, B., (2010), When (Some) Prostitution is Legal: The Impact of Law Reform on Sex Work in Australia, in Journal of Law and Society, Vol. 37, No. 1, pp. 85–104.

- 193 Brents, B. and Hausbeck, K., (2005), Violence and Legalized Brothel Prostitution in Nevada, Examining Safety, Risk, and Prostitution Policy, Journal of Interpersonal Violence, March 2005, Vol. 20, No. 3, 270–295. See US Federal and State Prostitution Laws and Related Punishments at the following link: http://prostitution.procon.org/view. resource.php?resourceID=000119#3 [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 194 Erratum: In the originally published version of "Risks, Rights and Health", the following sentence was included on p. 41: "In New Zealand, sex work has recently been prosecuted under the same law that officially decriminalises it." The sentence is not accurate and has been deleted from current on-line versions of the report (20 July 2012).
- 195 Kylie v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration and 2 others, Labour Appeals Court of South Africa, Case no: CA10/08, 26 May 2010. Available at: http:// www.saflii.org/za/cases/ZALAC/2010/8.html. [Accessed on 26 March 2012]
- 196 Sukthankar, A., Sex Work, HIV and the Law, Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011.
- 197 *Ibid.* For example, the Contagious Diseases Act passed in Britain in 1864 required that prostitutes living and working close to military encampments be tested for venereal disease, and forcibly confined to "lock hospitals" for a course of treatment if determined to be infected and contagious. A similar, but even more draconian proposal was contained in a bill presented to the legislature of the state of Maharashtra, in India: it would have required the registration of all prostitutes, with compulsory HIV test-

ing; all those found to be positive would be branded with a permanent tattoo. See Maharashtra Protection of Sex Workers Bill, 1994, found in National Human Rights Commission, India, (2000), Report of the National Conference on Human Rights and HIV/AIDS. Available at: http://nhrc.nic.in/Publications/report\_hiv-aids.htm [Accessed on 8 March 2012].

- 198 Ibid.; See also Gangoli, G., (1998), Prostitution, Legalisation and Decriminalisation: Recent Debates, Economic and Political Weekly, 7 March 1998.
- 199 UNAIDS, AIDS Epidemic Update December 2005. See also Basu, I., et al., (2004), HIV Prevention Among Sex Workers in India, Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes, 36:3, 845–852
- 200 Submission from ACHIEVE, Philippines, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011. See also Aklilu, M., et al., (2001), *Factors associated with HIV-1 infection among sex workers of Addis Ababa*, AIDS, 15: 87–96.
- 201 Consider, for example, Article 2 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights: "Everyone is entitled to all of the rights and freedoms set forth in this Declaration, without distinction of any kind, such as race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth, or other status" [emphasis added]; Article 2 of the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights: "Every individual shall be entitled to the enjoyment of the rights and freedoms recognised and guaranteed in the present Charter without distinction of any kind such as race, ethnic group, colour, sex, language, religion, political or any other opinion, national and social origin, fortune, birth or any status" [emphasis added]; and Paragraph 20 of the Explanatory Report accompanying Protocol No. 12 to the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, which specifies that the list of grounds of non-discrimination in Article 14 of the Convention is not exhaustive and notes that the European Court of Human Rights had already applied Article 14 in relation to discrimination on grounds not explicitly mentioned in that provision, including sexual orientation.
- 202 Principle 17 (right to the highest attainable standard of health); Information about the Yogyakarta Principles are available at: www.yogyakartaprinciples.org/index.html [Accessed on 6 March 2012].

- 203 Beyrer, C. and Baral, SD., (2011), MSM, HIV and the Law: The Case of Gay, Bisexual and other men who have sex with men (MSM), Working Paper for the Global Commission on HIV and the Law; Paoli, L., (2012), State-sponsored Homophobia: A world survey of laws criminalising samesex sexual acts between consenting adults, an ILGA Report (the International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association). Available at: http://old.ilga.org/ Statehomophobia/ILGA\_State\_Sponsored\_Homophobia\_2012.pdf [Accessed on 16 May 2012].
- 204 Ferchichi, W., (2011), Law and Homosexuality: Survey and analysis of legislation across the Arab World, Working Paper prepared for the Middle East and North Africa Consultation of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 27–29 July 2011; See also Maleche, A. and Day, E., (2011), Traditional Cultural Practices and HIV: Reconciling Culture and Human Rights, Working Paper for the Global Commission on HIV and the Law.
- 205 Beyrer, C. and Baral, SD., (2011), MSM, HIV and the Law: The Case of Gay, Bisexual and other men who have sex with men (MSM), Working Paper for the Global Commission on HIV and the Law; See also the submission from Alternative Côte D'Ivoire, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011, in which a man from the Ivory Coast describes his arrest for being a MSM; Submission from Abu Nawas, Algeria, for the Middle East and North Africa Consultation, 27–29 July 2011; Submission from Arab Foundation for Freedoms and Equality (AFE), Lebanon, for the Middle East and North Africa Consultation, 27–29 July 2011; Submission from ACHIEVE, Philippines, for the Asia Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011; Submission from PT Foundation, Malaysia, for the Asia Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011.
- 206 Submission from PT Foundation, Malaysia, for the Asia Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011.
- 207 *Ibid*.
- 208 Ottosson, D., (2009), State-sponsored Homophobia: A world survey of laws prohibiting same sex activity between consenting adults, ILGA, pp. 48–52.
- 209 UN, (2010), Uganda: 'Anti-Homosexuality Bill' threatens fight against HIV, UN expert warns. Available at: http:// www.un.org/apps/news/story.asp?newsID=33552&CR= discrimination&crl [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; amfAR, (2009), Uganda Anti-Homosexuality Bill Threatens Progress

Against AIDS. Available at: www.amfar.org/world/msm/ article.aspx?id=8150 [Accessed on 7 March 2012].

- 210 USAID, (2002), What happened in Uganda? Declining HIV prevalence, behavior change and national response. Available at: http://www.unicef.org/lifeskills/files/WhatHappenedInU-ganda.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 211 Tamale, S., (2009), A Human Rights Impact Assessment of the Anti-Homosexuality Bill, Public Dialogue, November 2009, Makerere University. Available at: http:// wthrockmorton.com/wp-content/uploads/2009/11/ Dr\_Tamale\_s\_speech\_at\_the\_public\_dialogue\_on\_. pdf. [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; Strand, C., (2011), Kill Bill! Ugandan human rights organisations' attempts to influence the media's coverage of the Anti-Homosexuality Bill, Culture, Health & Sexuality: An International Journal for Research, Intervention and Care, Vol. 13, Issue 8. Bill still pending before Parliament, see: http://www.rnw.nl/ africa/article/being-out-outside-uganda-any-easier [Accessed on 16 July 2012].
- 212 The Global Forum on MSM & HIV (MSMGF), (2010), Reaching Men Who Have Sex With Men (MSM) In the Global HIV & AIDS Epidemic: A Policy Brief. Available at: http://www.msmgf.org/files/msmgf/Advocacy/MSMGF\_ReachingMSMlowres.pdf [Accessed on 7 July 2012].
- 213 Abu-Raddad, L., et al., (2010), Characterizing the HIV/ AIDS epidemic in the Middle East and North Africa: time for strategic action, The World Bank. Available at: http:// www-wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2010/06/04/000333038\_201006 04011533/Rendered/PDF/548890PUB0EPI11C10Dislo sed061312010.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 214 See, for example, UNAIDS, (2010), Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic 2010, Chapter 2 Epidemic Update. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/documents/20101123\_GlobalReport\_Chap2\_em.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; amfAR Aids Research, (2008), MSM, HIV, and the Road to Universal Access — How Far Have We Come? Available at: http://www.amfar.org/uploadedFiles/In\_the\_ Community/Publications/MSM%20HIV%20and%2the %20Road%20to%20Universal%20Access.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; Mumtaz, G., et al., (2011), Are HIV epidemics among men who have sex with men emerging in the Middle East and North Africa?: a systematic review and data synthesis, PLoS Medicine 8(8): e1000444. Available

at: http://www.plosmedicine.org/article/info%3Adoi%2 F10.1371%2Fjournal.pmed.1000444 [Accessed on 7 March 2012].

- 215 UNAIDS, (2008), Global Report on the AIDS Epidemic 2008. Available at: http://data.unaids.org/pub/Global-Report/2008/jc1511\_gr08\_executivesummary\_en.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; UNAIDS, (2008), Keeping Score II: A Progress Report towards Universal Access to HIV Prevention, Treatment, Care and Support in the Caribbean. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/ contentassets/dataimport/pub/report/2008/20081206\_ keepingscoreii\_en.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 216 UNAIDS, (2009), Universal Access for Men who have Sex with Men and Transgender People, Action Framework. Available at http://data.unaids.org/pub/report/2009/jc 1720\_action\_framework\_msm\_en.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 217 Hart, G. and Elford, J., (2010), Sexual risk behaviour of men who have sex with men: emerging patterns and new challenges, Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases 23(1), pp. 39–44; See also Dowsett, GW., Grierson, JW., and McNally, SP., (2006), A Review of Knowledge about the Sexual Networks and Behaviours of Men who have Sex with Men in Asia, Australian Research Centre in Sex, Health and Society La Trobe University, Melbourne, Australia, Monograph Series Number 59; For Latin America, Cáceres, C., et al., Epidemiology of male same-sex behaviours and associated sexual health indicators in LMIC: 2003–2007 estimates, Sexually Transmitted Infections 84(1), BMJ Publishing Group, pp. i49–i56.
- 218 Beyrer, C., et al., (2011), *The Global HIV Epidemics among Men Who Have Sex with Men (MSM)*, The World Bank. Available at: http://issuu.com/world.bank.publications/ docs/9780821387269 [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; UN-AIDS, UNDP, (2009), UNAIDS Action Framework: Universal Access for Men who have Sex with Men and Transgender People. Available at: http://data.unaids.org/pub/report/ 2009/jc1720\_action\_framework\_msm\_en.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012].
- 219 Wilson, P., et al., (2011), Access to HIV Prevention Services and Attitudes about Emerging Strategies: A Global Survey of Men Who Have Sex with Men (MSM) and their Health Care Providers, The Global Forum on MSM & HIV (MSMGF). Available at: http://www.msmgf.org/files/msmgf//Publications/ GlobalSurveyReport.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].

- 220 Poteat, T., et al., (2011), HIV Risk among MSM in Senegal: A Qualitative Rapid Assessment of the Impact of Enforcing Laws That Criminalize Same Sex Practices, PloS ONE 6(12): e28760. Available at: http://www.plosone.org/article/ info%3Adoi%2F10.1371%2Fjournal.pone.0028760 [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 221 Consider Uganda's proposed Anti Homosexuality Bill, which proposed prosecution for anyone failing to report to authorities a person they knew to be homosexual: BBC News, (2011), Uganda anti-gay bill 'shelved by parliament'. Available at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/worldafrica-13392723 [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; See also Human Rights Watch, (2004), Hated to death: homophobia, violence and Jamaica's HIV/AIDS epidemic, 2004, Vol. 16 (6), p. 14. Available at: http://www.hrw.org/sites/ default/files/reports/jamaica1104.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 222 Johnson, A., (2007), Off the Map: How HIV/AIDS Programming is Failing Same-sex Practicing People in Africa, IGL-HRC, pp. 57–58; Godwin, J., (2010), Legal environments, human rights and HIV responses among men who have sex with men and transgender people in Asia and the Pacific: An agenda for action, United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and Asia Pacific Coalition on Male Sexual Health (APCOM), p. 9.; Arreola, S., et al., (2010), In Our Own Words: Preferences, Values, and Perspectives on HIV Prevention and Treatment: A Civil Society Consultation with MSM & Transgender People, Global Forum on MSM and HIV (MSMGF) and WHO, p. 10.
- 223 Beyrer, C. and Baral, SD., (2011), *MSM*, *HIV and the Law: The Case of Gay, Bisexual and other men who have sex with men (MSM)*, Working Paper for the Global Commission on HIV and the Law.
- 224 Godwin, J., (2010), Legal environments, human rights and HIV responses among men who have sex with men and transgender people in Asia and the Pacific: An agenda for action, United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and Asia Pacific Coalition on Male Sexual Health (APCOM), p. 4; Tejada, V. and Tristán, E., (2008), Shadow Report for the Human Rights Committee submitted in conjunction with Panama's (Third Periodic) Report, Asociación Hombres y Mujeres Nuevos de Panama, IGL-HRC, p. 6; UNAIDS, IPU, and UNDP, (2007), Taking action against HIV and AIDS: A handbook for parliamentarians, pp. 171–173.

- 225 Beyrer, C. and Baral, SD., (2011), MSM, HIV and the Law: The Case of Gay, Bisexual and other men who have sex with men (MSM), Working Paper for the Global Commission on HIV and the Law; Also see submission from Djamil, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011 and submission from APUVIMEH, for the Latin America Regional Dialogue, 26–27 June 2011.
- 226 Submission from Yahia Zaidi, Abu Nawas, Algeria, for the MENA Consultation, 27–29 July 2011.
- 227 Secretary-General's video message to Human Rights Council meeting on Violence and Discrimination based on Sexual Orientation or Gender Identity, Geneva, Switzerland, 7 March 2012. Available at: http://www.un.org/sg/ statements/?nid=5900 [Accessed on 24 April 2012].
- 228 Ministère de la Santé Publique, (2012), Plan stratégique national de la riposte au VIH/sida et aux IST (2012–2016), Tunisie, p. 31. Available at: http://www.ccm-tunisie.rns. tn/oportinite/contrat/document4.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012].
- 229 The Jakarta Post, (2008), *Islam 'recognizes Homosexuality'*, 28 March 2008. Available at: http://www.thejakartapost. com/news/2008/03/27/islam-039recognizes-homosexuality039.html [Accessed on 24 April 2012]. See also from Prof. Dr. Siti Musdah Mulia, (2009), *Understanding LGBT issues in Islam – Promoting the appreciation of human dignity*, 2<sup>nd</sup> CSBR Sexuality Institute – 11–18 September 2009, Istanbul. Available at: http://www.bekhsoos.com/ web/wp-content/uploads/2009/09/Homosexualityand-Islam.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012]. For more positions of Muslim scholars on homosexuality, see Samar Habib, (2009), *Islam and Homosexuality (in two volumes)*. Santa Barbara, Denver, Oxford: Praeger.
- 230 Ibid. See also UN, (2010), Universal decriminalisation of homosexuality a human rights imperative – Ban. Available
   at: http://www.un.org/apps/news/story.asp?NewsID=
   37026 [Accessed on 7 March 2012]
- 231 Commission on AIDS in Asia, (2008), *Redefining AIDS in Asia: Crafting an Effective Response*, New Delhi, Oxford University Press, p. 203.
- 232 Grover, A., (2010), , Report of the Special Rapporteur on the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, UN Human Rights Council 14<sup>th</sup> session, Promotion and protection of all human rights, civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights, including the right to development, UN Doc. A/ HRC/14/20.

- 233 Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, and UNAIDS, (2006), *International Guidelines on HIV/AIDS and Human Rights*, Consolidated Version. Available at: http://data.unaids.org/Publications/IRC-pub07/jc1252-internguidelines\_en.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 234 Ottosson, D., (2009), State-sponsored Homophobia: A world survey of laws prohibiting same sex activity between consenting adults, ILGA, pp. 50–52. Toonen v. Australia, (1994), Communication No. 488/1992, U.N. Doc CCPR/ C/50/D/488/1992. Available at: http://www.humanrights.gov.au/education/hr\_explained/case\_studies. html [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 235 Hong Kong (Sec'y for Justice) v. Yau Yuk Lung and Lee Kam Chuen, 10 HKCFAR 335, H.K. Ct. of Final Appeal, 17 July 2007.
- 236 Leung v. Hong Kong (Sec'y for Justice), 4 HKLRD 211, H.K. Ct. of Appeal, 20 September 2006.
- 237 Nadan and McCoskar v. State, HAA0085 & 86 OF 2005, Fiji High Ct., 26 August 2005.
- 238 Romer v. Evans, 116 S.Ct. 1620, (1996).
- 239 Lawrence v. Texas, 123 S.Ct. 2472, (2003).
- 240 Belize Criminal Code Chapter 101, Revised Edition 2000.
   Available at: http://www.belizelaw.org/lawadmin/PDF%
   20files/cap101.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 241 Naz Foundation v. Government of NCT of New Delhi and Others, WP(C) No. 7455/2001. Available at http://www. nazindia.org/judgement\_377.pdf. [Accessed 12 June 2012]. Godwin, J., (2010), Legal environments, human rights and HIV responses among men who have sex with men and transgender people in Asia and the Pacific: An agenda for action. UNDP/APCOM.
- 242 Aids Free World, (2011), *Q&A: AIDS-Free World's challenge* of Jamaica's Anti-Gay Law. Available at: http://www.aidsfreeworld.org/Our-Issues/Homophobia/Q-and-A-AIDS-Free-Worlds-Challenge-of-Jamaica-Anti-Gay-Law.aspx [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 243 Hillary Rodham Clinton, U.S. Secretary of State, (2011), Remarks in Recognition of International Human Rights Day. Available at http://www.state.gov/secretary/rm/ 2011/12/178368.htm. [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 244 Global Rights, et al., (2010), Violations of the Rights of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Persons in Mexico: A Shadow Report. Available at: http://www.globalrights. org/site/DocServer/LGBT\_ICCPR\_Shadow\_Report\_ Mexico.pdf?docID=11184 [Accessed on 7 March 2012];

Sanders, D., (2009), Transgender Rights, Asia and Pacific Transgender Network Development Conference, Bangkok, Thailand, December 13–16, 2009. Available at http:// ilga.org/ilga/en/article/mdO32ZR1AY. [Accessed on 13 July 2012]; ILGA, (2011), Malaysian transexual fights for rights. Available at http://ilga.org/ilga/en/article/ mNnGOmm1cU. [Accessed on 13 July 2012].

- 245 For instance, Australia, New Zealand, and India, available at: http://thenewcivilrightsmovement.com/trans gender-dont-try-to-board-a-plane-in-canada/politics/2012/02/02/33945 [Accessed on 7 March 2012]. In some places changing one's sex on official documents is legal, but the law is unenforced. In Pakistan, for instance, a court ordered that identity-appropriate ID cards be issued to transgender people, but the ruling has not been put into effect. Available at: http://www.hrw.org/ news/2012/01/14/sweden-letter-prime-minister-regarding-transgender-law [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 246 Submission from Aung Min Thein Purple Sky Network, Greater Mekong Subregion of Southeast Asia, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011.
- 247 Section 153 (1) (xlvii), Summary Jurisdiction (Offences) Act, Chapter 8:02.
- 248 Art. 198, Kuwaiti Penal Code, No. 16 of 1960, found in Human Rights Watch, (2012), *They Hunt Us Down for Fun*, p. 4.
- 249 Ibid.
- 250 Submission from Valentina Riascos Sanchez, Santamaría Fundación, Colombia, for the Latin America Regional Dialogue, 26–27 June 2011.
- 251 Submission from Society Against Sexual Orientation Discrimination (SASOD), Guyana, for the Caribbean Regional Dialogue, 12–13 April 2011.
- 252 Paoli, L. (2012), State-sponsored Homophobia: A world survey of laws criminalising same-sex sexual acts between consenting adults, an ILGA Report (the International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association). Available at: http://old.ilga.org/Statehomophobia/ILGA\_ State\_Sponsored\_Homophobia\_2012.pdf [Accessed on 16 May 2012]; Godwin, J., (2010), Legal environments, human rights and HIV responses among men who have sex with men and transgender people in Asia and the Pacific: An agenda for action, United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and Asia Pacific Coalition on Male Sexual Health (APCOM).

- 253 See for example, Submissions from Red Initiative, Trinidad and Tobago and University of Ontario, Int. Technology, Canada, for the Caribbean Regional Dialogue, 12–13 April 2011; Submissions from PT Foundation, Malaysia, Pacific Islands AIDS Foundation, Fiji, Ravudi, Fiji and Space, India, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011; Submissions from Santamaria Fundacian, Columbia, Redlactrans, Argentina, Asociation Penamena de Personas TRANS, Panama and OTRAVS, Guatemala, for the Latin America Regional Dialogue, 26–27 June 2011; Submission DynamiX, South Africa, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011; Brendan Michael Connor, Streetwise and Safe, for High Income Countries Dialogue, 16–17 September 2011.
- 254 Submission from Taysa Fernandes, Ángel Azul, Honduras, for the Latin America Regional Dialogue, 26–27 June 2011.
- 255 UNDP, (2011), Towards Universal access Examples of Municipal HIV Programming for Men who have sex with Men and Transgender People in Six Asian Cities. Available at: http:// www.snap-undp.org/elibrary/Publication.aspx?id=535 [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; See also, submission from Sangama, India and SPACE, India, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011.
- 256 Submission from Cecilia Chung, USA, to the High Income Countries Dialogue, 16–17 September 2011; Grant, JM. et al., (2011), *Injustice at Every Turn: A Report of the National Transgender Discrimination Survey*, Washington: National Center for Transgender Equality and National Gay and Lesbian Task Force, 72. Available at http://www.transequality.org/PDFs/NTDS\_Report.pdf [Accessed on 7 July 2012].
- 257 See for example, Submission from Transgender Sex Workers Cape Town, South Africa, for the African Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011; See another example of similar experience in Asia, Submission from Ravudi, Fiji, for the Asia Pacific Regional Dialogue, 6–17 February 2011.
- 258 Haas, AP., et al., (2011), Suicide and suicide risk in lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender populations: Review and Recommendations, Journal of Homosexuality, 58(1), 10– 51; American Foundation for Suicide Prevention, (2011), Preventing Suicidal Behavior in LGBT Individuals, Public Policy Issue Brief.

- 259 'Sexual minorities' refers to people who identify themselves largely around their preferred sexual acts and the communities of those who seek out similar pleasures. 'Gender minorities' are people who are more comfortable living social roles or appearances that do not conform with those conventionally assigned to their biological bodies; they may not in fact identify as either men or women.
- 260 National Centre for Transgender Equality and National Gay and Lesbian Task Force, (2009), *National Transgender Discrimination Survey*, found in Beyrer, C., et al., (2011), *The Global HIV Epidemics among Men Who Have Sex with Men (MSM)*, The World Bank. Available at: http://issuu. com/world.bank.publications/docs/9780821387269 [Accessed on 7 March 2012].

261 Ibid.

- 262 Paoli, L., (2012), State-sponsored Homophobia: A world survey of laws criminalising same-sex sexual acts between consenting adults, an ILGA Report (the International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association). Available at: http://old.ilga.org/Statehomophobia/ILGA\_ State\_Sponsored\_Homophobia\_2012.pdf [Accessed on 16 May 2012]. See also Godwin, J., (2010) Legal environments, human rights and HIV responses among men who have sex with men and transgender people in Asia and the Pacific: An agenda for action, UNDP, Bangkok, Thailand.
- 263 Beyrer, C., et al., (2011), Expanding the Space: Inclusion of Most-at-Risk Populations in HIV Prevention, Treatment, and Care Services, Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes, Vol. 57, 96–99.
- 264 Paoli, L., (2012), State-sponsored Homophobia: A world survey of laws criminalising same-sex sexual acts between consenting adults, an ILGA Report (the International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association). Available at: http://old.ilga.org/Statehomophobia/ILGA\_ State\_Sponsored\_Homophobia\_2012.pdf [Accessed on 16 May 2012].
- 265 Sunil Babu Pant and others v. Nepal Government and others [2008] 2 NJA L.J. 261–286; National Judicial Academy (NJA), Nepal, 2010, The landmark decisions of the Supreme court, Nepal on Gender Justice. Available at: http://www.njanepal.org.np/index.php?option=com\_rokdownload s&view=file&task=download&id=64%3Athe-landmark-decisions-of-the-supreme-court-nepal-on-gender-justice&ltemid=159 [Accessed on 28 March 2012];

Godwin, J., (2010), Legal environments, human rights and HIV responses among men who have sex with men and transgender people in Asia and the Pacific: An Agenda for action, UNDP. Available at: http://regionalcentrebangkok. undp.or.th/practices/hivaids/documents/874\_UNDP\_final.pdf [Accessed on 28 March 2012]; UNDP, Nepal census recognizes third gender for the first time. Available at: http://www.beta.undp.org/undp/en/home/ourwork/hivaids/successtories/Nepal\_third\_gender\_census\_recognition.html [Accessed on 28 March 2012].

- 266 Godwin, J., (2010), Legal environments, human rights and HIV responses among men who have sex with men and transgender people in Asia and the Pacific: An Agenda for action, UNDP. Available at: http://regionalcentrebangkok.undp.or.th/practices/hivaids/documents/874\_ UNDP\_final.pdf [Accessed on 28 March 2012]; Katyal, Sonia, (2010), *The Dissident Citizen*, UCLA Law Review, Vol. 57, p. 1415, 2010; Fordham Law Legal Studies Research Paper No. 1547148. Available at SSRN: http://ssrn.com/ abstract=1547148 [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; Redding, Jeff, (2011), *From 'She-Males' to 'Unix': Transgender Rights in Pakistan and the Criminal Law Origins of a Constitutional Case*. Available at SSRN: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1905070 [Accessed on 24 April 2012].
- 267 Argentina Approves Transgender Rights Legislation, Makes Sex-Change Surgery a Legal Right. Available at: http://ilga.org/ilga/en/article/nx0WWQ81Ot [Accessed on 15 May 2012]; Paoli, L., (2012), State-sponsored Homophobia: A world survey of laws criminalising same-sex sexual acts between consenting adults, an ILGA Report (the International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association). Available at: http://old.ilga.org/ Statehomophobia/ILGA\_State\_Sponsored\_Homophobia\_2012.pdf [Accessed on 16 May 2012].
- 268 Law No. 18.620, 2009. Derecho a la Identidad de Genero y al Cambio de Nombre y Sexo en Documentos Identificatorios, 2009, D.O 17 Nov/009 – No. 27858. Available at: http://www0.parlamento.gub.uy/leyes/AccesoTextoLey. asp?Ley=18620&Anchor [Accessed on 10 April 2012]. See also AWID, (2009), Uruguay Approves Sex Change Bill. Available at: http://www.awid.org/Library/Uruguayapproves-sex-change-bill [Accessed on 10 April 2012].
- 269 Godwin, J., (2010), Legal Environment, Human Rights and HIV Responses Among Men Who Have Sex With Men and Transgender People in Asia and the Pacific, An Agenda for

Action, UNDP, APCOM, Bangkok, Thailand. See also the Indian Passport Office at http://www.passportindia.gov. in/AppOnlineProject/online/chanParticular#. [Accessed on 26 April 2012]. Deshpande, S., (2005), *Passport Office Takes Note of Sex Change*, The Times of India, Mumbai. Available at: http://articles.timesofindia.indiatimes.com/ 2005-11-10/mumbai/27860904\_1\_passport-office-new -passport-change-operation. [Accessed on 26 April 2012]

- 270 Law no. 7/2011, 15 March 201, Cria o procedimento de mudanca de sexo e de nome proprio no registo civil e procede a decima setima alteracao ao Codigo do Registo Civil. Available at: http://dre.pt/pdf1sdip/2011/03/05200 /0145001451.pdf [Accessed on 25 April 2012]. See also TGEU, (2011), Portugal Adopts Trans Law, 8 days for Legal Gender Recognition. Available at: http://www.tgeu.org/ PR\_Portuese\_Trans\_Law [Accessed on 10 April 2012].
- 271 UNOCD, Prison Settings. Available at: http://www.unodc. org/southernafrica/en/hiv/prison-settings.html [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 272 ICPS, Entire world Prison Population Rates per 100,000 of the national population. Available at: http://www. prisonstudies.org/info/worldbrief/wpb\_stats.php?area= all&category=wb\_poprate [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 273 Goyer, KC., (2003), HIV/AIDS in Prison, Problems, Policies and Potential, Institute for Security Studies Monographs, p. 103.
- 274 International HIV/AIDS Alliance and Commonwealth HIV and AIDS Action Group, (2010), *Enabling legal environments for effective HIV responses: A leadership challenge for the Commonwealth.* Available at: http://www.hivpolicy. org/Library/HPP001810.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
  275 *Ibid.*
- 276 UNODC, UNAIDS, (2007), HIV and Prisons in sub-Saharan Africa: Opportunities for Action, Joint report by ACTAfrica-World Bank, UNAIDS & UNODC assisted by WHO/AFRO, 7. Available at: http://www.unodc.org/documents/hiv-aids /Africa%20HIV\_Prison\_Paper\_Oct-23-07-en.pdf. [Accessed on 17 July 2012].
- 277 Lines, R., (2008), *The right to health of prisoners in international law*, International Journal of Prisoner Health 4(1), p. 6.; Goyer, KC., 2003, supra. Also see for example the many cases that have recognized the impact of prison conditions on the risk prisoners face to HIV such as *S v. Magida*, Case No. 515/2004. Available at: http://www.saflii.org/za/cases/ZASCA/2005/68.html [Accessed on 6 March 2012];

and EN and Others v Government of the Republic of South Africa, Case No. 4576/2006. Available at: http://www.beatit.co.za/media/PDFs/EN%20and%20Others%20v%20 Government%20of%20the%20RSA.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].

- 278 *Ibid.* In *EN and Others* the court referred to the special vulnerability of prisoners with HIV. The judge gave two specific examples of the way in which prisoners' vulnerability to HIV is increased, firstly, they are at the mercy of prison officials who are required to transport or facilitate access to HIV clinics and secondly, not all of the services that would be provided to persons in the community, e.g. home visits can be provided to prisoners.
- 279 Johnson, R. and Raphael, S., (2006), The Effects of Male Incarceration Dynamics on AIDS Infection Rates among African American Women and Men, Working Paper 22, National Poverty Center, University of Michigan. Available at: http://www.npc.umich.edu/publications/workingpaper06/paper22/working\_paper06-22.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 280 Csete, J., (2010), Consequences of Injustice: Pre-trial Detention and Health, International Journal of Prisoner Health 6(2), pp. 47–58; Jürgens, R. and Tomasini-Joshi, T., (2010), Editorial, International Journal of Prisoner Health 6(2), pp. 45–46; Jürgens, R. and Betteridge, G., (2005), Prisoners who inject drugs: Public health and human rights imperatives, Health and Human Rights 8(2), p. 54.
- 281 Basic Principles for the Treatment of Prisoners, (1990),
   U.N. G.A. Res. 45/111, annex, 45 U.N. GAOR Supp. (No. 49A) at 200, U.N. Doc A/45/49.
- 282 Article 10, International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. Available at: http://www2.ohchr.org/english/law/ ccpr.htm [Accessed on 24 April 2012].
- 283 This "principle of equivalence" enjoys broad consensus among international health and human rights instruments and organisations. See for example Basic Principles for the Treatment of Prisoners (1990), supra; World Health Organization, (1993), *Guidelines on HIV Infection* and AIDS in Prisons; UN Office on Drugs and Crime, World Health Organization and UNAIDS, (2006), *HIV/AIDS Prevention, Care, Treatment and Support in Prison Settings: A Framework for an Effective National Response;* Council Of Europe Committee Of Ministers Recommendation of the Committee of Ministers to member states on the European Prison Rules (adopted 11 January 2006).

- 284 See for example, with reference to Art.3 European Convention on Human Rights, Akandji, JF., (2007), Positive Obligations under the European Convention on Human Rights, Human Rights Handbook Nr. 7, Council of Europe. Available at: http://echr.coe.int/NR/rdonlyres/1B521F61-A636-43 F5-AD56-5F26D46A4F55/0/DG2ENHRHAND072007. pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; Lines, R., (2007), Injecting Reason: Prison Syringe Exchange and Article 3 of the European Convention on Human Rights. Available at: http://www.humanrightsanddrugs.org/wp-content/uploads/2009/09/Injecting-Reason-R-Lines.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012]; Elliott, R., (2011), Treatment or Torture? Applying International Human Rights Standards to Drug Detention Centers, Open Society Foundations. Available at: http://www.soros.org/initiatives/health/focus/ihrd/articles\_publications/treatment-or-torture-20110624.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 285 Human Rights Watch, (2006), HIV/AIDS in Prisons, New York, USA; see also UNODC, UNAIDS (2008), Women and HIV in Prison Settings, Geneva, Switzerland; UNODC, UNAIDS, (2007), HIV and Prisons in Sub-Saharan Africa, Geneva, Switzerland; and Eurasian Harm Reduction Network, Available at: http://www.harm-reduction.org/prisons/ad-vocacyand-policy.html [Accessed on 6 March 2012] where it was noted for example, that incarceration frequently results in the interruption of treatment for HIV, TB and drug dependence. See generally, Lines, R., (2008), The Right to Health of Prisoners in International Human Rights Law, International Journal of Prisoner Health 4(1), pp. 3–53.
- 286 Submission from Thai AIDS Action Group, Thailand, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011.
- 287 AIDS and Rights Alliance of Southern Africa, (2009), HIV/ AIDS and Human Rights in Southern Africa. Available at: http://www.safaids.net/files/ARASA\_Human\_rights\_report\_2009.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 288 Ibid.
- 289 Jurgens, R., Lines, R., and Cook, C., (2010), Out of sight, out of mind? Harm reduction in prisons and other places of detention, in Cook, C., (2010), Global State of Harm Reduction: Key issues for broadening the response, International Harm Reduction Association.
- 290 WHO/Europe, (2005), Status Paper on Prisons, Drugs, and Harm Reduction, Available at: http://www.euro.who. int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0006/78549/E85877.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].

- 291 Martin, V., et al., (1998), Predictive Factors of HIV infection in Injection Drug Users Upon Incarceration, European Journal of Epidemiology 14(4), pp. 327–331.
- 292 Jürgens, R., Ball, A., and Verster, A., (2009), Interventions to reduce HIV transmission related to injecting drug use in prison, The Lancet infectious diseases 9(1). Available at: http://www.who.int/hiv/topics/idu/InterventionsReduceHIVIDUinPrisons.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 293 Harm Reduction International, (2010), *Global State of Harm Reduction*. Available at: http://www.ihra.net/international-response [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 294 Jürgens, R., Ball, A., and Verster, A., (2009), *Interventions* to reduce HIV transmission related to injecting drug use in prison, The Lancet infectious diseases 9(1). Available at: http://www.who.int/hiv/topics/idu/InterventionsReduceHIVIDUinPrisons.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 295 Minister of Justice of the Republic of Moldova, at the Eastern Europe and Central Asia Regional Dialogue, 18–19 May 2011.
- 296 Strykiwsky v. Mills and Canada, Court File No. T-389-00 (2000).
- 297 IOM, (2010), World Migration Report 2010, The Future of Migration: Building Capacities for Change, IOM, Geneva, Switzerland; UN DESA, (2010), World Population Policies 2009, UN DESA, New York; UN DESA, (2009) Trends in total migrant stock: 2008 revision, UN DESA, New York; UNDP, (2009), Human Development Report 2009, Overcoming barriers: Human mobility and development, UNDP.
- 298 UNAIDS, IOM, ILO, (2008), *HIV and International Labour Migration: Policy Brief, Geneva*, Switzerland.
- 299 Ibid. See also Centre for Disease Control and Prevention, (2010), Estimated lifetime risk for Diagnosis of HIV Infection amongst Hispanics/Latinos – 37 states and Puerto Rico, 15 October 2010, 59(40): 1297–1301; UNDP, (2004), Migration and HIV: Vulnerability Assessment among Foreign Migrants in South Korea, UNDP Report, South Korea. See also for example, the submission from Palitha Vijayabandara, Sri Lanka, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011 who stated 'While migrant workers themselves are vulnerable, being HIV positive; a woman; or from a sexual minority; enhances their vulnerability'.
- 300 Centre for Disease Control and Prevention, (2010), Estimated lifetime risk for Diagnosis of HIV Infection amongst Hispanics/Latinos – 37 states and Puerto Rico, 15 October 2010, 59(40): 1297–1301; See also for example, a South

African study of women living in Carletonville which showed that the HIV infection rate was 46.0 % amongst migrants and 34.7 % amongst non-migrants, Zuma K., Gouws, E., Williama, B., and Lurie, M., (2003), *Risk factors for HIV-infection among women in Carletonville, South Africa: migration, demography and sexually transmitted diseases,* International Journal of STD and AIDS, Vol. 14, 814–817. Likewise a study in the Dominican Republic showed that migrant women had a similar risk profile to that of sex workers, Brewer T., et al., (1998), *Migration, ethnicity and environment: HIV risk factors for women on the sugar cane plantations,* AIDS, Vol. 12, 879–1887.

- 301 UNAIDS, IOM, ILO, (2008), HIV and International Labour Migration: Policy Brief, Geneva, Switzerland; Zuma, K., Gouws, E., Williama, B., and Lurie, M., (2003), Risk factors for HIV-infection among women in Carletonville, South Africa: migration, demography and sexually transmitted diseases, International Journal of STD and AIDS, Vol 14, 814–817. Brewer, T., et al., (1998), Migration, ethnicity and environment: HIV risk factors for women on the sugar cane plantations, AIDS, Vol. 12, 879–1887. In the Carletonville study it was suggested by the authors that many migrant women engaged in multiple sexual relationships for economic reasons, this heightened their risk of HIV infection. See also, UNDP, (2008), HIV Vulnerabilities Faced by Women Migrants: From Asia to the Arab States, From Silence, Stigma and Shame to Safe Mobility with Dignity, Equity and Justice, UNDP.
- 302 UNAIDS, IOM, ILO, (2008), *HIV and International Labour Migration: Policy Brief*, Geneva, Switzerland.
- 303 Personal communication from Commissioner Jon Ungphakorn, 22 November 2011 regarding the situation in Thailand and see for example, Human Rights Watch, (2007), *Chronic Indifference: HIV/AIDS Services for Immigrants detained by the United States*, Vol. 10, New York, USA, which describes the lack of access to HIV treatment for persons detained in US immigration centres.
- 304 International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (1966); International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR) (1966); the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (1979); Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989) and its Optional Protocol (2000); and the United Nations Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons (2000). ICESCR, Article 12, reflects the human right to the highest attainable standard of health,

herein referred to as the "right to health". See also ILO, (1998), Declaration on the Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work; UNESCO, (1960), Convention Against Discrimination in Education. Article 1 defines discrimination as including "any distinction, exclusion, limitation or preference which, being based on race, economic condition or birth, has the purpose or effect of nullifying or impairing equality of treatment in education".

- 305 Article 12 (1) Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (1966): "Everyone lawfully within the territory of a State shall, within that territory, have the right to liberty of movement and freedom to choose his residence." See also Article 13 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, 10 December 1948.
- 306 See also the principles and standards set forth in the relevant instruments elaborated within the framework of the International Labour Organisation especially the *Convention concerning Migration for Employment*, No. 97 adopted in 1949 and the *Convention concerning Migrations in Abusive Conditions and the Promotion of Equality of Opportunity and Treatment of Migrant Workers*, No. 143 adopted in 1975.
- 307 International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of all Migrant Workers and Members of their Families, G.A. 45<sup>th</sup> session on 18 December 1990, A/RES/45/158.
- 308 See for example, personal communication, Commissioner Jon Ungphakorn, *supra*. See also the submission from Space Allies, Japan, Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011 where they describe how non-Japanese nationals without permanent residence are excluded from the national health system.
- 309 At the African Regional Dialogue it was reported that ARVs are only provided to prisoners who are citizens of Botswana, Report of the African Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011, Pretoria, South Africa.
- 310 Medical Justice, (2011), Detained and Denied, The Clinical Care of Immigration Detainees Living with HIV, available at http://www.medicaljustice.org.uk/images/stories/reports/ d%26d.pdf. [Accessed on 3 April 2012]. National Aids Trust, (2011), Failures of HIV Treatment in Immigration Removal Centres are Inexcusable, March 2011. Available at: http://www. nat.org.uk/News-and-Media/Press-Releases/2011/March/ Medical%20Justice.aspx. [Accessed on 3 April 2012]. Specialist submission from the African Health Policy Network for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011.

- 311 National Aids Trust, (2012), NAT comments on the Government's commitment to give free HIV treatment in England to all those who need it, Press releases, February 2012. Available at: http://www.nat.org.uk/News-and-Media/Press-Releases/2012/February/Charging%20amendment.aspx [Accessed on 29 March 2012]; Migrants' Rights Network, (2012), HIV treatment to be free for undocumented migrants an non-UK citizens, 5 March 2012. Available at: http://www.migrantsrights.org.uk/news/2012/hiv-treatment-be-free-undocumented-migrants-and-non-ukcitizens [Accessed on 29 March 2012].
- 312 UNAIDS (2011), *HIV-related restrictions on entry, stay and residence*, UNAIDS Human Rights and Law Team, June 2011, http://www.unaids.org/en/targetsandcommitments/eliminatingtravelrestrictions/ [Accessed 10 January 2012]. As at November 2011, 47 countries, territories and areas continued to impose discriminatory restrictions on the entry, stay or residence of people living with HIV: United Nations General Assembly, *Report of the Secretary-General: United to end AIDS: achieving the targets of the 2011 Political Declaration*, A/66/757. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/document/2012/20120402\_UNGA\_A-66-757\_en.pdf [Accessed on 1 May 2012].
- 313 *Ibid.* See also submission from European AIDS Treatment Group and Deutsche AIDS-Hilfe for the Eastern Europe & Central Asia Regional Dialogue, 18–19 May 2011.
- 314 Submission from David Haerry and Peter Wiessner, Global Database on HIV-specific Entry and Residence Restrictions, Germany, for the High Income Countries Dialogue, 16–17 September 2011.
- 315 Ibid. UNAIDS, (2009), The Impact of HIV-related Restrictions on Entry, Stay and Residence: Personal Narratives, UNAIDS, Geneva, Switzerland; UNAIDS, (2008), Report of the international task team on HIV-related travel restrictions, Findings and Recommendations, UNAIDS, Geneva, Switzerland.
- 316 See http://hivtravel.org/Default.aspx?pageld=150. See also UNAIDS Press Release (2010), UNAIDS salutes country leadership to eliminate HIV-related restrictions on entry, stay and residence. Available at: http://www.unaids. org/en/resources/presscentre/pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2010/july/20100720prtravelrestrictions/. [Accessed on 3 April 2012]; UNAIDS Press Statement, (2011), Armenia Lifts Travel Ban for People Living with

HIV. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/ presscentre/pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2011/ july/20110715psarmenia/. [Accessed on 3 April 2012]; UNAIDS Press Statement, (2011), Fiji Lifts Travel Ban for People Living with HIV. Available at: http://www.unaids. org/en/resources/presscentre/pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2011/august/20110826cfiji/. [Accessed on 3 April 2012]; UNAIDS Press Statement, (2010), UN Secretary-General applauds the removal of entry restrictions based on HIV status by United States of America and Republic of Korea. Available at: http://data.unaids.org/ pub/PressStatement/2010/20100104\_ps\_travelrestrictions\_en.pdf [Accessed on 3 April 2012]; United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Secretary-General: United to end AIDS: achieving the targets of the 2011 Political Declaration, A/66/757. Available at: http://www.unaids. org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/document/2012/20120402\_UNGA\_A-66-757\_en.pdf [Accessed on 1 May 2012].

- 317 UNAIDS, WHO and UNICEF, (2011), Global HIV/AIDS Response: Epidemic update and health sector progress towards Universal Access – Progress Report 2011. Available at: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2011/ 9789241502986\_eng.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 318 UNAIDS, UNIFEM and UNFPA, (2004), Woman and HIV: Confronting the Crisis. Available at: http://www.unfpa. org/hiv/women/docs/women\_aids.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012]. See also submission from Meena Seshu, SANGRAM, India, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011.
- 319 Ibid.
- 320 Quarraisha A-K., et al., (2010), *HIV and Maternal Mortality: Turning the Tide*, Lancet 375 (2010): 1948–1949. Available at: http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PII S0140-6736(10)60747-7/fulltext [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 321 Hogan, M.C., et al., (2010), Maternal Mortality for 181 Countries, 1980–2008: a Systematic Analysis of Progress Towards the Millennium Development Goal 5, Lancet. Available at: http://www.who.int/pmnch/topics/maternal/20100402\_ihmearticle.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 322 Basu, A. and Menon, R., (2011), *Violence Against Women*, *HIV/AIDS Vulnerability, and the Law*. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of Technical Advisory

Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011; Submission from National Youth Council of Malawi, Malawi, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011; UN General Assembly, (2005), *Special Rapporteur on Violence Against Women: Integration of the Human Rights of Women and the Gender Perspective: Violence Against Women, Intersections of Violence Against Women and HIV/AIDS*, E/CN.4/2005/72. Available at: http:// daccess-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G05/102/11/ PDF/G0510211.pdf?OpenElement [Accessed on 6 March 2012].

- 323 Ngwena, C., (2011), Sexual Health and Human Rights in the African Region, ICHRP. Available at: http://www. ichrp.org/files/papers/185/140\_Ngwena\_Africa\_2011. pdf#search=%27Sexual%20rights%20in%20africa%20 %27. [Accessed on 10 April 2012]. See also UN General Assembly, (2006), In-depth Study on All Forms of Violence against Women: Report of the Secretary General, A/61/122/ Add. 1. Available at: http://www.unhcr.org/refworld/ docid/484e58702.html [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
  324 Ibid.
- 325 Submission from American Society for Muslim Advancement, USA, for the High Income Countries Dialogue, 16–17 September 2011.
- 326 Basu, A. and Menon, R., (2011), Violence Against Women, HIV/AIDS Vulnerability, and the Law. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011; UNAIDS (2010) Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic 2010. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/globalreport/Global\_report.htm [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 327 Sivakumaran, S., (2007), Sexual Violence Against Men in Armed Conflict, The European Journal of International Law, 18:2. Available at: http://ejil.oxfordjournals.org/content/18/2/253.full.pdf+html [Accessed on 10 April 2012]; Africa Faith and Justice Network, (2011), Male Rape in Armed Conflict Widespread and Underreported. Available at: http://afjn.org/focus-campaigns/promote-peace-dr-congo/30-commentary/986-male-rape-in-armed-conflict-underreported-.html [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 328 Frasca, T., (2005), AIDS in Latin America, Palgrave/ Macmillan.
- 329 UN General Assembly, (2009), Intensification of Efforts to Eliminate All Forms of Violence Against Women, Resolution 63/155, 30 January 2009.

- 330 Basu, A. and Menon, R., (2011), Violence Against Women, HIW/AIDS Vulnerability, and the Law. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011; Cusack, S., (2010), Advancing Sexual Health and Human Rights in the Western Pacific, International Council on Human Rights Policy. Available at: http://www.ichrp. org/files/papers/179/140\_Simone\_Cusack\_Western\_Pacific\_2010.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 331 WHO, (2005), Multi-Country Study on Women's Health and Domestic Violence against Women: Initial Results on Prevalence, Health Outcomes and Women's Response. Available at: http://www.who.int/gender/violence/who\_multicountry\_study/en/ [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 332 UN General Assembly, (2005), Special Rapporteur on Violence Against Women: Integration of the Human Rights of Women and the Gender Perspective: Violence Against Women, Intersections of Violence Against Women and HIV/AIDS, E/CN.4/2005/72. Available at: http://daccessdds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G05/102/11/PDF/ G0510211.pdf?OpenElement [Accessed on 6 March 2012]. ECOSOC, (2006), Special Rapporteur on Violence Against Women, Its Causes and Consequences: Integration of the Human Rights of Women and the Gender Perspective: Violence Against Women, E/CN.4/2006/61. Available at: http://daccess-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G06/ 103/50/PDF/G0610350.pdf?OpenElement [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women, (1992), General Recommendation No. 19: Violence Against Women Eleventh Session, A/47/38. Available at: http://www.un.org/womenwatch/ daw/cedaw/recommendations/recomm.htm [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; UN General Assembly, (2010), Report of the Special Rapporteur on torture, and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, A/HRC/13/39/ Add.5. Available at: http://www2.ohchr.org/english/ bodies/hrcouncil/docs/13session/A.HRC.13.39.Add.5\_ en.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 333 Zimbabwe, Criminal Law (Codification and Reform) Act No. 23 2004 defines rape in the following way: "[W]here a male person knowingly has sexual intercourse or anal sexual intercourse with a female person and at the time of the intercourse (a) the female person has not consented to it; and b) he knows that she has not consented to it or realizes that there is a real risk or possibility that she may not have consented to it."

- 334 Both Tanzania and Botswana fail to establish that rape in marriage is illegal: Legal Assistance Centre [Namibia] (LAC), (2006), Rape in Namibia: An Assessment of the Operation of the Combating of Rape Act 8 2000. (See further section below on marital rape).
- 335 UN Women, (2011), Progress of the World's Women 2011-2012: In pursuit of Justice. Available at: http://progress.unwomen.org/2011/07/laws-on-violence-against-women [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 336 Ibid. UN General Assembly, (2006), In-depth study on all forms of violence against Women, A/61/122/Add.1. Available at: http://www.un.org/ga/search/view\_doc. asp?symbol=A/61/122/Add.1 [Accessed on 24 April 2012].
- 337 UN Secretary-General Database on Violence Against Women, (2009), Antigua: Section 4 of the Sexual Offenses Act 1995 (No. 9 of 1995). Available at: http://webapps01. un.org/vawdatabase/searchDetail.action?measureld=2 8469&baseHREF=country&baseHREFId=136 [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; UN Secretary-General Database on Violence Against Women, (2009), Bahamas: Section 15 of the Sexual Offenses and Domestic Violence Act (1991). Available at: http://webapps01.un.org/vawdatabase/ searchDetail.action?measureld=28489 [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 338 Submission from Advocate Rup Narayan, Forum for Women, Law and Development, Nepal, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16-17 February 2011; Maria Eugenia Calvin Perez, Observatorio de Equidad de Genero en Salud (OEGS), Chile, for the Latin America Regional Dialogue, 26-27 June 2011; Kassoum Ibrahim, Association des Jeunes Juristes du Niger, Niger; Odikpo Josephine Uzoya Anthonia, Center for Rights and Development, Nigeria; Sanger and Keehn; Cheung, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3-4 August 2011; UNAIDS and UNCHR, (2006), International Guidelines on HIV/AIDS and Human Rights Consolidated Version. Available at: http:// data.unaids.org/Publications/IRC-pub07/jc1252-internguidelines\_en.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; Basu, A. and Menon, R., (2011), Violence Against Women, HIV/ AIDS Vulnerability, and the Law. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7-9 July 2011; Human Rights Watch, (2011), He Loves You, He Beats You: Family Violence in Turkey and Access to Protection for a Discussion of the Failures of Implementing Domestic Violence

*Laws.* Available at: http://www.hrw.org/sites/default/ files/reports/turkey0511webwcover.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].

- 339 Submission from Observatorio de Equidad de Genero en Salud (OEGS), Chile, for the Latin America Regional Dialogue, 26–27 June 2011.
- 340 The Global Commission on Women and AIDS and WHO, (2004), Sexual Violence in Conflict Settings and the Risk of HIV. Available at: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/unaids/2004/ a85593.pdf [Accessed: 25 October 2011].
- 341 UN Commission on Human Rights, (2004), The Right of Everyone to the Enjoyment of the Highest Attainable Standard of Physical and Mental Health, Resolution 2004/27, 16 April 2004. Available at: http://www.unhcr. org/refworld/topic,4565c2252f,4565c25f3e3,45377c40c, 0,,RESOLUTION,.html [Accessed on 29 March 2012].
- 342 UNAIDS, UNIFEM and UNFPA, (2004), Woman and HIV: Confronting the Crisis. Available at: http://www.unfpa. org/hiv/women/docs/women\_aids.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012]; UN Commission on Human Rights, (2005), Elimination of Violence Against Women, Resolution 2005/41, para. 9. Available at: http://www.unhcr. org/refworld/docid/45377c59c.html [Accessed on 29 March 2012]; UNAIDS and Global Coalition on Women and AIDS, (2004), Violence Against Women and HIV/AIDS: Critical Intersections, Information Bulletin Series, 1–9. Available at: http://www.who.int/gender/violence/en/ vawinformationbrief.pdf [Accessed on 29 March 2012].
- 343 Lewis, I., Maruia, B., et al., (2008), Report on the links between Violence against Women and the Transmission of HIV in 4PNG provinces, University of Canberra, Australia and National AIDS Council, Papa New Guinea.
- 344 WHO, (2002), World Report on Violence and Health. Available at: http://www.who.int/violence\_injury\_prevention/ violence/world\_report/en/ Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 345 The UNFPA reports that nearly 50 percent of all sexual assaults worldwide are against girls 15 years old or younger: UN Population Fund (UNFPA), *State of World Population 2005 – The Promise of Equality: Gender Equity, Reproductive Health and the Millenium Development Goals*, chapter 7. Available at: www.unfpa.org/swp/2005/english/ch7/index.htm [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 346 Human Rights Watch, (2004), *Deadly Delay*. Available at: http://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/southafrica0304.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].

- 347 Submission from Syed Mohsin Raza, Friends for Progress, Pakistan, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011.
- 348 Submission from Tanzania, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011.
- 349 Submission from Nontobeko Prudence Brenda Dlamini, International Community of Women Living With HIV (ICW-Southern Africa), Swaziland, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011.
- 350 Reproductive health services of particular relevance to HIV include access to contraception; antenatal care, skilled attendance at delivery, and postnatal care; prevention and appropriate treatment of sub-fertility and infertility; safe, legal abortion; management of complications from unsafe abortion; and prevention and treatment of reproductive tract infections and sexually transmitted infections; and management of obstetric and neonatal complications and emergencies, including provision of safe blood supplies.
- 351 UNICEF, (2010), Preventing Mother-to-Child Transmission (PMTCT) of HIV. Available at: http://www.unicef.org/ esaro/5482\_pmtct.html [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 352 Guttmacher Institute, (2011), Estimating Unintended Pregnancies Averted from Couple-Years of Protection (CYP). Available at: http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/2011/01/ 24/Guttmacher-CYP-Memo.pdf. [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; Ahmed, S. and Hill, K., (2011), Maternal Mortality Estimation at the Subnational Level: a Model-based Method with an Application to Bangladesh, WHO Bulletin. Available at: http://www.scielosp.org/scielo.php?pid=S0042-96862011000100008&script=sci\_arttext [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; Collumbien, M., Gerresu, M., and Cleland, J., (2004), Non Use and Use of Ineffective Methods of Contraception; Ezzati, M., Lopez, A., Rogers, A., Murray, C. eds., (2004), Comparative Quantification of Health Risks: Global and Regional Burden of Disease Attributable to Selected Major Risk Factors, Geneva: World Health Organization, 1255-320; Singh, S., et al., (2009), Adding It Up: The Costs and Benefits of Investing in Family Planning and Maternal and Newborn Health, New York: Guttmacher Institute and United Nations Population Fund. Available at: http:// www.guttmacher.org/presentations/Adding-It-Up.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 353 "Time went by with us trying, I couldn't conceive....I eventually decided to go back to my doctor and seek help. You could have seen the look on his face after I had related my

story. He just asked, "Why would you want a baby again when you nearly died the last time and besides, you were sterilised during your daughter's birth": Submission from Nontobeko Prudence Brenda Dlamini, ICW, Swaziland, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3-4 August 2011; Magalia, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16-17 February 2011; Elena Bilokon, NGO Kredo, Kazakhstan, for the EECA Regional Dialogue, 18–19 May 2011; Maria Eugenia Calvin Perez, Observatorio de Equidad de Genero en Salud (OEGS), Chile, for the Latin America Regional Dialogue, 26–27 June 2011; Charles Kwadwo Oppong, NAP+, Ghana; Kassoum Ibrahim, Association des Jeunes Juristes du Niger, Niger; Shadie Wenafonu Marysha, UCOP+, DR Congo; Priti Patel, Southern African Litigation Centre, South Africa, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011; Brook Kelly, US Positive Women's Network, USA, for the High Income Countries Dialogue, 16-17 September 2011; Basu, A. and Menon, R., (2011), Violence Against Women, HIV/AIDS Vulnerability, and the Law. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011. See also Human Rights Watch, A Test of Inequality, (2004), Discrimination against Women Living with HIV in the Dominican Republic, HRW, Vol. 16. Available at: http://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/dr0704.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012].

- 354 Open Society Foundations, (2011), Against her Will: Forced and Coerced Sterilization of Women Worldwide. Available at: http://www.soros.org/initiatives/health/focus/law/articles\_publications/publications/against-herwill-20111004/against-her-will-20111003.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 355 Submission from Grace Maingi-Kimani, Federation of Women Lawyers, Kenya, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011.
- 356 Submission from Maliyere Gabriel, Recherche Centrafrican des Personnes Vivant Avec le VIH/SIDA, Central African Republic, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011.
- 357 The African Union Commission, (2006), *The Maputo Plan for Action, 2007–2010.* Available at: http://www.unfpa.org/africa/newdocs/maputo\_eng.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 358 UNAIDS, (2010), Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/globalreport/Global\_report.htm [Accessed on 7 March 2012].

- 359 Specialist submission by Centre for Population, Research and Reproductive Health, 2011. See also Ibrahim Naiya Sada, Fatima L. Adamu, and Ali Ahmad, (2005), Promoting women's rights through Sharia in Northern Nigeria, British Council. Available at: http://www.ungei.org/resources/ files/dfid\_promoting\_womens\_rights.pdf;DIVORCE-The Dissolution of a Marriage in Muslim Personal Laws in Nigeria, Baobab legal Literacy Leaflet No. 2. Available at: http://www.nigerianlawguru.com/articles/family%20 law/DIVORCE%20-%20THE%20DISSOLUTION%20 OF%20A%20MARRIAGE%20IN%20MUSLIM%20PER-SONAL%20LAWS%20IN%20NIGERIA.pdf [Accessed on 11 April 2012]; Dr. Peter Ruus, (2001), The reintroduction of Islamic criminal law in northern Nigeria a study conducted on behalf of the European Commission. Available http://rezaei.typepad.com/hassan\_rezaei/files/isat. lamic-criminal-law-nigeria\_en.pdf [Accessed on 11 April 2012]. Ibrahim Na'iya Sada, (2006), The Making of the Zamfara and Kano State Sharia Penal Codes. Available at:http://www.sharia-in-africa.net/media/publications/ sharia-implementation-in-northern-nigeria/vol\_4\_3\_ chapter\_4\_part\_II.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012].
- 360 UN General Assembly, (1966), International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), 16 December 1966, 999 U.N.T.S. 171, articles 2(1) and 3.UN General Assembly, Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW), 1979.
- 361 African Commission on Human and People's Rights, (2003), Protocol to the African Charter on Human Rights and People's Rights on the Rights of Women in Africa. Available at: http://www.achpr.org/english/\_info/women\_ en.html [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 362 Ibid.
- 363 Submission from Noorjehan Safia Niaz, Bharatiya Muslim, India, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011; Judith Kateule, Zambia; Odikpo Josephine Uzoya Anthonia, Center for Rights and Development, Nigeria; Sylvia Chirawu, Women and Law In Southern Africa Research and Education Trust, Zimbabwe; Allan Maleche, KELIN, Kenya; Priti Patel, Southern African Litigation Centre, South Africa; Annmarie Mavenjina Nkelame, Tanzania, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011; Ahmed, A., (2011), 'Property and Inheritance Laws: The Impact on HIV'. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of

the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011; Maleche, A. and Day, E., (2011), '*Traditional Cultural Practices and HIV: Reconciling Culture and Human Rights'*. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011. See also WHO, (2009), *Women and Health, Today's Evidence, Tomorrow's Agenda,* WHO, Geneva. Sa, Z. and Larsen, U., (2008), *Gender Inequality Increases Women's Risk of HIV Infection in Moshi, Tanzania,* Journal of Biosocial Science, 40: 505–525.

- 364 Submission from Noorjehan Safia Niaz, Bharatiya Muslim, India, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011; Ngwenya, C., (2010), Sexual Health and Human Rights in the African Region; cited in Basu, A. and Menon, R., (2011), 'Violence Against Women, HIV/AIDS Vulnerability and the Law'. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011.
- 365 Procedures that involve partial or total removal of the external female genitalia or other injury to the female genital organs for non-medical reasons. It is widely practised in Africa, in some countries in Asia and the Middle East and in the Arabian peninsula, Australia and Latin America.
- 366 A traditional practice whereby a woman, upon widowhood, is 'inherited' by her husband's brother. The practice was historically aimed at providing for a widow and her children, but recent practices tend to coerce women into sexual relationships with their inheritor. It has been recorded in many African countries such as Kenya, Zimbabwe, Malawi, Zambia, Namibia, and Uganda.
- 367 A sexual act by a male relative of the husband that is believed to purify the recipient through semen entering the woman's body. The practice is common for widows after the death of their husbands. It has been documented in many African countries such as Kenya, Malawi, Zambia, and Botswana.
- 368 Submission from Bocci and Khan, for the High Income Countries Dialogue, 16–17 September 2011; Basu, A. and Menon, R., (2011), Violence Against Women, HIV/AIDS Vulnerability, and the Law. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011; Ahmed, A., (2011), 'Property and Inheritance Laws: The Impact on HIV'. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advi-

sory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011; Maleche, A. and Day, E., (2011), '*Traditional Cultural Practices and HIV: Reconciling Culture and Human Rights'*. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011; New York Times, (2005), *AIDS Now Compels Africa to Challenge Widows' (Cleansing'*. Available at: http://www.nytimes.com/2005/05/11/international/africa/11malawi.html?pagewanted=print [Accessed 16 June 2011]; Loosli, B.C., (2004), *Traditional Practices and HIV Prevention in Sub-Saharan Africa*. Available at: http:// www.gfmer.ch/GFMER\_members/pdf/Traditional\_HIV\_ Loosli.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].

- 369 "There is a girl in one of the communities of Mzimba district who was forced into marriage, her name is withheld. She drops out from school where she strongly anticipated to change her future, after completion of her education. After two years she discovered that she was HIV positive which she optimistically sure get from the man. The girl live a misery life and full of fear without any hope as she's afraid that she will die soon as expected", James Wilson Phiri, Malawi, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3-4 August 2011; UNAIDS, UNIFEM and UNFPA, (2004), Women and HIV/AIDS: Confronting the Crisis. Available at: http://www.unfpa.org/hiv/women/ [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; cited in Basu, A. and Menon, R., (2011), Violence Against Women, HIV/AIDS Vulnerability, and the Law. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011.
- 370 Combating of Rape Act 8 2000, s. 3, and Zimbabwe, Criminal Law (Codification and Reform) Act No. 23 2004, s. 68(a).
- 371 Ahmed, A., (2011), 'Property and Inheritance Laws: The Impact on HIV'. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011; Africa Renewal, (2008), Women Struggle to Secure Land Rights. Available at: http://www.un.org/en/africarenewal/vol22no1/221-women-struggle-to-secure-land-rights.html [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 372 UNDP, (2007), Women's Property Rights as an AIDS Response: Emerging Efforts in South Asia. Available at: http:// www.beta.undp.org/content/dam/aplaws/publication/ en/publications/hiv-aids/womens-property-rights-as-

an-aids-response-emerging-efforts-in-south-asia/214. pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].

- 373 See, for instance the Tanzania case of *Ndossi v. Ndossi* where a widow was granted her right to administer her deceased husband's estate over her husband's brotherin-law, and the Ugandan case of *Owagage v Mudhma* where the High Court of Uganda held that a will granting property to the deceased's wife was valid over holding the property in trust for clansmen, discussed in Ahmed, A., (2011), '*Property and Inheritance Laws: The Impact on HIV'*. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011.
- 374 Immigration and Refugee Board of Canada, (2007), Zimbabwe: Recent domestic violence legislation and its implementation. Available at: http://www.unhcr.org/refworld/ docid/469cd6941e.html [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 375 Submission from Advocate Rup Narayan, Forum for Women, Law and Development, Nepal, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011; Judith Kateule, Zambia; Odikpo Josephine Uzoya Anthonia, Center for Rights and Development, Nigeria; Sylvia Chirawu, Women and Law In Southern Africa Research and Education Trust, Zimbawe; Allan Maleche, KELIN, Kenya; Annmarie Mavenjina Nkelame, Tanzania, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011.
- 376 Submission from KELIN, Kenya, to the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011.
- 377 Deacon, H. and Stephney, I., (2007), HIV/AIDS, Stigma and Children: A Literature Review, Human Sciences Research Council, Pretoria, South Africa.
- 378 Definition of the child (Article 1 of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child): The Convention defines a 'child' as a person below the age of 18, unless the laws of a particular country set the legal age for adulthood younger. The Committee on the Rights of the Child, the monitoring body for the Convention, has encouraged States to review the age of majority if it is set below 18 and to increase the level of protection for all children under 18. Available at: http://www2.ohchr.org/english/law/ crc.htm [Accessed 29 December 2011]; Where youth is defined in age based terms actual age ranges vary. For instance, the official UN definition of youth refers to people in the age bracket 15–24 years, while UNESCO defines 'young people' to be between 10–19 years old

(UNESCO 2004). UNICEF identifies 'adolescents' (10–18 years), while the UN Convention on Child Protection considers all people up to the age of 18 as 'children'. Thus, someone in the 15–18 age range, can be considered a 'youth', a 'child', but also a 'young person'; UNICEF, (2012), Towards an AIDS Free Generation. Available at: http:// www.unicef.org/about/execboard/files/Towards\_and\_ AIDS\_Free\_Generation\_18JAN2012.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].

- 379 UN Secretary General, (2011), Uniting for Universal Access, Report of the Secretary General, available at http:// www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/document/2011/20110331\_SG\_report\_en.pdf [Accessed on 4 April 2012]; The Stephen Lewis Foundation, (2012), Children and HIV AIDS, Fact Sheet, available at: http://www.stephenlewisfoundation.org/assets/files/ Materials%20-%20General/SLF\_HIV-AIDS\_factsheet\_ children.pdf. [Accessed on 4 April 2012]. WHO, UNICEF, UNAIDS, (2011), Global HIV/AIDS Response: Epidemic Update and Health Sector Progress towards Universal Access, Progress Report 2011.
- 380 UNICEF, (2011), Opportunity in Crisis: Preventing HIV from Early Adolescence to Young Adulthood. Available at: http:// www.who.int/hiv/pub/oic\_report\_en.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 381 UNICEF, (2008), Global Perspectives on Consolidated Children's Statutes. Available at: http://www.unicef.org/policyanalysis/files/postscript\_Childrens\_Codes\_formatted\_final.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 382 Akhtur, S., (1996), Do Girls Have a Higher School Drop-out Rate than Boys? A Hazard Rate Analysis of Evidence from a Third World City, Urban Studies, Vol. 33(1); Lloyd, C.B., Mensch, B.S., and Clark, W.H., (2000), The Effects of Primary School Quality on School Dropout among Kenyan Girls and Boys, Comparative Education Review, Vol. 44(2).
- 383 Ibid. Hunter, S., (1998), Rethinking Development Paradigms in the Context of Extremely High Mortality in Sub-Saharan Africa, UNICEF; Submission from Jean Claude Niyongabo, Burundi, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011; National Association of PLHA, Nepal, Meera Raghavendra, WINS, India, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011; Edstrom, J. and Kahn. N., (2009), Protection and Care for Children Faced with HIV and AIDS in East Asia and the Pacific: Issues, priorities and responses in the region, UNICEF and IDS. Avail-

able at: http://www.jlica.org/userfiles/file/Protection%20 and%20Care%20book.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].

- 384 Adato, M. and Bassett, L., (2009), Social Protection to Support Vulnerable Children and Families: the Potential of Cash transfers to Protect Education, Health and Nutrition, AIDS Care, S1.
- 385 World Bank, (2010), A Cash Transfer Programme Reduces HIV Infection amongst Adolescent Girls. Available at: http:// siteresources.worldbank.org/DEC/Resources/HIVExe Summary%28Malawi%29,pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 386 Submission from AIDS Action Committee of Massachusetts, Inc., for the High Income Countries Dialogue, 16–17 September 2011.
- 387 UNICEF, (2010), Blame and Banishment, The Underground HIV Epidemic Affecting Children in Eastern Europe and Central Asia. Available at: http://www.unicef.org/serbia/UNI-CEF\_Blame\_and\_Banishment%283%29.pdf [Accessed on 4 April 2012].
- 388 Paraguayan Penal Code Article 14 (Law 1136/97 of Adoptions) and Article 17 (Law 1/92 modifying the Penal Code); Submission from María José Rivas Vera, SOMOS-GAY, Paraguay, for the Latin America Regional Dialogue, 26–27 June 2011.
- 389 Submission from Gidnist Legal Aid NGO, Kiev, Ukraine, for the Eastern Europe and Central Asia Regional Dialogue, 18–19 May 2011.
- 390 McPherson, D., (2006), Property Grabbing and Africa's Orphaned Generation: A Legal Analysis of the Implications of the HIV/AIDS Pandemic for Inheritance by Orphaned Children in Uganda, Kenya, Zambia and Malawi, HIV/ AIDS in Africa Project Paper, University of Toronto. Available at: http://74.125.95.132/search?q=cache:GDpSwN CYE6UJ:www.law.utoronto.ca/visitors content.asp%3F itemPath%3D5/12/0/0/0%26contentId%3D1199+%22 McPherson%22+%22Property+Grabbing+\*+Africa%2 2&hl=en&ct=clnk&cd=1&gl=us [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; Cited in, Strode, A. and Grant, K., (2011), 'Children and HIV'. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011; Submission from Wilfred Masebo, Malawi, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3-4 August 2011.
- 391 UNICEF, (2006), Africa's Orphaned and Vulnerable Generations: Children Affected by AIDS. Available at: http://www. unicef.org/publications/files/Africas\_Orphaned\_and\_

Vulnerable\_Generations\_Children\_Affected\_by\_AIDS. pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].

- 392 Submission from Our Hope Foundation, Crimea, Ukraine, for the Eastern Europe and Central Asia Regional Dialogue, 18–19 May 2011.
- 393 The American with Disabilities Act (ADA) 1990, prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability. The non-discrimination rule is stated in Title II, which applies to public adoption agencies, as:'No qualified individual with a disability shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation or be denied the benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subjected to discrimination by any such entity. In Title III, the rule that applies to private adoption agencies (which are considered "public accommodations" under the ADA) is stated as: 'No individual shall be discriminated against on the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations of any place of public accommodation by any person who owns, leases (or leases to) or operates a place of public accommodation.'The American with Disabilities Act is available at: http://www. ada.gov/ [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 394 Human Rights Watch, (2001), In the Shadow of Death: HIV/ AIDS and Children's Rights in Kenya. Available at: http://www. unhcr.org/refworld/publisher,HRW,,KEN,3bd0239c3,0. html [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; cited in, McPherson, D., 2005. Property Grabbing and Africa's Orphaned Generation: A Legal Analysis of the Implications of the HIV/AIDS Pandemic for Inheritance by Orphaned Children in Uganda, Kenya, Zambia and Malawi, HIV/AIDS in Africa Project Paper, University of Toronto. Available at: http://74.125.95.132/ search?q=cache:GDpSwNCYE6UJ:www.law.utoronto.ca/ visitors\_content.asp%3FitemPath%3D5/12/0/0/0%26co ntentId%3D1199+%22McPherson%22+%22Property+G rabbing+\*+Africa%22&hl=en&ct=clnk&cd=1&gl=us [Accessed on 7 March 2012]; Submission from Wilfed Masebo, Malawi, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3-4 August 2011; National Association of PLHA, Nepal; Meera Raghavendra, WINS, India; Fr. Jeyaseelan Y., MMSSS, India, for the Asia-Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011.
- 395 Submission from Annmarie Mavenjina Nkelame, Tanzania Women Lawyers Association (TAWLA), Tanzania, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011.
- 396 UN General Committee on the Rights of the Child, General Comment No. 3, (2003), *HIV/AIDS and the Rights of the Child*, CRC/GC/2003/3, 17 March 2003.

- 397 Ely, A., (2008), Looking after HIV: Considering the needs of HIV positive looked after children, National Children's Bureau Available at: http://www.ncb.org.uk/media/442281/ hiv\_looking\_after\_hiv.pdf [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 398 Shanta, Bloemen, (2011), Teen Centres provide a Refuge for Adolescents Living with HIV in Botswana, Newsline. Available at: http://www.unicef.org/infobycountry/botswana\_58032.html [Accessed on 4 April 2012].
- 399 Submission from Nthabiseng A. Phaladze, University of Botswana, Botswana, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011.
- 400 Flicker, Sarah, et al., (2005), Falling Through the Cracks of the Big Cities: Who is Meeting the Needs of HIV-positive Youth? Canadian Journal of Public Health 96:4: 308–12.
- 401 Submission from Emily Hamblin, National Children's Bureau, for the High Income Countries Dialogue, 16–17 September 2011.
- 402 Jackson, S. and Hafemeister, T.I., (2001), *Impact of Parental Consent and Notification Policies on the Decisions of Ado lescents to be Tested for HIV*, Journal of Adolescent Health, Vol. 29; Submission from Nthabiseng A. Phaladze, University of Botswana, Botswana, for the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011: difficulties faced by adolescents attempting to access HIV testing in Botswana are described. Although the national routine HIV testing policy in Botswana allows children to consent to HIV testing independently at 16 this is not recognised in law, accordingly many service providers require children to obtain parental consent for HIV testing.
- 403 Jackson, S. and Hafemeister, T.I., (2001), Impact of Parental Consent and Notification Policies on the Decisions of Adolescents to be Tested for HIV, Journal of Adolescent Health, Vol. 29; Meehan, TM., Hansen, H., and Klein, WC., (1997), The Impact of Parental Consent on the HIV testing of Minors, The Amercan Journal of Public Health, 87(8), August 1997.
- 404 Strode, A. and Slack, C., (2009), *Sex, lies and disclosures: Researchers and the reporting of underage sex*, Southern African Journal of HIV Medicine, Vol 2.
- 405 Mail and Guardian Online, (2011), Criminalising Sex is not the Answer. Available at: http://mg.co.za/article/2011-09-26-criminalising-sex-is-not-the-answer/ [Accessed on 8 October 2011]; Han, J. and Bennish, M.L., (2009), Condom Access in South African Schools: Law, Policy, and Practice, PLoS Medicine, 6(1): e1000006.

- 406 Kirkby, D., Laris, B.A., and Rolleri, L.A., (2007), Sex and HIV Education Programs: Their Impact on Sexual Behaviour of Young People Throughout the World, Journal of Adolescent Health, Vol. 40; UNESCO, (2009), International Technical Guidance on Sexuality Education, Volume I: The rationale for sexuality education. Available at: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001832/183281e.pdf [Accessed on 21 December 2011].
- 407 Submission from Network of Asia Pacific Youth, for the Asia Pacific Regional Dialogue, 16–17 February 2011.
- 408 UN General Assembly, (2003), Adolescent health and development in the context of the Convention on the Rights of the Child, Point 6(d), General Comment No. 4. Available at: http://www.unhchr.ch/tbs/doc.nsf/(symbol)/CRC.GC. 2003.4.En?OpenDocument [Accessed on 29 November 2011].
- 409 Ely, A., (2008), Looking After HIV: Considering the Needs of HIV Positive Looked After Children. Available at: http://www.ncb. org.uk/hivn/resources.aspx [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 410 PEPFAR, Plan, UNICEF and World Vision, (2007), Civil Registration and Children in the Context of HIV and AIDS in Africa. Available at: http://www.unicef.org/aids/ files/0707-IATT-ToR-civil\_registration-HIV-AIDS\_Final(1). doc [Accessed on 7 March 2012].
- 411 El Said, M. and Kapczynski, A., (2011), Access to medicines: The role of intellectual property law and policy. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011.
- 412 UNAIDS, WHO, and UNICEF, (2011), Progress report 2011: Global HIV/AIDS response. Available at: http://www.who. int/hiv/pub/progress\_report2011/en/index.html [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Secretary-General: United to end AIDS: achieving the targets of the 2011 Political Declaration, A/66/757. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/ media/unaids/contentassets/documents/document/ 2012/20120402\_UNGA\_A-66-757\_en.pdf [Accessed on 1 May 2012].
- 413 Reis, R., Vieira, M., and Chaves, G., Access to Medicines and Intellectual Property in Brazil: A Civil Society Experience, found in Reis, R., Terto, V., and Pimenta, MC., (2009), Intellectual Property Rights and Access to ARV Medicines: Civil Society Resistance in the Global South, Rio de Janeiro Brazilian Interdisciplinary AIDS Association, pp. 12–54; Teixeira, P., Vitória, MAA., and Barcarolo, J., The Brazilian ex-

perience in providing universal access to antiretroviral therapy, found in Moatti, JP., et al., (2003), *Economics of AIDS* and Access to HIV/AIDS Care in Developing Countries, Issues and Challenges, Paris, France: Agence Nationale de Recherches sur le Sida, Paris, pp. 69–88; Ministry of Health of Brazil and UNAIDS, (2001), *AIDS: the Brazilian Experience/ SIDA: la experiencia Brasileña;* Ministry of Health Brazil, (2001), *National AIDS Drug Policy.* Available at: http:// bvsms.saude.gov.br/bvs/publicacoes/126national\_ drug\_policy.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].

- 414 Cruz Bermudez et al. v. Ministerio de Sanidad et Asistencia Social, (1999), Corte Suprema de Justicia, Republica de Venezuela, Expediente Numero: 15.789, Sentencia Numero 196.
- 415 Minister of Health and Others v. Treatment Action Campaign and Others, SA 721 (CC) (2002). Available at: http://41.208.61.234/uhtbin/cgisirsi/20120306222629/ SIRSI/0/520/J-CCT8-02A [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 416 UNAIDS, (2011), Key Global Findings: AIDS at 30: Nations at the crossroad. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/ en/media/unaids/contentassets/restore/AIDS30\_KEY\_ FINDINGS en.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 417 See the Hindu newspaper story of 23 February 2001 entitled *Cipla Stirs Pharma World with its AIDS Cocktail.* Available at: http://www.hindu.com/2001/02/23/ stories/0623000f.htm
- 418 Donor funding for HIV declined by nearly USD \$1 billion in 2010. See Kates, J., et al., (2010), Financing the Response to AIDS in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: International Assistance from the G8, European Commission and Other Donor Governments in 2009, UNAIDS and The Kaiser Family Foundation. Available at: http://www.kff.org/hivaids/upload/7347-06.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; Global Fund Observer 167, (2011), Board Cancels Round 11 and Introduces Tough New Rules for Grant Renewals. Available at: http://www.aidspan.org/index.php?issue=167&article=1 [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 419 Global Fund Observer 167, (2011), Board Cancels Round
  11 and Introduces Tough New Rules for Grant Renewals.
  Available at: http://www.aidspan.org/index.php?issue=
  167&article=1 [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 420 The Kaiser Family Foundation, (2012), *President Obama Releases FY13 Budget Proposal With Overall Decrease For GHI*. Available at: http://globalhealth.kff.org/Daily-Reports/2012/February/14/GH-021412-FY13-Budget-Proposal.aspx?p=1 [Accessed on 8 March 2012].

- 421 Maastricht Principles on Extraterritorial Obligations of States in the area of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, (2011). Available at: http://oppenheimer.mcgill.ca/IMG/ pdf/Maastricht\_20ETO\_20Principles\_20-\_20FINAL.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; United Nations General Assembly, (2011), *Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS: Intensifying Our Efforts to Eliminate AIDS*, A/RES/65/277. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/document/2011/06/20110610\_un\_ares-65-277\_en.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 422 Baker, B. and Avafia, T., (2010), Laws and Practices that Facilitate or Impede HIV-related Treatment Access. Working Paper prepared for the First Meeting of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, October 2010; Baker, B. and Avafia, T., (2011), The Evolution of IPRs from Humble Beginnings to the Modern Day TRIPS-plus Era: Implications for Treatment Access. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011.
- 423 Report of UK Commission on Intellectual Property Rights (CIPR), Integrating Intellectual Property rights and Development Policy (2002) Available at: http://www.iprcommission.org/papers/pdfs/final\_report/CIPRfullfinal.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012].
- 424 Baker, B. and Avafia, T., (2011), *The Evolution of IPRs from Humble Beginnings to the Modern Day TRIPS-plus Era: Implications for Treatment Access.* Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011.
- 425 La Croix, S. and Liu, M., (2009), The Effect of GDP Growth on Pharmaceutical Patent Protection, 1945-2005, Brussels Economic Review, Vol. 52 N° (3/4) Autumn/Winter 2009. Available at: https://dipot.ulb.ac.be/dspace/bitstream/2013/80767/1/ARTICLE%20LACROIX-LIU%20 pdf2.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 426 Baker, B. and Avafia, T., (2011), The Evolution of IPRs from Humble Beginnings to the Modern Day TRIPS-plus Era: Implications for Treatment Access. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011.
- 427 T'Hoen, E., (2009), The Global Politics of Pharmaceutical Monopoly Power, AMB Diemen Publishers.
- 428 Poku, N., Whiteside, A., and Sandkjaer, B., (2007), *AIDS and governance*, Ashgate Publishing Limited, England, p. 207.

- 429 Waning, B., Dietrichsen, E., and Moon, S., (2010), A Lifetime to Treatment: The Role of Indian Generic Manufacturers in Supplying Antiretroviral Medicines to Developing Countries, Journal of the International AIDS Society 13:35. Available at: http://www.jiasociety.org/content/13/1/35 [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 430 Baker, B. and Avafia, T., (2011), *The Evolution of IPRs from Humble Beginnings to the Modern Day TRIPS-plus Era: Implications for Treatment Access.* Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011.
- 431 LDC members of the WTO are required to comply with TRIPS by July 2013. However, they may further postpone the treaty's application to pharmaceutical products until January 2016. See WTO Council for TRIPS, (2005), *Extension of the Transition Period Under Article 66.1 for Least-Developed Country Members*, WTO Doc. IP/C/40. Available at: http://www.wto.org/english/tratop\_e/trips\_e/ldc\_e. htm [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 432 MSF, Untangling the Web of antiretroviral price reductions.
   Available at: http://msf-utw.tumblr.com/post/7755591
   372/14th-edition-of-untangling-the-web-launches-at [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 433 For Ecuador, see Ycaza Mantilla, A., (2011), Propiedad Intelectual i Salud Pública: La Experiencia Ecuatoriana, Presentation, Regional Meeting on the Access and Management of Medicines and Essential Supplies for HIV/AIDS, Santo Domingo, Dominican Republic, 9–11 November 2011; for Thailand, see Mohara et al., (2012), The impact of the Introduction of Government Use Licenses on the Drug Expenditure of seven medicines in Thailand', Value in Health Journal 15 (2012). Available at: http://www.ispor.org/consortiums/asia/ViH/3rdlssue/ Impact-of-the-Introduction-of-Government-Use-Licenses. pdf; for Brazil, see El Said, M. and Kapczynski, A., (2011), Access to medicines: The role of intellectual property law and policy, Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011; for Indonesia and Malaysia, see Khor, M., (2009), Patents, Compulsory Licenses and Access to Medicines: Some Recent Experiences, Third World Network. Available at: http://www.twnside.org.sg/title2/IPR/pdf/ipr 10.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012].
- 434 UNDP, (2010), Good Practice Guide: Improving Access to Treatment by Utilizing Public Health Flexibilities in the WTO

*TRIPS Agreement*. Available at: http://content.undp.org/ go/cms-service/stream/asset/?asset\_id=3259443 [Acccessed on 6 March 2012].

- 435 The Doha Declaration on the Trips Agreement and Public Health, World Trade Organization, adopted on 14 November 2001. Available at: http://www.worldtradelaw. net/doha/tripshealth.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; Decision of the General Council of 30 August 2003, *Implementation of paragraph 6 of the Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and public health*, WT/L/540. Available at: http://www.wto.org/english/tratop\_e/trips\_e/ implem\_para6\_e.htm [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 436 South Centre, (2011), Policy Brief: The Doha Declaration on TRIPS and Public Health Ten Years Later: The State of Implementation. Available at: http://www.southcentre.org/index.php?option=com\_content&view=artic le&id=1639%3Athe-doha-declaration-on-trips-andpublic-health-ten-years-later-the-state-of-implementation&Itemid=1&Iang=en [Accessed on 6 March 2012]; UNAIDS, WHO and UNDP, (2011), Policy Brief: Using TRIPS Flexibilities to Improve Access to HIV Treatment. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/unaidspublication/2011/JC2049\_PolicyBrief\_TRIPS\_en.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 437 UNDP, (2010), Good Practice Guide: Improving Access to Treatment by Utilizing Public Health Flexibilities in the WTO TRIPS Agreement. Available at: http://content.undp.org/ go/cms-service/stream/asset/?asset\_id=3259443 [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 438 UNAIDS, WHO and UNDP, (2011), Policy Brief: Using TRIPS Flexibilities to Improve Access to HIV Treatment. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/unaidspublication/2011/JC2049\_PolicyBrief\_TRIPS\_en.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 439 Mohara, A., et al., (2012), Impact of the Introduction of Government Use Licenses on the Drug Expenditure on Seven Medicines in Thailand, Value in Health 15(1), pp. S95–S99.
  Available at: http://www.ispor.org/consortiums/asia/ViH/3rdIssue/Impact-of-the-Introduction-of-Government-Use-Licenses.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 440 For India, see the compulsory licence order of the Patent Controller of India who set the price of INR 8880 per month of treatment see compulsory licence application 1 of 2011. Available at: http://www.ipindia.nic.in/ipoNew/compulsory\_License\_12032012.pdf [Accessed on 30 March 2012]; for Ecuador, see Ycaza Mantilla, A., (2011), *Propiedad Intelec-*

tual i Salud Pública: La Experiencia Ecuatoriana, Presentation, Regional Meeting on the Access and Management of Medicines and Essential Supplies for HIV/AIDS, Santo Domingo, Dominican Republic, 9-11 November 2011; for Thailand, see Mohara et al., (2012), The impact of the Introduction of Government Use Licenses on the Drug Expenditure of seven medicines in Thailand', Value in Health Journal 15 (2012). Available at: http://www.ispor.org/consortiums/asia/ViH/ 3rdlssue/Impact-of-the-Introduction-of-Government-Use-Licenses.pdf; for Brazil, see El Said, M. and Kapczynski, A., (2011), Access to medicines: The role of intellectual property law and policy, Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011; for Indonesia and Malaysia, see Khor, M., (2009), Patents, Compulsory Licenses and Access to Medicines: Some Recent Experiences, Third World Network. Available at: http://www.twnside.org.sg/ title2/IPR/pdf/ipr10.pdf [Accessed on 8 March 2012].

- 441 Chaudhuri, S., Park, C., and Gopakumar, KM., (2010), Five Years into the Product Patent Regime: India's Response, UNDP New York. Available at: http://apps.who.int/ medicinedocs/documents/s17761en/s17761en.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 442 Baker, B. and Avafia, T., (2010), Laws and Practices that Facilitate or Impede HIV-related Treatment Access. Working Paper prepared for the First Meeting of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, October 2010.
- 443 Ibid.
- 444 Harris, D., (2011), TRIPS after fifteen years: success or failure, as measured by compulsory licensing, Journal of Intellectual Property Law 18, p. 387.
- 445 Medicines and Related Substances Control Amendment Act 90 of 1997.
- 446 Executive Order 13155 (10 May 2000).
- 447 Medicins Sans Frontieres, (2012), As Novartis challenges India's patent law, MSF warns access to medicines is under threat. Available at: http://www.doctorswithoutborders. org/press/release.cfm?id=1870 [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 448 Mara, K., (2010), TRIPS Council Discusses Efficacy of ACTA, Public Health Amendment, Intellectual Property Watch. Available at: http://www.ip-watch.org/weblog/2010/10 /29/trips-council-discusses-efficacy-of-acta-publichealth-amendment/ [Accessed on 6 March 2012]. Seee also Joint Statement by NGOs on TRIPS and Public

Health, (2005), WTO Members Should Reject Bad Deal on Medicines, Available at: www.cptech.org/ip/wto/p6/ ngos12032005.html [Accessed on 6 March 2012].

- 449 Council for Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights, (2010), Annual Review of the Decision on the Implementation of Paragraph 6 of the Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Report to the General Council, WTO. Available at: http://192.91.247.23/ english/tratop\_e/trips\_e/ta\_docs\_e/3\_ipc57\_e.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 450 Council Regulation No. 1383/2003.
- 451 In its request for consultation under the WTO Dispute Settlement, India stated that the EU's measures were inconsistent with a number of provisions of the GATT 1994 and of the TRIPS Agreement including "Articles 41 and 42 of the TRIPS Agreement because the measures at issue, inter alia, create barriers to legitimate trade, permit abuse of the rights conferred on the owner of a patent, are unfair and inequitable, unnecessarily burdensome and complicated and create unwarranted delays". Request for consolation by India, "EU and a Member State: Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit", WT/DS408/7 3 June 2010. Available at: http://trade.ec.europa.eu/doclib/ docs/2011/january/tradoc\_147470.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 452 The negotiations were initially proposed by the US and Japan in 2006. Australia, Canada, Japan, Korea, Morocco, New Zealand, Singapore, and the United States signed the Agreement in October 2011.
- 453 Paragraph 17 of the 2008 G8 Leaders' Communiqué on the World Economy (G8 Hokkaido Toyako Summit) calls, under the heading "Protection of Intellectual Property Rights (IPR)", the acceleration of negotiations to establish a new international legal framework, ACTA, and sets a deadline for completion of negotiations by the end of 2008.
- 454 See statements by India and China on the ACTA negotiations and their impact on access to medicines at the Council for TRIPS Meeting of the WTO on 8 June 2010. The statements were endorsed by several developing countries including Peru, Cuba, Bolivia, Ecuador, South Africa and Egypt among others.
- 455 European Parliament News, (2012), European Parliament Rejects ACTA. Available at: http://www.europarl.europa. eu/news/en/pressroom/content/20120703IPR48247/

html/European-Parliament-rejects-ACTA [Accessed on 4 July 2012].

- 456 Oxfam, (2011), Eye on the Ball Medicine Regulation not IP enforcement – can best deliver quality medicines. Available at: http://www.oxfam.org/sites/www.oxfam.org/ files/eye-on-the-ball-medicine-regulation-020211-en. pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 457 El Said, M. and Kapczynski, A., (2011), Access to medicines: The role of intellectual property law and policy. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011
- 458 See for example National Forum of People Living with HIV/AIDS Networks in Uganda, at the Africa Regional Dialogue, 3–4 August 2011.
- 459 UNDP Discussion Paper, (2012), Anti-counterfeit Laws and Public Health: What to Look Out For.
- 460 Republic of Kenya in the High court of Kenya at Nairobi, *Petition no. 409 of 2009.* Available at: http://www.ip-watch.org/weblog/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/ Kenya-Judgment-Petition-No-409-of-2009.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012]. Reference to the analysis by Kenya Legal Ethical Issues Network on HIV & AIDS (KELIN) is available at: http://kelinkenya.org/2012/04/judgment-on-generic-medicines-kenya%E2%80%99s-first-victory-on-the-right-to-health/ [Accessed on 24 April 2012].
- 461 See for example Oxfam, (2007), All Costs and No Benefits: How TRIPS-Plus Rules in the US-Jordan FTA Affect Access to Medicines. Available at: http://www.oxfam.org/sites/ www.oxfam.org/files/all%20costs,%20no%20benefits. pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 462 Hollis, A., (2011), The Canada-European Union Comprehensive Economic and Trade Agreement – An Economic Impact Assessment of Proposed Pharmaceutical Intellectual Property Provisions, Canadian Generic Pharmaceutical Association (CGPA). Available at: http://www.canadiangenerics.ca/en/news/docs/02.07.11CETA EconomicImpactAssessment-FinalEnglish.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 463 G-Finder, (2011), Neglected Disease Research and Development: Is the Global Financial Crisis Changing R&D (2011). Available at http://www.policycures.org/downloads/g-finder\_2010.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 464 Outterson, K., (2005), Pharmaceutical Arbitrage: Balancing Access and Innovation in International Prescription Drug

*Markets*, Yale Journal of Health Policy, Law and Ethics 5(1), pp. 193–291.

- 465 Correa, C., (2007), Guidelines for the Examination of Pharmaceutical Patents: Developing a Public Health Perspective, ICTSD, WHO, UNCTAD and UNDP. Available at: http:// www.iprsonline.org/resources/docs/Correa\_Patentability%20Guidelines.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 466 National Institute for Health Care Management, (2002), Changing Patterns of Pharmaceutical Innovation, NIHCM Washington, D.C., p. 3. Available at: http://www.nihcm. org/pdf/innovations.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 467 WHO, (2006), Public Health, Innovation and Intellectual Property Rights: Report of the Commission on Intellectual Property Right, Innovation, and Public Health, p. 22. Available at: http://www.who.int/intellectualproperty/documents/thereport/ENPublicHealthReport.pdf [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- El Said, M. and Kapczynski, A., (2011), Access to medicines: The role of intellectual property law and policy. Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, July 2011; See also, T'Hoen, E., et al., (2011) Driving a decade of change : HIV/AIDS, patents and access to medicines for all, Journal of the International AIDS Society 14. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3078828/ [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 469 Alabaster, A., (2012), Gates, pharma and other partners commit to accelerated R&D to find new treatments for NTDs, Sabin Vaccine Institute. Available at: http://www. sabin.org/blog/gates-pharma-and-other-partners-commit-accelerated-rd-find-new-treatments-ntds [Accessed on 6 March 2012].
- 470 WHO, (2012), Report of the Consultative Expert Working Group on Research and Development: Financing and Coordination. Available at: http://www.who.int/phi/CEWG \_Report\_5\_April\_2012.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012]; South Centre, (2012), Rethinking The R&D Model for Pharmaceutical Products: A Binding Global Convention, Policy Brief 8. Available at: http://www.southcentre.org/index. php?option=com\_docman&task=doc\_download&gid= 2141&Itemid=182&Iang=en [Accessed on 24 April 2012].
- 471 WHO, (2012), Report of the Consultative Expert Working Group on Research and Development: Financing and Coordination. Available at: http://www.who.int/phi/CEWG\_ Report\_5\_April\_2012.pdf [Accessed on 24 April 2012].

- 472 So, A. and Oh, C., (2011), *Approaches to Intellectual Property and Innovation That Meet the Public Health Challenge of AIDS*, Working Paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7–9 July 2011.
- 473 Schwartlaender, B., et al., (2011), *Towards an improved investment approach for an effective response to HIV/AIDS*, The Lancet 377 (9782), pp. 2031–2041.
- 474 UNAIDS Reference Group on HIV and Human Rights, (2011), The Global Fund and the Crisis of HIV Funding – A Severe Setback for HIV and Human Rights: Statement and Recommendations, p. 1.



For further information contact: info@hivlawcommission.org or visit: www.hivlawcommission.org

Follow the Commission on Facebook: www.facebook.com/HIVLawCommission and on Twitter: www.twitter.com/HIVLawCom

Secretariat, Global Commission on HIV and the Law UNDP, HIV/AIDS Group, Bureau for Development Policy 304 East 45th Street, New York, NY 10017 Tel: (212) 906 6590 Fax: (212) 906 5023